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INTRODUCTION
In this annual report, unless otherwise indicated,
• “we,” “us,” “our company,” “our” and “TechFaith” refer to China Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology
Limited and its subsidiaries. Unless otherwise indicated, references in this annual report on Form 20-F to “TechFaith BVI” are to
Techfaith Wireless Technology Group Limited (formerly known as Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology Limited),
our wholly owned subsidiary in the British Virgin Islands, references to “Techfaith China” are to Techfaith Wireless
Communication Technology (Beijing) Limited (formerly known as Beijing Techfaith R&D Co., Ltd.), our wholly owned
subsidiary in China, references to “One Net” are to One Net Entertainment Limited (formerly known as Techfaith Interactive
Technology (Beijing) Limited, and before then, Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology (Beijing) Limited II and
Beijing Centel Technology R&D Co., Ltd.), our wholly owned subsidiary in China, references to “TechFaith Shanghai” are to
Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology (Shanghai) Limited (formerly known as Leadtech Communication Technology
(Shanghai) Limited), our wholly owned subsidiary in China, references to “STEP Technologies” are to STEP Technologies
(Beijing) Co., Ltd., our wholly owned subsidiary in China, references to “Techfaith Intelligent Handset Beijing” are to
Techfaith Intelligent Handset Technology (Beijing) Limited, our wholly owned subsidiary in China, references to “Techsoft
Holding” are to Techfaith Software (China) Holding Limited , our 70 percent owned joint venture with QUALCOMM
INCORPORATED in the Cayman Islands, references to “TechSoft” are to TechFaith Software (China) Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Techsoft Holding in China, references to “Techfaith Hangzhou” are to Techfaith Wireless Communication
Technology (Hangzhou) Limited, our wholly owned subsidiary in China, references to “Techfaith Shenyang” are to Techfaith
Wireless Communication Technology (Shenyang) Limited, our wholly owned subsidiary in China, references to “Techfaith
Hong Kong” are to Techfaith Intelligent Handset Technology (Hong Kong) Limited, our wholly owned subsidiary in Hong
Kong, references to “Techfaith Shenzhen” are to Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology (Shenzhen) Limited, our
wholly owned subsidiary in China;
• “shares” or “ordinary shares” refers to our ordinary shares, “ADSs” refers to our American depositary shares, each of which
represents 15 ordinary shares, and “ADRs” refers to the American depositary receipts that evidence our ADSs;
• “China” or “PRC” refers to the People’s Republic of China, and solely for the purpose of this annual report, excludes
Taiwan, Hong Kong and Macau; and
• “RMB” refers to Renminbi, the legal currency of China, and “$,” “dollars,” “US$” and “U.S. dollars” refer to the legal
currency of the United States.
We and certain selling shareholders of our company completed the initial public offering of 8,726,957 ADSs, each
representing 15 of our ordinary shares, par value US$0.00002 per share, in May 2005. On May 5, 2005, we listed our ADSs on
the Nasdaq Global Market, or Nasdaq, under the symbol “CNTF.”
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PART I
ITEM 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisers
Not Applicable.
ITEM 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable
Not Applicable.
ITEM 3. Key Information
A. Selected Financial Data
The following tables set forth our selected consolidated financial information. You should read the following information
in conjunction with “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects” below. The selected consolidated statement of
operations data for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of
December 31, 2007 and 2008 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements and should be read in
conjunction with those statements, which are included in this annual report beginning on page F-1. The selected consolidated
statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data
as of December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements that are not
included in this annual report.
2004

For the Year Ended December 31,
2005(1)
2006
2007(2)
(In thousands, except share, per share and per ADS data)

2008

Consolidated Statement of
Operations Data
Net revenues
$
46,560
$
90,110
$
80,804
$
143,444
$
208,850
Gross profit
26,676
55,049
25,699
38,649
41,165
Operating expenses
(7,971)
(14,290)
(40,728)
(47,440)
(40,125)
Government subsidy income
—
—
180
1,734
3,081
Other operating income
—
—
—
—
2,443
(Loss) income from operations
18,705
40,759
(14,849)
(7,057)
6,564
Net (loss) income
$
18,244
$
41,385
$
(8,793)
$
(3,272)
$
8,001
Net (loss) income per share
— Basic
$
0.04
$
0.07
$
(0.01)
$
(0.01)
$
0.01
— Diluted
$
0.03
$
0.07
$
(0.01)
$
(0.01)
$
0.01
Shares used in per share
computation
— Basic
500,000,000
604,011,009
656,255,882
649,807,421
649,972,306
— Diluted
551,823,942
626,626,671
656,255,882
649,807,421
650,062,312
Note:
(1)
We adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”)
No. 123(revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment”(“SFAS 123(R)”) for the year ended December 31, 2005.
(2)

We adopted FIN48 “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” on
January 1, 2007, prospectively.
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2004
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Total assets
Total current liabilities
Total shareholders’ equity
Number of ordinary shares issued
Treasury stock
Total liabilities and shareholders’
equity

2005

As of December 31,
2006
(In thousands)

2007

2008

$
$
$
$
$
$

35,086
7,760
5,030
67,542
23,869
28,090
500,000,000
—

$
$
$
$
$
$

137,207
34,060
4,974
194,163
15,335
175,853
658,183,409
—

$
$
$
$
$
$

113,172
37,229
8,546
207,714
37,123
166,350
649,692,954
8,655,000

$
$
$
$
$
$

84,754
40,014
50,763
234,861
60,739
172,009
649,913,136
8,655,000

$
$
$
$
$
$

78,926
37,804
37,763
220,064
28,248
190,808
650,034,590
—

$

67,542

$

194,163

$

207,714

$

234,861

$

220,064

Our reporting and financial statements are expressed in the U.S. dollar, which is our reporting and functional currency.
However, substantially all of the revenues and expenses of our consolidated operating subsidiaries and variable interest entity
are denominated in Renminbi. This annual report contains translations of RMB amounts into U.S. dollars at specific rates solely
for the convenience of the reader. The conversion of RMB into U.S. dollars in this annual report is based on the noon buying
rate in The City of New York for cable transfers of RMB as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York. Unless otherwise noted, all translations from RMB to U.S. dollars and from U.S. dollars to RMB in this annual report were
made at a rate of RMB6.8225 to US$1.00, the noon buying rate in effect as of December 31, 2008. We make no representation
that any RMB or U.S. dollar amounts could have been, or could be, converted into U.S. dollars or RMB, as the case may be, at
any particular rate, at the rates stated below, or at all. The Chinese government imposes control over its foreign currency
reserves in part through direct regulation of the conversion of RMB into foreign currencies and through restrictions on foreign
trade. On June 19, 2009, the noon buying rate was RMB6.8360 to US$1.00.
The following table sets forth information concerning exchange rates between the RMB and the U.S. dollar for the periods
indicated. These rates are provided solely for your convenience and are not necessarily the exchange rates that we used in this
annual report or will use in the preparation of our periodic reports or any other information to be provided to you. The source of
these rates is the Federal Reserve Bank of New York.
Period

Period End

2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
December
2009
January
February
March
April
May
June (through June 19)

Noon Buying Rate
Average(1)
Low
(RMB per US$1.00)

High

8.2765
8.0702
7.8041
7.2946
6.8225
6.8225

8.2768
8.1826
7.9579
7.5806
6.9193
6.8539

8.2774
8.2765
8.0702
7.8127
7.2946
6.8842

8.2764
8.0702
7.8041
7.2946
6.7800
6.8225

6.8392
6.8395
6.8329
6.8180
6.8278
6.8360

6.8360
6.8363
6.8360
6.8306
6.8235
6.8337

6.8403
6.8470
6.8438
6.8361
6.8326
6.8371

6.8225
6.8241
6.8240
6.8180
6.8176
6.8264

(1) Annual averages are calculated from month-end rates. Monthly averages are calculated using the average of the daily rates
during the relevant period.
B. Capitalization and Indebtedness
Not Applicable.

3

Table of Contents

C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds
Not Applicable.
D. Risk Factors
Risks Related to Our Business
Our limited operating history makes evaluating our business and prospects difficult.
We commenced operations in July 2002 and completed our first mobile handset design project in September 2003. We
started selling completed handsets only in 2006 and such product sales constituted over 90% of our total net revenues in 2008.
As a result, we have a limited operating history, which may not provide a meaningful basis for evaluating our business, financial
performance and prospects. We may not have sufficient experience to address the risks frequently encountered by early stage
companies, including our potential inability to:
•

achieve and maintain our profitability and margins;

•

acquire and retain customers;

•

attract, train and retain qualified personnel;

•

maintain adequate control over our costs and expenses;

•

keep up with evolving industry standards and market developments; or

•

respond to competitive and changing market conditions.

If we are unsuccessful in addressing any of these risks, our business may be materially and adversely affected.
If we fail to timely and effectively meet market demand after our human resource restructuring, our business may be materially
and adversely affected.
The recent global crisis in the financial services and credit markets has resulted in significant volatility and dislocation in
the global capital markets. It is uncertain how long the global crisis in the financial services and credit markets will continue
and how much adverse impact it will have on the global economy in general or the Chinese economy in particular. To cope
with the global economic downturn, we undertook a human resource restructuring throughout 2008. Under this plan, we
streamlined business processes to improve efficiency. As a result, the number of our employees was reduced from 1,363 as of
December 31, 2007 to 522 as of December 31, 2008. If we cannot timely and effectively meet market demand with our
restructured work force, our business may be materially and adversely affected.
If our customers fail to achieve success in their business, our business and results of operations may be materially and
adversely affected.
If any of our customers is unsuccessful in its mobile handset sales, whether due to lack of market acceptance of its products,
shortage of component supplies, slowdown of replacement sales of mobile handsets or otherwise, the customer may downsize or
discontinue its mobile handset business, which in turn could adversely affect our business in mobile handset design services
and product sales. Accordingly, our success depends on our customers’ success in their business. Our largest customer in 2006,
2007 and 2008 contributed approximately 15.6%, 11.0% and 12.3%, respectively, of our total revenues, and our largest three
customers in 2006, 2007 and 2008 contributed approximately 28.5%, 25.0% and 28.8%, respectively, of our total revenues. If
any of these customers experiences financial difficulty or is otherwise unable to achieve success in its own business, our
business and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected. We are not certain whether our customers will be
able to achieve success in their business and how long they will remain competitive in their business even if initially successful.
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We are exposed to the inventory risk and the credit risk of our customers.
As our product sales increasingly make up the majority of our revenues, we are correspondingly exposed to inventory risks.
Although we arrange with our EMS providers for product manufacturing according to the sales order, we nevertheless need to
order some raw material and components in advance of assigning them to the EMS providers and to build inventory in advance
of customer’s orders to balance the longer lead time for components and shorter delivery time requested by our customers.
Because demand for our products is affected by a number of factors, including competition and general economic conditions,
there is risk that we may forecast demand incorrectly and order from third parties excess or insufficient inventories of particular
products.
In addition, credit risk of our customers may arise from events or circumstances beyond the control of us or our customers.
For instance, an economic downturn may cause our customers to default under the product sales contracts entered into with us.
Therefore, we are exposed to the risks that our customers may refuse to buy from us the original number of mobile handsets in
accordance with the purchase orders or may not be able to pay us timely or at all in accordance with the sales contracts. Even if
we may sometimes be able to retain as penalties the partial prepayments or deposits received from such defaulting customers,
this might not be sufficient to offset the resulting loss of profits and the increased cost of unsold inventory. If our customers
default in paying us, we would have to make provisions for doubtful debts or incur bad debt write-offs, which would materially
and adversely affect our profitability.
We are subject to product liability or product recall exposure and have limited insurance coverage.
Our sales agreements with customers require us to undertake any product recalls for products that we, a regulatory body or
our customers determine fail to meet pre-determined specifications, standards, laws, regulations or contain substantial defects or
substantial product hazards which could cause damage. We may be required to bear all costs related to the recall that arise out of
our breach of warranty as set forth in a purchase agreement.
As we continue to sell completed feature phones and smart phones to our customers in 2009, we are exposed to potential
product liability claims in the event that the use of our products causes or is alleged to have caused personal injuries or other
adverse effects. A successful product liability claim against us could require us to pay substantial damages. Product liability
claims against us, whether or not successful, are costly and time-consuming to defend. Also, in the event that our products prove
to be defective, we may be required to recall or redesign such products, which could result in substantial costs, diversion of
management attention and resources and damage to our reputation. However, as the insurance industry in China is still in an
early stage of development, product liability insurance available in China offers limited coverage compared to coverage offered
in many other countries. We have acquired product liability insurance, but the coverage provided by this insurance is limited
and future liability claims may exceed the coverage limits of our insurance.
We cannot assure you that product liability insurance will continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms, if at
all. A product liability claim, with or without merit, could result in significant adverse publicity against us, and could have a
material adverse effect on the marketability of our products and our reputation, which in turn could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, we do not have any business interruption
insurance coverage for our operations. Any business disruption or natural disaster could result in substantial costs and diversion
of resources.
We may cease to be profitable and experience net losses in the future.
Although we had recorded net income in 2008, a net loss was recorded in 2006 and 2007. We cannot assure you that our
return to profitability will continue in the future. We continue to cut down our operating expenses as a proportion to our sales to
control cost. However, any decrease or delay in generating additional revenues could materially and adversely affect our results
of operations and result in substantial operating losses as the operating expenses might not decline to the same extent that
revenues decrease. In addition, competition from other independent mobile handset design services providers and original
design manufacturers, or ODMs, may exert downward pressure on our prices to maintain our competitive position. If we do not
achieve profitability or otherwise meet the expectations of securities analysts and investors, the market price of our ADSs will
likely decline.
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We are dependent on our suppliers and EMS providers for timely manufacturing and delivery of the products sold to our
customers.
We rely on our suppliers for procuring the raw materials and components required for the manufacturing of the finished
products that we sell to our customers. As we do not have our own manufacturing facilities, we rely on EMS providers for
assembling and manufacturing the mobile handsets. If these suppliers or EMS providers fail to deliver their goods or services to
us in a timely manner, our ability to deliver the finished goods to our customers on a timely basis will be accordingly affected. If
we fail to maintain our relationships with existing suppliers or EMS providers or fail to find new suppliers or EMS providers for
cooperation on competitive terms, our business operations and financial results may be materially and adversely impacted.
The mobile handset market in China is highly competitive, and we cannot assure you that we will be able to compete
successfully against our competitors.
The mobile handset market in China is intensely competitive and highly fragmented. We face current and potential
competition from established suppliers of wireless communications solutions to mobile device manufacturers. These
competitors include original design manufacturers, or ODMs, such as Arima Communications, BenQ and Compal
Communications.
We also face competitors who outsource the manufacturing to EMS providers as they, like us, do not own the
manufacturing facility. For this group of competitors, the outsourcing of the manufacturing process allows lower operating costs
and reduced capital investments and other fixed costs. This in turn results in the low barriers of entry, and accordingly an
increasing number of new players may enter this market in the near future.
Many of our current and potential competitors have significantly greater financial, technical, marketing, sales and other
resources than we do. We cannot assure you that we will be able to compete successfully against our current or future
competitors.
We are subject to risks from customers’ claims for refund and liquidated damages.
Our agreements with many customers contain refund and liquidated damages provisions, which entitle the customers to
demand a refund and liquidated damages if we cannot complete a mobile handset design by the deadline, or if the requisite
certifications cannot be obtained, or if we cannot timely deliver our smart phone or feature phone products to our customers. We
cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully perform every customer contract, or that costs associated with refunds and
liquidated damages will not be material. Under the recently realigned business of providing turn-key solutions to our smart
phone customers, we will outsource the assembly of final handset products to third-party companies. Any failure of such
assembly companies in timely delivering to us the finished products with the stipulated quality will cause us to be liable to our
customers.
We may not be able to prevent others from unauthorized use of our intellectual property, which could harm our business and
competitive position.
We rely on a combination of patent, trademark, trade secret laws and copyrights, as well as nondisclosure agreements and
other methods to protect our intellectual property rights. Implementation of PRC intellectual property-related laws has
historically been lacking, primarily because of ambiguities in the PRC laws and difficulties in enforcement. Accordingly,
intellectual property rights and confidentiality protections in China may not be as effective as in the United States or other
countries. Policing unauthorized use of proprietary technology is difficult and expensive. The steps we have taken may be
inadequate to prevent the misappropriation of our proprietary technology. Reverse engineering, unauthorized copying or other
misappropriation of our proprietary technologies could enable third parties to benefit from our technologies without paying us
for doing so, which could harm our business and competitive position. Although we are not currently involved in any litigation,
we may need to resort to court action to enforce our intellectual property rights. Litigation relating to our intellectual property
might result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and management attention. See “— Risks Related to Doing Business
in China — Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could adversely affect us.”
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We may face intellectual property infringement and other claims that could be time-consuming and costly to defend and result
in our loss of significant rights.
Other parties may assert intellectual property infringement and other claims against us. Litigation is expensive and timeconsuming and could divert management’s attention from our business. If there is a successful claim of infringement, we may be
required to pay substantial damages to the party claiming infringement, develop non-infringing technology or enter into
royalty or license agreements that may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all. Our failure to develop non-infringing
technologies or license the proprietary rights on a timely basis would harm our business. Parties asserting infringement claims
may be able to obtain an injunction, which could prevent us from providing our services or using technology that contains the
allegedly infringing intellectual property. While currently we do not have any on-going infringement claims against us, we had
in the past been, and may in the future be, subject to claims by other parties alleging infringements of their intellectual property
rights by our products. To resolve such claims, we may be required to pay licensing fees to third parties, which could adversely
affect our financial condition. Any intellectual property litigation could have a material adverse effect on our business,
operating results or financial condition.
Our business depends substantially on the continuing efforts of our senior executives, and our business may be severely
disrupted if we lose their services.
Our future success depends heavily upon the continued services of our senior executives, especially our Chief Executive
Officer, Mr. Defu Dong. We rely on their experience in mobile handset design and manufacturing, business operations and
selling and marketing and on their relationships with our customers. We do not maintain key-man life insurance for any of our
key executives. If one or more of our key executives are unable or unwilling to continue in their present positions, we may not
be able to replace them easily or at all. Therefore, our business may be severely disrupted, and we may incur additional expenses
to recruit and retain new officers.
Several executives of our company, including our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Defu Dong, were involved in
litigation, arbitration or administrative proceedings in the past. Although we are not aware of any pending claims against us or
our executives, any future litigation or administrative proceedings involving any of our key executives may result in diversion
of management attention away from our business, or damage to our reputation. In addition, if any of our executives joins a
competitor or forms a competing company, we may lose our customers. If any disputes arise between our executive officers and
us, we cannot assure you the extent to which our rights could be enforced in China, where these executive officers reside and
hold most of their assets, in light of the uncertainties with PRC legal system. See “— Risks Related to Doing Business in China
— Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could adversely affect us.”
The global financial and economic crisis, particularly the slowdown in China’s economy, may adversely affect on our
business, results of operations and financial conditions.
The global financial markets have experienced significant disruptions recently, and most of the world’s major economies
have entered into recession. As a result, China’s economy has slowed down significantly since the second half of 2008 and this
trend may continue into the rest of 2009 and beyond. Since we derive most of our revenues from our customers in China, the
recent macroeconomic developments in China have negatively affected our operating results in the fourth quarter of 2008. Any
persistent slowdown in China’s economy may have additional negative impacts on our business, operating results and financial
conditions in a number of ways. For example, due to decreased demand from the Chinese consumers, our current customers may
correspondingly reduce the requirement for our services and products. In addition, to the extent we offer credit to any customer
and such customer experiences financial difficulties due to the economic slowdown, we could have difficulty collecting
payment from such customer. Furthermore, the current financial turmoil affecting the financial markets and banking system may
significantly restrict our ability to obtain financing in the capital markets or from financial institutions.
Future acquisitions may have an adverse effect on our ability to manage our business.
If we are presented with appropriate opportunities, we may acquire complementary technologies or companies. Future
acquisitions would expose us to potential risks, including risks associated with the assimilation of new technologies and
personnel, unforeseen or hidden liabilities, the diversion of management attention and resources from our existing business and
the inability to generate sufficient revenues to offset the costs and expenses of acquisitions. Any difficulties encountered in the
acquisition and integration process may have an adverse effect on our ability to manage our business.
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We may incur losses due to business interruptions resulting from the occurrence of adverse public health developments such as
outbreak of epidemic, acts of terrorism, fires and natural catastrophes such as earthquakes.
In April 2009, influenza A (H1N1), a new strain of flu virus commonly referred to as “swine flu,” was first discovered in
North America and quickly spread to other parts of the world, including China. In June, World Health Organization formally
declared a swine flu pandemic.
Should any adverse public health developments such as outbreak of avian flu, SARS, influenza A (H1N1) or other health
epidemic, any acts of terrorism or natural catastrophes such as earthquakes, floods, typhoons occur in Beijing, where our
principal offices are located, or at other locations where we have substantial business operations, we might suffer significant loss
of revenues due to the resulting disruptions to our business operations, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, operating results or financial condition.
Failure to achieve and maintain effective internal controls could have a material and adverse effect on the trading price of
our ADSs.
We are subject to the reporting obligations under the U.S. securities laws. The Securities and Exchange Commission, or the
SEC, as required under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, has adopted rules requiring public companies to include
a report of management on the effectiveness of such companies’ internal control over financial reporting in its annual report.
These requirements apply to this annual report on Form 20-F. Our management has concluded that our internal control over
financial reporting for the period covered by this report was ineffective. The material weaknesses we identified are: (1) the lack
of sufficient personnel with necessary knowledge on internal control; (2) insufficient inventory management controls over
sample phones which resulted in late significant adjustments to the recording of inventory; and (3) operating ineffectiveness of
revenue contracts review and revenue recognition procedures which resulted in late significant adjustments to the recognition
of revenue. If we fail to achieve and maintain the adequacy of our internal controls, we may not be able to ensure that we can
conclude that we have effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Moreover,
effective internal controls are necessary for us to produce reliable financial reports and are important to help prevent fraud. As a
result, our failure to achieve and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting may result in the loss of investor
confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, which in turn could negatively impact the trading price of our ADSs.
If we lose our license for CDMA-related technology, we may not be able to obtain alternative licenses in a timely manner.
We are dependent on QUALCOMM Incorporated, or QUALCOMM, for CDMA-related technology we use in designing
CDMA-based mobile handsets. Suspension or termination of our CDMA license agreement by QUALCOMM could adversely
affect our business and prospects, because we may not be able to obtain alternative licenses in a timely manner to meet our
customers’ demands.
We formed a joint venture with QUALCOMM in 2006 to develop application software for wireless devices to initially
focus on CDMA mobile handsets. However, we cannot assure you of our continuing successful relationship with QUALCOMM
in this joint venture. Any breakdown in this collaboration could adversely affect our business and prospects.
Defects in our designs could result in loss of customers and claims against us.
Our mobile handset designs are complex and must meet stringent quality requirements. Complex designs such as mobile
handset designs sometimes contain defects, errors and bugs when they are first introduced. If any of our designs have reliability,
quality or compatibility problems, we may not be able to correct these problems on a timely basis. Consequently, our reputation
may be damaged, and customers may be reluctant to continue to contract with us, which could harm our ability to retain
existing customers and attract new customers. Because we cannot test for all possible scenarios, our designs may contain errors
that are not discovered until mass production of mobile handsets. These problems may result in a loss of our customers as well
as claims against us. For example, one of our former clients once sought compensation from us due partly to defects in some
third-party components we sourced and incorporated in a mobile handset model for the client. This client later acknowledged
that the design defects were attributable to the third-party components and cancelled its claim against us. We face such risk not
only in the case of the customers for our handset design services, but also in the case of the customers for our product sales. As
our revenues are increasingly being dominated by product sales, any design defects in the mobile handsets that we sell to such
customers may subject us to liability. We cannot assure you that we will not be subject to claims by our customers in the future,
and if we fail on the merits of these claims, our business and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
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If we cannot keep up with industry standards and design or offer for sales new mobile handset models in a timely and costefficient manner to meet our customers’ demand, the growth and success of our business will be materially and adversely
affected.
The mobile handset market is characterized by changing end-user preferences and demand for new and advanced functions
and applications on mobile handsets, rapid product obsolescence and price erosion, intense competition, evolving industry
standards and wide fluctuations in product supply and demand. If we cannot design or offer for sales new mobile handset
models in a timely and cost-efficient manner to meet our customers’ demand, the growth and success of our business will be
materially and adversely affected.
As the market for 2.75G and third-generation, or 3G, mobile handsets develops, our existing and potential customers may
increasingly demand 2.75G and 3G mobile handsets. Since 2006, we have begun to design 2.75G, 3G and 3.5G mobile
handsets, however we do not have a proven track record in this market. We have received orders for 3G and 3.5G mobile handset
designs and in 2007 we launched the WCDMA/GSM dual mode dual standby phone. From 2008 we have also received sales
orders from our customers for the above products. However, we cannot assure you that there will be sufficient customer demand
for such phones in the future. Further, we cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully meet our customers’ demand
with respect to cost, quality and time to completion. Our failure to meet customer demand could hurt our reputation and affect
our business and results of operation.
Risks Related To Doing Business in China
Adverse changes in political and economic policies of the PRC government could have a material adverse effect on the overall
economic growth of China, which could reduce the demand for our services and materially and adversely affect our
competitive position.
Our business operations are primarily conducted in China. We also believe that a significant portion of the mobile
handsets we design are sold to end users in China. Accordingly, our results of operations, financial condition and prospects are
subject to a significant degree to the economic, political and legal developments of China. Since the late 1970s, the PRC
government has been reforming the economic system in China. These reforms have resulted in significant economic growth.
However, we cannot predict the future direction of economic reforms or the effects such measures may have on our business,
financial position or results of operations. Any adverse change in the economic conditions in China, in policies of the PRC
government or in laws and regulations in China, could have a material adverse effect on the overall economic growth of China
and investment in the mobile handset industry. Such developments could materially and adversely affect our business, lead to
reduction in demand for our services and materially and adversely affect our competitive position.
Our business benefits from certain tax incentives, and changes to these tax incentives could adversely affect our operating
results.
On March 16, 2007, the National People’s Congress adopted the Enterprise Income Tax Law, or the EIT Law, which
became effective on January 1, 2008. Prior to December 31, 2008, Techfaith China and Techfaith Intelligent Handset Beijing
applied for High- and New-Tech Enterprises, or HNTE, status that would allow for a reduced applicable tax rate under EIT Law.
The official HNTE certificates were issued to Techfaith China and Techfaith Intelligent Handset Beijing on December 24, 2008.
While the certificates are valid for three years, we believe we will be able to reapply successfully for the renewal of the current
certificates as we believe we will continue to meet the published criteria. Accordingly, Techfaith China and Techfaith
Intelligent Handset Beijing have used the reduced applicable tax rate in calculations of deferred tax balances for the foreseeable
future. Techfaith Shanghai is qualified as a “productive enterprise” and has been agreed by the relevant tax authorities for a
two-year exemption from income tax in 2005 and 2006, followed by a 50% reduction in tax rates for the succeeding three years
in 2007, 2008 and 2009. Techfaith Shenzhen is also qualified as a “productive enterprise” and has been agreed by the relevant
tax authorities to entitle to a two-year exemption from income tax in 2007 and 2008, followed by a 50% reduction in tax rate
for succeeding three years in 2009, 2010 and 2011. Techfaith Hangzhou, is also qualified as a “productive enterprise” and has
been agreed by the relevant tax authorities to be entitled to a two-year exemption from income tax in 2007 and 2008, followed
by a 50% reduction in tax rate for succeeding three years in 2009, 2010 and 2011. There is, however, no assurance that our
subsidiaries in China will continue to receive such or any other preferential tax treatment. If any of these incentives are reduced
or eliminated by government authorities in the future, the effective tax rates of our subsidiaries in China and our effective tax
rates on a consolidated basis could increase significantly. Any such change could adversely affect our operating results.
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Our subsidiaries in China are subject to restrictions on dividend payments, or making other payments to us or any other
affiliated company.
We are a holding company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. We conduct substantially all of our operations through our
subsidiaries in China. Current PRC regulations permit our subsidiaries in China to pay dividends only out of their respective
accumulated profits, if any, determined in accordance with PRC accounting standards and regulations. In addition, our
subsidiaries in China are each required to set aside at least 10% of their respective accumulated profits each year, if any, to fund
certain reserve funds. These reserves are not distributable as cash dividends. In addition, if any of our subsidiaries in China
incurs debt on its own behalf in the future, the instruments governing the debt may restrict its ability to pay dividends or make
other payments to us.
We may be treated as a resident enterprise for PRC tax purposes under the New Tax Law, which may subject us to PRC income
tax for our income originated both within and outside the PRC and PRC income tax withholding for any dividends we pay to
our non-PRC shareholders.
Under the New Tax Law, enterprises established under the laws of non-PRC jurisdictions, but whose de facto management
body is located in the PRC, may be treated as “resident enterprises” for PRC tax purposes. The implementing rules of the New
Tax Law define de facto management as having substantial and overall management and control over the production and
operations, personnel, accounting, and properties of the enterprise. Based on our analysis of the current facts, we believe that
Techfaith, and its overseas subsidiaries should not be treated as resident enterprises for PRC tax purposes. It continues to be
unclear as to how tax authorities will determine tax residency based on the facts of each case. For the year ended December 31,
2008, our calculation of income taxes generally reflects our status as a non-China tax resident company. If the PRC
governmental authorities hold that Techfaith or its overseas subsidiaries should be treated as a resident enterprise for PRC tax
purposes after January 1, 2008, the effective date of the New Tax Law, our worldwide income will be subject to PRC income tax
at the 25% uniform tax rate, which will include any dividend income we receive from our subsidiaries, unless such dividend
income is otherwise exempted from taxable income under the New Tax Law. If we are required to pay income tax for dividends
we receive from our subsidiaries, it will materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
With the newly imposed 10% PRC dividend withholding tax, we will incur an incremental PRC tax cost when PRC profits
are distributed to ultimate shareholders. In addition, if we are determined to be a PRC resident enterprise under the new PRC tax
system and receive income other than dividends, our profitability and cash flow would be adversely impacted due to our
worldwide income being taxed in China under the new PRC tax law.
Moreover, under the new PRC tax law, foreign ADS holders may be subject to a 10% withholding tax upon dividends
payable by us and gains realized on the sale or other disposition of ADSs or ordinary shares, if such income is sourced from
within the PRC. Although our company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands, it remains unclear whether the dividends
payable by us or the gains our foreign ADS holders may realize will be regarded as income from sources within the PRC if we
are classified as a PRC resident enterprise. Any such tax on our dividend payments will reduce the returns of your investment.
Fluctuation in the value of the Renminbi may have a material adverse effect on your investment.
The value of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar, Euro and other currencies is affected by, among other things, changes in
China’s political and economic conditions and China’s foreign exchange policies. On July 21, 2005, the PRC government
changed its decade-old policy of pegging the value of the Renminbi to the U.S. dollar. Under the new policy, the Renminbi was
permitted to fluctuate within a narrow and managed band against a basket of certain foreign currencies. This change in policy
caused the Renminbi to appreciate approximately 21.5% against the U.S. dollar over the following three years. Since reaching a
high against the U.S. dollar in July 2008, however, the Renminbi has traded within a narrow band against the U.S. dollar,
remaining within 1% of its July 2008 high but never exceeding it. As a consequence, the Renminbi has fluctuated sharply since
July 2008 against other freely traded currencies, in tandem with the U.S. dollar. For example, the Renminbi appreciated
approximately 27% against the Euro between July 2008 and November 2008. It is difficult to predict how long the current
situation may last and when and how it may change again.
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The majority of our revenues are denominated in Renminbi, while a small portion of our cost of revenues is denominated
in U.S. dollars. Fluctuations in exchange rates, primarily those involving the U.S. dollar, may affect our cost of revenues and
profit margins as well as our net income. In addition, these fluctuations could result in exchange losses and increased costs in
Renminbi terms. Also, as dividends might be paid to us in the future by our subsidiaries in China, any significant revaluation of
the Renminbi may have a material adverse effect on the value of and any dividends payable on our ADSs in foreign currency
terms. If we decide to convert Renminbi we receive from our subsidiaries into U.S. dollars for the purpose of distributing
dividends on our ordinary shares or for other purposes, appreciation of the U.S. dollar against the Renminbi would have a
negative effect on the U.S. dollar amount available to us. Conversely, to the extent that we need to convert U.S. dollars into
Renminbi for our operations, appreciation of Renminbi against the U.S. dollar would have an adverse effect on the Renminbi
amount we receive from the conversion. Very limited hedging transactions are available in China to reduce our exposure to
exchange rate fluctuations. To date, we have not entered into any hedging transactions to reduce our exposure to foreign
currency exchange risk. In addition, our currency exchange losses may be magnified by China’s exchange control regulations
that restrict our ability to convert Renminbi into U.S. dollars.
Restrictions on currency exchange may limit our ability to receive and use our revenues effectively.
The principal regulation governing foreign currency exchange in China is the Foreign Currency Administration Rules
(1996), as amended. Under these rules, RMB are freely convertible for trade and service-related foreign exchange transactions,
but not for direct investment, loan or investment in securities outside China unless the prior approval of the State
Administration of Foreign Exchange, or SAFE, is obtained. Although the PRC government regulations now allow greater
convertibility of RMB for current account transactions, significant restrictions still remain. For example, foreign exchange
transactions under our subsidiaries’ capital account, including principal payments in respect of foreign currency-denominated
obligations, remain subject to significant foreign exchange controls and the approval of SAFE.
Regulations were issued January 24, 2005, April 8, 2005 and October 21, 2005 by SAFE that will require approvals from,
and registrations with, PRC government authorities in connection with direct or indirect offshore investment activities by PRC
residents and PRC corporate entities. The SAFE regulations retroactively require approval and registration of direct or indirect
investments previously made by PRC residents in offshore companies. In the event that a PRC shareholder with a direct or
indirect stake in an offshore parent company fails to obtain the required SAFE approval and make the required registration, the
PRC subsidiaries of such offshore parent company may be prohibited from making distributions of profit to the offshore parent
and from paying the offshore parent proceeds from any reduction in capital, share transfer or liquidation in respect of the PRC
subsidiaries. Further, failure to comply with the various SAFE approval and registration requirements described above, as
currently drafted, could result in liability under PRC law for foreign exchange evasion.
Because a majority of our business are operated in China, these regulations could result in the relevant PRC government
authorities limiting or eliminating our ability to purchase and retain currencies other than the RMB in the future, which could
limit or eliminate our ability to fund any business activities we may have outside China or to make dividend payments in U.S.
dollars in the future.
PRC regulations relating to the establishment of offshore special purpose companies by PRC residents may subject our PRC
resident shareholders to personal liability and limit our ability to inject capital into our PRC subsidiaries, limit our
subsidiaries’ ability to distribute profits to us, or otherwise adversely affect us.
SAFE issued a public notice in November 2005 requiring PRC residents to register with the local SAFE branch before
establishing or controlling any company outside of China for the purpose of capital financing, referred to in the notice as a
“special purpose offshore company.” PRC residents that are shareholders of special purpose offshore companies established
before November 1, 2005 were required to register with the local SAFE branch before March 31, 2006.
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We have notified beneficial owners of our company who we know are PRC residents to register with the local SAFE branch
if they are required to register under the SAFE notice. The failure or inability of beneficial owners of our company resident in
the PRC to comply with the registration procedures set forth therein may subject such beneficial owners to fines and legal
sanctions and may also limit our ability to contribute additional capital into our PRC subsidiary, limit our PRC subsidiary’s
ability to distribute profits to our company or otherwise adversely affect our business.
Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could adversely affect us.
We conduct substantially all of our business through our subsidiaries established in China. Our subsidiaries are generally
subject to laws and regulations applicable to foreign investment in China and, in particular, laws applicable to wholly foreignowned enterprises and Sino-foreign joint ventures. The PRC legal system is based on written statutes. Prior court decisions may
be cited for reference but have limited precedential value. Since 1979, PRC legislation and regulations have significantly
enhanced the protections afforded to various forms of foreign investments in China. However, since the PRC legal system is still
evolving, the interpretations of many laws, regulations and rules are not always uniform and enforcement of these laws,
regulations and rules involve uncertainties, which may limit legal protections available to us. In addition, any litigation in
China may be protracted and result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and management attention.
Risks Related to Shares and ADSs
The future sales by our existing shareholders of a substantial number of our ADSs in the public market could adversely affect
the price of our ADSs.
If our existing shareholders sell substantial amounts of our ADSs in the public market, the market price of our ADSs could
fall. Such sales also might make it more difficult for us to sell equity or equity-related securities in the future at a time and price
that we deem appropriate.
As of the date of this annual report, our management collectively beneficially owns approximately 38.4% of our
outstanding shares, or approximately 32.0% of our total issued and outstanding shares in the event of a full conversion of the
notes held by entities affiliated with IDG Partners into the maximum of 129,941,915 ordinary shares, or 19.99% of our total
issued and outstanding shares. They may cause us to register the sale of their shares under the Securities Act. Registration of
these shares under the Securities Act would result in these shares becoming freely tradable without restriction under the
Securities Act immediately upon the effectiveness of the registration. Sales of these registered shares in the public market could
cause the price of our ADSs to decline.
The market price for our ADSs has been and may continue to be volatile.
The market price for our ADSs has been and may continue to be highly volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in
response to factors including the following:
•

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly operating results;

•

changes in financial estimates by securities research analysts;

•

conditions in the mobile handset market;

•

changes in the economic performance or market valuations of other mobile handset design houses, original design
product providers or manufacturers;

•

performance of other China-based companies that are listed on Nasdaq;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of new products, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital
commitments;

•

addition or departure of key personnel; and

•

fluctuations of exchange rates between the RMB and U.S. dollar.
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In addition, the securities market has from time to time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that are not
related to the operating performance of particular companies. In particular, the global financial crisis and the ensuing
deteriorating global economic conditions have caused and may continue to cause extreme volatility in the global stock
markets. These market fluctuations may also materially and adversely affect the market price of our ADSs, regardless of our
operating performance. Volatility or a lack of positive performance in our stock price may also adversely affect our ability to
retain key employees, some of whom have been granted options or other equity incentives.
Our subsidiary has issued convertible notes to certain third-party investors, and the conversion of such notes could result in
substantial dilution to the holders of our ordinary shares and ADSs and may depress the price of our ADSs.
On June 9, 2009, to accelerate the development of our gaming business, our subsidiary Leo Technology Limited issued
US$10 million of common equity to the Hong Kong-based venture capital firm Infiniti Capital Limited and US$10 million
aggregate principal amount of 8% senior secured convertible promissory notes with a maturity date of three years to certain
entities affiliated with IDGVC Partners, a leading venture capital firm. At the earlier of (i) 30 months after the note issuance date
if a qualified initial public offering of Leo Technology Limited has not occurred by that time, or (ii) the occurrence of an event
of default, the note holders may also require Leo Technology Limited to redeem the notes in cash equal to the principal amount
plus an annual return of 20% compounded annually on the principal amount, accrued but unpaid dividends (if any) and late
charges (if any). The notes are convertible into our ordinary shares or Leo Technology Limited’s ordinary shares at the option of
the note holders. In the event of a full conversion of the notes, a total of 126,050,421 ordinary shares of our company (subject to
adjustment but in any event not exceeding 129,941,915 ordinary shares, or 19.99% of our total and issued outstanding shares)
may be issued to the holders of the notes. If the convertible notes are converted into our ordinary shares, the holders of our
ordinary shares and ADSs may experience substantial dilution and the market price of our ADSs could decline. The sale of the
ordinary shares issued upon such conversion, or the perception that such convertible notes might be converted, or the ordinary
shares issued upon such conversion might be sold, could also adversely affect the market price of our ADSs.
We may need additional capital, and the sale of additional ADSs or other equity securities could result in additional dilution
to our shareholders.
We believe that our current cash and cash equivalents and cash flow from operations will be sufficient to meet our
anticipated cash needs for the next 12 months. We may, however, require additional cash resources due to changed business
conditions or other future developments, including any investments or acquisitions we may decide to pursue. If these resources
are insufficient to satisfy our cash requirements, we may seek to sell additional equity or debt securities or obtain a credit
facility. The sale of additional equity securities could result in additional dilution to our shareholders. The incurrence of
indebtedness would result in increased debt service obligations and could result in operating and financing covenants that
would restrict our operations. We cannot assure you that financing will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if
at all.
You may face difficulties in protecting your interests, and our ability to protect our rights through the U.S. federal courts may
be limited, because we are incorporated under Cayman Islands law.
Our corporate affairs are governed by our memorandum and articles of association and by the Companies Law (2007
Revision) and common law of the Cayman Islands. The rights of our shareholders and the fiduciary responsibilities of our
directors under Cayman Islands law are not as clearly established as they would be under statutes or judicial precedents in the
United States. In particular, the Cayman Islands has a less developed body of securities laws as compared to the United States,
and provides significantly less protection to investors. Therefore, our public shareholders may have more difficulties in
protecting their interests in the face of actions by our management, directors or controlling shareholders than would public
shareholders of a corporation incorporated in a jurisdiction in the United States. In addition, Cayman Islands’ companies may
not have standing to initiate a shareholder derivative action before the federal courts of the United States. As a result, we may
not be able to protect our interests if we are harmed in a manner that would otherwise enable us to sue in a United States federal
court.
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Your ability to bring an action against us or against our directors and officers, or to enforce a judgment against us or them,
will be limited because we are incorporated in the Cayman Islands, because we conduct a substantial portion of our
operations in China and because the majority of our directors and officers reside outside of the United States.
We are incorporated in the Cayman Islands, and we conduct a substantial portion of our operations in China through our
wholly owned subsidiaries and several affiliated entities in China. Most of our directors and officers reside outside of the United
States and most of the assets of those persons are located outside of the United States. As a result, it may be difficult or
impossible for you to bring an action against us or against these individuals in the event that you believe that your rights have
been infringed under the securities laws or otherwise. Even if you are successful in bringing an action of this kind, the laws of
the Cayman Islands and of China may render you unable to enforce a judgment against our assets or the assets of our directors
and officers.
You may not be able to exercise your right to vote.
As a holder of ADSs, you may instruct the depositary of our ADSs to vote the shares underlying your ADSs but only if we
ask the depositary to ask for your instructions. Otherwise, you will not be able to exercise your right to vote unless you
withdraw the shares. However, you may not know about the meeting enough in advance to withdraw the shares. If we ask for
your instructions, the depositary will notify you of the upcoming vote and arrange to deliver our voting materials to you. We
cannot assure you that you will receive the voting materials in time to ensure that you can instruct the depositary to vote your
shares. In addition, the depositary and its agents are not responsible for failing to carry out voting instructions or for the manner
of carrying out voting instructions. This means that you may not be able to exercise your right to vote and there may be nothing
you can do if the shares underlying your ADSs are not voted as you requested.
Your right to participate in any future rights offerings may be limited, which may cause dilution to your holdings.
We may from time to time distribute rights to our shareholders, including rights to acquire our securities. However, we
cannot make rights available to you in the United States unless we register the rights and the securities to which the rights relate
under the Securities Act, or an exemption from the registration requirements is available. Also, under the deposit agreement, the
depositary bank will not make those rights available to you unless the distribution to ADS holders of both the rights and any
related securities are either registered under the Securities Act, or exempt from registration under the Securities Act. We are
under no obligation to file a registration statement with respect to any such rights or securities or to endeavor to cause such a
registration statement to be declared effective. Moreover, we may not be able to establish an exemption from registration under
the Securities Act. Accordingly, you may be unable to participate in our rights offerings and may experience dilution in your
holdings.
You may not receive distributions on ordinary shares or any value for them if it is illegal or impractical to make them available
to you.
The depositary of our ADSs has agreed to pay to you the cash dividends or other distributions it or the custodian receives
on ordinary shares or other deposited securities after deducting its fees and expenses. You will receive these distributions in
proportion to the number of ordinary shares your ADSs represent. However, the depositary is not responsible if it decides that it
is unlawful or impractical to make a distribution available to any holders of ADSs. We have no obligation to register ADSs,
ordinary shares, rights or other securities under U.S. securities laws. We also have no obligation to take any other action to
permit the distribution of ADSs, ordinary shares, rights or anything else to holders of ADSs. This means that you may not
receive the distribution we make on our ordinary shares or any value for them if it is illegal or impractical for us to make them
available to you. These restrictions may have a material adverse effect on the value of your ADSs.
You may be subject to limitations on transfer of your ADSs.
Your ADSs represented by the ADRs are transferable on the books of the depositary. However, the depositary may close its
transfer books at any time or from time to time when it deems expedient in connection with the performance of its duties. In
addition, the depositary may refuse to deliver, transfer or register transfers of ADSs generally when our books or the books of the
depositary are closed, or at any time if we or the depositary thinks it advisable to do so because of any requirement of law or of
any government or governmental body, or under any provision of the deposit agreement, or for any other reason.
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We are controlled by a small group of our existing shareholders, whose interests may differ from other shareholders.
As of the date of this annual report, our directors and executive officers as a group beneficially own 249,611,999 ordinary
shares of our company, of which Mr. Defu Dong, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, beneficially owns 249,250,000
ordinary shares (constituting approximately 38.3% of our current total issued and outstanding shares, or approximately 32.0%
of our total issued and outstanding shares in the event of a full conversion of the notes held by entities affiliated with IDG
Partners into the maximum of 129,941,915 ordinary shares, or 19.99% of our total issued and outstanding shares) and has power
to vote on behalf of the record holders of these shares over matters requiring approval by our shareholders, including electing
directors and approving mergers or other business combination transactions. This concentration of ownership may discourage,
delay or prevent a change in control of our company, which could deprive our shareholders of an opportunity to receive a
premium for their shares as part of a sale of our company and might reduce the price of our ADSs. These actions may be taken
even if they are opposed by our other shareholders.
We may be classified as a passive foreign investment company, which could result in adverse United States federal income tax
consequences to U.S. Holders.
Based on the price of the ADSs and our ordinary shares, the composition of our income and assets and our operations, we
believe that we may have been a “passive foreign investment company,” or PFIC, for United States federal income tax purposes
for our taxable year ended December 31, 2008. We must make a separate determination each year as to whether we are a PFIC
(after the close of each taxable year). We expect that even if we were not a PFIC for our taxable year ended December 31, 2008,
we will very likely be a PFIC for our current taxable year ending December 31, 2009 unless our share value increases and/or we
invest a substantial amount of the cash and other passive assets we hold in assets that produce active assets. A non-U.S.
corporation will be considered a PFIC for any taxable year if either (1) at least 75% of its gross income is passive income or
(2) at least 50% of the value of its assets (based on an average of the quarterly values of the assets during a taxable year) is
attributable to assets that produce or are held for the production of passive income. The value of our assets is generally
determined by reference to the market price of our ADSs and ordinary shares, which has decreased significantly. If we were
treated as a PFIC for any taxable year during which a U.S. Holder held an ADS or an ordinary share, certain adverse United
States federal income tax consequences could apply to the U.S. Holder. See “Item 10. Additional Information —E. Taxation —
United States Federal Income Taxation — Passive Foreign Investment Company.”
ITEM 4. Information on the Company
A. History and Development of the Company
We commenced operations in July 2002 through Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology (Beijing) Limited, or
TechFaith Beijing, formerly known as Beijing Techfaith R&D Co., Ltd., a limited liability company established in China. We
created a holding company structure by incorporating Techfaith Wireless Technology Group Limited, or TechFaith BVI, in
July 2003. We incorporated China Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology Limited on June 25, 2004 under the
Companies Law (2007 Revision) of the Cayman Islands. As part of a restructuring in anticipation of our initial public offering,
China Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology Limited became our ultimate holding company in November 2004.
Our principal executive offices are located at Building 1, No. 13, YongChang North Road, Beijing EconomicTechnological Development Area (Yi Zhuang), Beijing 100176, People’s Republic of China. Our telephone number at this
address is +86 10 5822-8288. Our registered office in the Cayman Islands is located at Maples Corporate Services Limited, PO
Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104 Cayman Islands. Our telephone number at this address is +1 (345) 9498066. Our agent for service of process in the U.S. is CT Corporation System located at 111 Eighth Avenue, New York, New York
10011.
Our capital expenditures mainly relate to our purchase of plant, machinery and equipment related to our business
operations. Our capital expenditures amounted to US$23.8 million, US$13.8 million and US$14.8 million in 2006, 2007 and
2008, respectively. Our capital expenditures for 2008 were mainly financed from our existing cash balance.
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From 2008, we have started to develop our online game business, with games that are self-developed by our subsidiary and
those licensed from third parties. This business is expected to generate revenues in 2009.
B. Business Overview
We are a China-based original developed product provider focused on the original design and development of handsets
and sales of finished products to our local and international customers. In 2008, our business comprised the following three
segments: (1) sales of products; (2) handset design services; and (3) wireless software and application. In 2008, product sales
contributed over 90% of our revenues, while wireless software and application was in the start-up stage and did not generate
revenues.
Since our inception in 2002, we have been providing complete handset design services spanning the entire handset design
cycle, which involves industrial design, hardware design, component selection and sourcing, prototype testing, pilot
production and production support. We design mobile handsets based on major technology platforms including GSM/GPRS,
CDMA1X, CDMA EVDO, WCDMA/UMTS, HSDPA, and TD-SCDMA.
From 2005, we started to be engaged in the design and development of middle- to high-end handsets and tailor-made
handsets. Our original developed products include: (1) multimedia phones and dual mode dual card handsets of multiple
wireless technology combination such as GSM/GSM, GSM/CDMA, GSM/WCDMA, GSM/TD-SCDMA and UMTS/CDMA;
(2) Windows-based smart phones and Pocket PC phones; and (3) handsets with interactive online gaming and professional game
terminals with phone functionality.
In 2006, we expanded our business from an independent design house to an original developed product, or ODP provider.
As an ODP provider, we not only provide handset design services but also sell finished products, by subcontracting EMS
providers to assemble or manufacture mobile phone handsets to meet the demand of our customers. Our revenues from product
sales as a percentage of our total net revenues increased from over 46% in 2006, through over 70% in 2007, to over 90% in
2008.
In March 2006, we entered into a joint venture with QUALCOMM by incorporating a Cayman Islands holding company
named TechFaith Software (China) Holding Limited, of which QUALCOMM and we hold 30% and 70%, respectively and
which we consolidate. In June 2006, this company formed TechFaith Software (China) Limited in China to develop software
applications for wireless communication devices. Currently, we have the capability of developing man-machine interface
(MMI) and user interface (UI) software on 2G/2.5G(GSM/GPRS, CDMA1X), 3G(EV-DO, WCDMA/UMTS, TD-SCDMA) and
3.5G(HSDPA) communication technologies. TechFaith is able to provide MMI/UI software packages that fulfill the
specifications of handset brand owners and carriers in the global market.
In an effort to minimize the adverse effects of the global financial crisis and weakening economic conditions, we have
strengthened our position through cooperation agreements with Beijing Huaqi Information Digital Technology Co., Ltd., or
Beijing Huaqi, which owns “aigo”, a leading brand in consumer digital products market in China for the operator-tailored
market in China, and with QIGI Future Technology Co., Ltd. (Beijing), or QIGI Future Technology, for the smart phone business
in China in 2008. These strategic collaborations will help promote our products in China and swiftly bring them to market.
Under the strategic cooperation agreement with Beijing Huaqi, we will provide total solutions products, including
CDMA1X/EVDO and UMTS/HSDPA, under the “aigo” brand name and through the sales channels of “aigo” for operatortailored market in China. QIGI Future Technology is a company based in China and focused on the development, production
and sale of Windows smart phones. Under the cooperation agreement with QIGI Future Technology, we will be the sole provider
of smart phone solution products to QIGI Future Technology and the smart phones will be sold under its brand name and
through its sales channels in China.
In February 2009, we launched, under the “aigo” brand name, nine new mobile phones designed specifically for the 3G
network recently rolled out in China. The nine new models are from three different product lines, which include dual mode
GSM phones, modem card phones and DVDO phones. Of the five dual-mode GSM phones three are WCDMA plus GSM phones
designed for new China Unicom subscribers and two are CDMA plus GSM phones designed for China Telecom CDMA
subscribers. There are two modem card phones, one of which utilizes a HSDPA modem card and the other uses an EVDO modem
card. The final two models have GPS functionality and run on CDMA1X and EVDO. These nine different models cover
CDMA1X, WCDMA, GSM and EVDO technologies and encompass the subscriber demand of the different telecom operators in
China.
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We also made progress in the international market. For example, we launched the first CDMA smart phone with a touch
screen function in Latin America in 2008. Our management believes this represented an achievement of an enormous milestone
for us and our smart phone growth in the international market. In addition, we continue to receive 3G smart phone orders from
the European and South East Asian markets. We intend to focus on winning more contracts from international customers, the
leading Chinese customers and non-traditional telecommunications sector customers such as China’s Ministry of Public
Security Information Center.
Our strong technological capabilities, high-quality design capabilities, strong customer relationships, strategic
relationships with leading technology providers and ample skilled, low-cost engineering resources enable us to deliver our
services and products at a competitive cost and with relatively shorter product cycles.
In 2008, through One Net Entertainment Limited, our wholly owned subsidiary, we started to develop our online and
mobile gaming business. One Net made significant progress in 2008, and set up Radiation studio, Star studio and Mythos studio
to develop games. A number of MMORPG games (massively multiplayer online role-playing games) are expected to complete
beta versions and to be launched around June 2009. One Net launched a beta version of the mobile online gaming platform
www.798uu.com by the end of November 2008. One Net is expected to generate revenue in 2009.
Products and Services
Our products and services comprise: (1) sales of products; (2) mobile handset design services; and (3) wireless software and
applications.
Sales of products
When we started our operations in 2002, we focused primarily on providing mobile handset design services. However, at
the increasing requests of our customers for purchasing finished products from us, since 2006 we have been involved in the
mass production phase of the product cycle. We do not have our own production facilities and thus outsource such production
to EMS providers.
After our customers specify the required products from among our existing range of self-designed mobile handset models
(along with some possible customized modifications or additions), we enter into sales contracts with them and begin procuring
raw materials and components from our suppliers, capitalizing on our materials procurement and inventory management
expertise. Then we enter into contracts with EMS providers, which are provided with the raw materials we procure for their
production. We also provide supervisory and technical support to such EMS providers to ensure product quality in accordance
with our customers’ specifications and to control the use of our intellectual property.
Our EMS providers engage in assembly and manufacturing operations and also offer testing services for the assembled
PCBs, systems and subsystems for ensuring products with the requisite high quality on a consistent basis. We send our
employees to the production sites of our EMS providers for inspection of the finished products before acceptance and payment
by us. For efficient inventory management, these finished products are usually arranged to be collected by courier service
providers for direct delivery to locations designated by our customers.
We provide the following primary types of products to our customers:
• Feature phones —We started our feature phone business in the fourth quarter of 2006. As more customers requested onestop service, we started to sell completed feature phone handsets that we designed. We did not manufacture feature phones
ourselves, but outsourced the manufacturing to electronics manufacturing services, or EMS, providers.
• Smart Phones —Prior to 2006, we only designed but did not sell completed handsets. Similar to the case for the feature
phone business described above, in response to customer demand, in 2006 we began selling completed smart phone handsets
that we designed. However, we do not manufacture smart phones ourselves, but instead outsource the manufacturing to EMS
providers. In 2007 we began to launch a series of WiFi smart phones with additional capabilities compared to our previous
designs.
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• Wireless modules and data card —We have begun to develop wireless solutions leveraging our knowledge and
experience in designing mobile handsets. Our wireless product lines include wireless modules and data cards for wireless
connections. Wireless modules are devices that enable data communication through a cellular network to be used in various
applications, such as global positioning systems, logistics management, wireless point-of-sale systems, traffic navigation
systems and wireless security systems. We began to sell wireless modules in June 2004. Our wireless modules consist of
baseband and radio frequency, or RF, the two important hardware building blocks of a generic mobile handset, which we
believe represent a natural extension of our handset design business. By adding a housing, we also provided data cards. In 2006
our wireless module and data card business started to grow and the revenue more than doubled from 2005. In 2007, revenue
from our wireless module was stable as compared to 2006. The data cards we provided are in three forms, namely, PC cards, USB
cards and express cards. In 2008, revenue from our wireless module and data card was US$7.3 million, constituting 4% of our
revenues.
• Other components—We also sell printed circuit board assemblies, or PCBAs, and other electronic components. We have
historically sold PCBAs that others produced for us to our Chinese customers at our request as a means to track the royalty
payments to which we are entitled. The sale of PCBAs is not our core business; we generated only 3.7% and close to zero of our
total revenues from those sales in 2007 and 2008 respectively, and do not intend to generate significant profit from PCBAs in
the future.
Mobile Handset Design Services
Historically, we commenced operations as a mobile handset design house. We also provide production support to facilitate
our customers’ manufacturing and supply chain management processes. In addition, since 2006, we have also begun to work
with our customers in providing customized handset design services to mobile service operators. Though we have expanded our
business operations by extending our production support to also include the actual production and sales of finished products,
we retain our strong technological capabilities to design mobile handsets to support a broad range of wireless communications
standards, baseband platforms and technologies.
We provide the following three types of mobile handset design services to our customers:
• Mobile Handset Design Services Based on Existing Platforms — We design a new model of mobile handset based on our
existing design platform.
• Successor Model Design Services — We design a successor model of an existing customer’s mobile handset previously
designed by us to incorporate additional functions and/or industrial design.
• Mobile Handset Design Services Based on New Platforms — We design a new model of mobile handset based on a new
design platform specified by the customer.
All three types of handset design services cover all major aspects of the design process, including industrial design,
mechanical design, software design, hardware design, sourcing of hardware components and software, testing, quality assurance,
assisting our customers in obtaining requisite certifications, setting up pilot production lines and production support.
Every design project involves the following four major steps: product definition, system design, evaluation and
certification and manufacturing support. Product definition includes the selection of baseband platform, determination of
appropriate functions and features of the mobile handset based on the customer’s input and our industry knowledge and
research, as well as sourcing key components. System design includes software feature analysis and software system design,
hardware schematic design and PCB layout design, as well as industrial design, mechanical architecture design, mechanical
parts and components design. Evaluation and certification involves tests such as the unit test, or UT, function user test, or FUT,
product reliability test, or PRT, hardware test and field test, and certifications such as FTA, CDG, CTA, GCF and FCC
certifications as required by the regions in which the handsets are to be sold. Manufacturing support involves customer training,
pilot production support, designing and assisting the customer in setting up mobile handset assembly and testing lines and
providing technical support in connection with mass production.
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In addition, for our design contracts, after we deliver our design products to our customers, our customers are required to
purchase certain components (such as chips used in mobile handsets) through us to manufacture the designed products. As this
type of components is built in to the design contracts, we included these component sales in the design contract related
revenue, rather than product sales.
Wireless Software and Applications
In the course of providing handset design services, we have acquired the ability to design software solutions across a wide
range of wireless communication platforms. Our software solutions include man-machine interface (MMI) and user interface
(UI) software packages supporting a wide range of wireless communication platforms, and wireless application software, such as
WAP, Java, MMS, web browser, SyncML and DRM. In June 2006, we formed TechFaith Software (China) Limited, or TechSoft,
in China, a PRC subsidiary of our 70%-30% Cayman Islands joint venture holding company with QUALCOMM to develop and
offer software applications for wireless communication devices. Revenues generated from offering software application
solutions were US$nil million in each of 2007 and 2008.
Customers
Mobile handset brand owners are customers for both of our product sales business and handset design services business.
Our customers include leading Chinese mobile handset brand owners and international mobile handset brand owners.
We assign an account manager for each manufacturing and design project. The account manager directly interacts with the
customer throughout the manufacturing and design process to report the progress and receive the customer’s input and
comments. For customers of our handset design services, we provide technical support and production support to assist them in
designing the manufacturing process.
A small number of customers have historically accounted for a substantial portion of our net revenue. In 2006, 2007 and
2008, our largest three customers collectively accounted for approximately 28.5%, 25.0% and 28.8%, respectively, of our net
revenues.
We normally have multiple on-going contracts with the same customer, and each contract may correspond to more than
one mobile handset model. While our contracts vary by customer and by mobile handset model, each of our product sales
contracts typically requires us to sell finished products based on our pre-existing self-designed handset models along with some
possible modified or additional features, and each of our handset design services contracts typically requires us to develop and
design the mobile handset model, assist the customer in designing the manufacturing process, obtain necessary certifications
and provide technical and production support.
For our product sales, we typically charge payments based on the per unit price multiplied by the total number of handsets.
A portion of the total purchase price is usually payable at the execution of the sales contracts as prepayment and full payment is
required before the products are delivered to our customers.
We typically charge two types of payment for our handset design services: design fee and royalty. The design fee is a fixed
amount paid in installments according to pre-agreed milestones. In addition to the design fee, we also charge royalty to certain
customers. The royalty is calculated at a variable rate based on the volume of mobile handsets manufactured or sold by a
customer.
Our contracts with many customers contain refund and liquidated damages provisions. These provisions provide the
customer with a right to demand a refund and liquidated damages if we cannot complete a mobile handset design by the
deadline mutually agreed between us and the customer, the requisite certifications cannot be obtained, or if our products sold to
the customers contain defects or are otherwise not in compliance with the specifications agreed in the contracts. Under the sales
contracts with our customers, we are required to provide warranty and after-sales services. These warranty and after-sales services
will be performed either by EMS providers or by us.
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Sales and Marketing
Our sales and marketing activities are substantially the same for both the product sales business and handset design
services business. We sell and market our product sales and mobile handset design services through direct marketing and a sales
force in China. We maintain sales and marketing staff in Beijing, Shanghai and Shenzhen, covering the major regions where
most of our customers are located. We intend to expand our sales and marketing network to cover Japan, Europe and the U.S. as
we focus on attracting customers from these markets.
We engage in marketing activities to promote our services. We frequently attend conferences, exhibitions and trade fairs to
promote our products and services. Each year we attend the GSMA Mobile World Congress (formerly 3GSM World Congress)
exhibition in Barcelona, Spain and the CTIA Wireless exhibition in Las Vegas. In addition, we view our strategic relationships
with leading technology companies and platform providers as part of our efforts to promote our company. We believe that some
of the leading technology companies with which we have strategic relationships will be instrumental in helping us secure our
targeted multinational customers by providing us opportunity referrals, since such referrals may also promote the use of their
technology. We also introduced additional baseband platforms to our existing customers to attract new product sales and design
contracts from them.
Technology
We build our successful product sales business upon the strong foundation of our technological expertise gained in the
process of designing a wide range of mobile handset models by the effective and efficient deployment of our in-house research
and development team.
We have extensive experience in designing 2G and 2.5G GSM/GPRS mobile handsets based on major baseband platforms.
To expand our design capabilities, in 2007 we acquired the technologies necessary for the design and development of 3.5G and
3.75G mobile handsets based on EVDO/WCDMA/HSDPA standards. We further expanded our design capabilities by launching
WiFi enabled smart phones and dual mode dual card phones.
We rely on third-party licensors for key technologies and other technologies embedded in our mobile handset designs.
These licenses are typically non-exclusive under royalty-accruing and/or paid-up contracts. Among licenses, we have obtained
licenses for GSM-related intellectual property from Philips, Texas Instruments and Skyworks Solutions. We are the first
independent mobile handset design house in China to have obtained licenses from QUALCOMM to use its
CDMA/WCDMA/HSDPA/HSUPA technology and patent to develop relevant handsets.
We have a high degree of technological expertise in major areas of mobile handset design, development and production.
Our engineers are skilled at designing mobile handsets that integrate many different functions and features in common or
differentiated hardware and software architectures. We have also developed a design approach that allows the production of
enhanced mobile handset models with minimal modifications and slight adjustments on the existing mass production lines of
our customers or the EMS providers that manufacture the products for our customers. This allows our customers to launch new
handset models at a relatively faster time-to-market and with lower manufacturing costs.
We use advanced methodologies to design mobile handsets for our customers. We use industry-standard, state-of-the-art
design tools in our design process which we believe provides us significant flexibility to adapt our research, development and
product design work to new manufacturing processes and technology platforms when desirable.
We launched GPS/GSM-CDMA dual module/GSM-GSM dual card phones and WiFi smart phones based on the Windows
Mobile 6 operating system handsets in 2007. We have developed handsets with technologies such as GSM/WCDMA, GSM/TDSCDMA and UMTS/CDMA and are capable of developing MMI/UI software on 2G/2.5G(GSM/GPRS, CDMA1X), 3G(EV-DO,
WCDMA/UMTS, TD-SCDMA) and 3.5G(HSDPA) communication technologies and providing MMI/UI software packages that
fulfill the specifications of handset brand owners and carriers in the global market.
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Research and Development
We believe that our future success depends on our ability to efficiently design new models of mobile handsets and
manufacturing processes that meet our customers’ demand for cost-competitive, high-quality and technologically advanced
mobile handsets. We seek to continue to enhance and expand our design capability through in-house research and development
efforts and strategic partnerships. The goals of our research and development efforts include the following:
•

to keep abreast of the advanced technologies in the mobile handset industry;

•

to emphasize cost-effectiveness and manufacturability of our designs;

•

to develop high-quality handsets based on various commonly adopted platforms and to ensure flexibility of design
and production modifications; and

•

to make effective use of the technologies licensed from leading global technology companies.

As of December 31, 2008, our research and development staff consisted of 400 engineers, representing more than 75% of
our total staff. As of the date of this annual report, our research and development staff was more than 90% of our total staff. All
of our engineers are based in China and most of our senior engineers have extensive experience in the mobile handset industry.
For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, we had research and development expenses of US$22.0 million,
US$30.9 million and US$18.2 million, respectively.
Intellectual Property
We rely primarily on a combination of patent, trademark, trade secret protection, copyright, employee and third-party
confidentiality agreements to protect our intellectual property. As of the date of this annual report, we held a total of 74 patents
issued in China and 226 pending patent applications. Our issued patents and pending patent applications relate primarily to our
mobile handset designs. Our policy is to seek patents that have broad application in the mobile handset design industry and
that we believe will provide a competitive advantage for us. We have registered seven domain names including
www.techfaithwireless.com with the Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers.
We also rely on third-party licensors for design cell phone and module card technologies and other technologies
embedded in our designs. These licenses are typically non-exclusive and royalty-accruing. If we are unable to continue to have
access to these licensed technologies, our success could be adversely affected. In addition, we rely on commercially available
third-party software applications in carrying on our business operations. We generally obtain these software applications from
retail outlets or through third-party vendors who bundle them together with PCs and servers purchased by us. We make efforts to
ensure that we have proper licenses for software applications used by us, including those provided by third-party vendors.
Competition
The mobile handset market is intensely competitive and highly fragmented. We face current and potential future
competition from established mobile device manufacturers. These include ODMs, such as Arima Communications, BenQ and
Compal Communications, who compete with our product sales business by offering their own production services to brand
name owners. These ODMs may also compete with us in the design business as they may be in a position to design mobile
handsets on their own. We also face competition from in-house design teams of original equipment manufacturers, or OEMs,
world-wide. In addition, new players may enter the independent mobile handset production and design market in the near
future.
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We compete in varying degrees on the basis of the following factors:
•

ability to effectively and efficiently provide know-how and support to our EMS providers which manufacture
handsets for our customers;

•

ability to design and integrate many hardware and software functions and features based on different platforms;

•

product quality and reliability;

•

cost-effectiveness;

•

economies-of-scale;

•

ability to rapidly complete a design;

•

service and customer support capabilities; and

•

customer base and customer loyalty.

Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial, technical, manufacturing, marketing, sales and other
resources than we do. We cannot assure you that we will be able to compete successfully against our current or future
competitors.
Regulation
This section sets forth, in the opinion of our PRC counsel, Genland Law Firm, a summary of the most significant
regulations or requirements that affect our business activities in China or our shareholders’ right to receive dividends and other
distributions from us.
FTA Certification
In the early 1990s, the Global Certification Forum, or GCF, established a series of quality standards for mobile handsets
used on GSM networks. GCF requires all GSM mobile handsets to obtain a certification commonly known as FTA, or Full Type
Approval, from testing centers qualified by GCF before mass production. FTA certifies that a mobile handset submitted for
testing has passed tests for its reliability and conformance with global standards. Our customers generally require us to obtain
FTA certification for the GSM-based mobile handsets we design for them.
CTA Certification
On May 19, 1994, the Ministry of Posts and Telecommunications, the predecessor of the Ministry of Information Industry,
or the MII, promulgated the Notice Regarding the Implementation of Network Entry License System for Mobile
Communications Termination Products. According to this notice, a nationwide uniform network entry approval and
certification system shall be established and applied to all telecommunication terminal equipment, including mobile handsets,
beginning from June 1, 1994. On June 1, 2001, the MII promulgated the Administration Measures of the Network Entry of
Telecommunication Equipment. According to these measures, all telecommunication terminal equipment subject to the
network entry permit system, including mobile handsets, must obtain a certification commonly known as CTA, or China Type
Approval, from the MII before mass production. CTA certifies that the use of a telecommunication terminal equipment in the
national telecommunications network has been approved and complies with the requirements for network access and the
national standards established by the MII. Our customers generally require us to provide technical support to assist them in
obtaining CTA certification.
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Tax
On March 16, 2007, the National People’s Congress adopted the Enterprise Income Tax Law, or the EIT Law, which
became effective on January 1, 2008. Prior to December 31, 2008, Techfaith China and Techfaith Intelligent Handset Beijing
applied for High- and New-Tech Enterprises, or HNTE, status that would allow for a reduced applicable tax rate under EIT Law.
The official HNTE certificates were issued to Techfaith China and Techfaith Intelligent Handset Beijing on December 24, 2008.
While the certificates are valid for three years, we believe we will be able to reapply successfully for the renewal of the current
certificates as we believe we will continue to meet the published criteria. Accordingly, Techfaith China and Techfaith
Intelligent Handset Beijing have used the reduced applicable tax rate in calculations of deferred tax balances for the foreseeable
future. Techfaith Shanghai is qualified as a “productive enterprise” and has been agreed by the relevant tax authorities for a
two-year exemption from income tax in 2005 and 2006, followed by a 50% reduction in tax rates for the succeeding three years
in 2007, 2008 and 2009. Techfaith Shenzhen is also qualified as a “productive enterprise” and has been agreed by the relevant
tax authorities to be entitled to a two-year exemption from income tax in 2007 and 2008, followed by a 50% reduction in tax
rate for the succeeding three years in 2009, 2010 and 2011. Techfaith Hangzhou is also qualified as a “productive enterprise”
and has been agreed by the relevant tax authorities to be entitled to a two-year exemption from income tax in 2007 and 2008,
followed by a 50% reduction in tax rate for the succeeding three years in 2009, 2010 and 2011.
The EIT Law includes a provision specifying that legal entities organized outside China will be considered residents for
Chinese income tax purposes if their place of effective management or control is within China. If legal entities organized
outside China were considered residents for Chinese income tax purpose, they would become subject to the EIT Law on their
worldwide income. This would cause any income legal entities organized outside China earned to be subject to China’s 25%
EIT. The Implementation Rules to EIT Law provide that non-resident legal entities will be considered China residents if
substantial and overall management and control over the manufacturing and business operations, personnel, accounting,
properties, etc. resides within China. Pursuant to the additional guidance released by the Chinese government on April 22,
2009, management does not believe that the legal entities of our group that are organized outside China should be
characterized as China tax residents for EIT Law purposes.
Under the PRC tax laws effective prior to January 1, 2008, dividends paid to foreign investors by foreign-invested
enterprises, such as dividends paid to the overseas holding companies by the PRC subsidiaries, were exempt from PRC
withholding tax. Under the EIT Law and its implementation rules which became effective on January 1, 2008, dividends
generated after January 1, 2008 and payable by a foreign-invested enterprise in China to its foreign investors who are nonresident enterprises are subject to a 10% withholding tax, unless any such foreign investor’s jurisdiction of incorporation has a
tax treaty with China that provides for a different withholding arrangement.
Aggregate undistributed earnings of our subsidiaries located in the PRC that are taxable upon distribution to us of
approximately US$88.7 million at December 31, 2008 are considered to be indefinitely reinvested under APB opinion No. 23,
Accounting for Income Taxes-Special Areas, because we do not have any present plan to pay any cash dividends on its ordinary
shares in the foreseeable future and intends to retain most of our available funds and any future earnings for use in the operation
and expansion of our business. Accordingly, no deferred tax liability has been accrued for the Chinese dividend withholding
taxes that would be payable upon the distribution of those amounts to us as of December 31, 2008.
We sell a significant portion of wireless modules and smart phones from our Hong Kong subsidiary, and currently the
statutory income tax rate in Hong Kong is 16.5%. The Inland Revenue Department of Hong Kong approved our Hong Kong
subsidiary to be effectively exempt from income tax in Hong Kong. No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was made for the
years ended December 31, 2007 and 2008 on the basis that Techfaith Hong Kong did not have any assessable profits arising in
or derived from Hong Kong for the years.
According to the Circular on Tax Issues Related to the Implementation of the Decision of the CPC Central Committee and
State Council on Strengthening Technical Innovation issued by the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of
Taxation, technology companies in China may apply for a refund of business tax arising from the revenue generated under a
technology development agreement or a technical marketing agreement.
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Our subsidiaries in China are also entitled to a business tax exemption relating to their income derived from any
technology development agreement and technical transfer agreement that has been registered with relevant government
authorities.
Pursuant to the Provisional Regulation of China on Value Added Tax and their implementing rules, except as stipulated
otherwise, our PRC subsidiaries are required to pay value added tax, or VAT, at a rate of 17% of the gross sales proceeds
received.
Foreign Currency Exchange
The principal regulation governing foreign currency exchange in China is the Foreign Currency Administration Rules
(1996), as amended. Under these rules, RMB is freely convertible for trade and service-related foreign exchange transactions,
but not for direct investment, loan or investment in securities outside China unless the prior approval of the State
Administration for Foreign Exchange of China, or SAFE, is obtained.
Pursuant to the Administration of the Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Provisions, promulgated by the
People’s Bank of China on June 20, 1996 and effective July 1, 1996, foreign investment enterprises in China may purchase
foreign currency without the approval from SAFE for trade and service-related foreign exchange (subject to a cap approved by
SAFE) to satisfy foreign exchange liabilities or to pay dividends. In addition, if and when they acquire companies in the middle
and western areas of China and the foreign investment accounts for not less than 25% of the registered capital of such acquired
companies, such acquired companies will also be entitled to enjoy the policies granted to foreign investment enterprises.
However, the relevant PRC government authorities may limit or eliminate the ability of foreign investment enterprises to
purchase and retain foreign currencies in the future. In addition, foreign exchange transactions for direct investment, loan and
investment in securities outside China are still subject to limitations and require approvals from SAFE.
Dividend Distribution
The principal regulations governing distribution of dividends by wholly foreign-owned enterprises and the Chineseforeign equity joint ventures include the Wholly Foreign-owned Enterprise Law (1986), as amended by the Decision on
Amending the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Foreign-funded Enterprises (2000), and the Implementing Rules of the
Wholly Foreign-owned Enterprise Law (1990), as amended by the Decision of the State Council on amending of the Rules for
the Implementation of the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Foreign-funded Enterprises (2001).
Under these regulations, foreign invested enterprises in China may pay dividends only out of their accumulated profits, if
any, determined in accordance with Chinese accounting standards and regulations. In addition, foreign invested enterprises in
China are required to set aside at least 10% of their respective accumulated profits each year, if any, to fund certain reserve
funds, until the cumulative amount of such fund reaches 50% of its registered capital. These funds are not distributable as cash
dividends.
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C. Organizational Structure
The following chart illustrates our corporate structure, our equity interest in each of our principal operating subsidiaries
and our variable interest entity as of the date of this annual report:

We conduct substantially all of our operations through the following subsidiaries in China:
•

Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology (Beijing) Limited, or Techfaith China, which primarily designs GSMbased mobile handsets;

•

One Net Entertainment Limited , or One Net, formerly known as Techfaith Interactive Technology (Beijing) Limited, and
before then, Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology (Beijing) Limited II and Beijing Centel Technology R&D
Co., Ltd., which primarily designs online games;

•

Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology (Shanghai) Limited, or TechFaith Shanghai, formerly known as Leadtech
Communication Technology (Shanghai) Limited, which primarily designs CDMA mobile handsets using technology
licensed from QUALCOMM;

•

STEP Technologies (Beijing) Co., Ltd., or STEP Technologies, which primarily designs GSM-based mobile handsets based
on a baseband platform licensed from Texas Instruments and WCDMA mobile handsets using technology licensed from
QUALCOMM;

•

Techfaith Intelligent Handset Technology (Beijing) Limited, or Techfaith Intelligent Handset Beijing, which focuses on
smart phones and related products;

•

TechFaith Software (China) Limited, or TechSoft, which primarily develops application software for wireless devices;

•

Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology (Hangzhou) Limited, or Techfaith Hangzhou, which focuses on handsets
and smart phones sales;

•

Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology (Shenyang) Limited, or Techfaith Shenyang, which focuses on materials;

•

Techfaith Intelligent Handset Technology (Hong Kong) Limited, or Techfaith Hong Kong, which focuses on smart phones
and handsets sales; and

•

Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology (Shenzhen) Limited, or Techfaith Shenzhen, which focuses on component
sales.
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Except for TechSoft, all of our subsidiaries in China are wholly owned. TechSoft is wholly owned by a Cayman Islands
holding company, which is a joint venture that is 70%-owned by us and 30%-owned by QUALCOMM.
In March 2007, we formed a wholly owned PRC subsidiary, Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology (Shenyang)
Limited, in Shenyang, China, which is engaged in purchasing raw materials. In 2008, through One Net Entertainment Ltd., our
wholly owned subsidiary, we commenced developing and operating online and mobile games.
D. Property, Plant and Equipment
As of December 31, 2008, our principal executive offices were located on premises comprising 24,000 square meters in
Beijing, China. We have regional offices in Shanghai, Hangzhou and Shenzhen. We plan to establish our dedicated mobile
handset pilot production facilities in Hangzhou. On February 11, 2007, we contracted with a third party construction company
to construct a building in Hangzhou for a provisional consideration of approximately US$26.4 million (RMB192.0 million). As
of December 31, 2008, we had paid a total of US$18.2 million (RMB132.0 million) for the construction. Construction of this
facility is expected to be completed in 2009 and the facility will be primarily used for research and development. We believe
that we will be able to obtain adequate facilities to accommodate our future expansion plans.
ITEM 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.
ITEM 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects
The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon and should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and their related notes included in this annual report on Form 20-F. This
report contains forward-looking information. See “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—G. Safe Harbor.” In
evaluating our business, you should carefully consider the information provided under the caption “Risk Factors” in this annual
report on Form 20-F. We caution you that our businesses and financial performance are subject to substantial risks and
uncertainties.
A. Operating Results
Since our inception in 2002, we have been providing complete handset design services spanning the entire handset design
cycle, which involves industrial design, hardware design, component selection and sourcing, prototype testing, pilot
production and production support. While we design GSM-based mobile handsets based on major baseband technology
platforms, we introduced our first 3G handset based on the WCDMA/GSM technology platform in the third quarter of 2005 and
have re-allocated most of our GSM resources to focus on 3G handset design and development. We have also launched WiFi
smart phones. In June 2006, we and QUALCOMM formed TechSoft to develop software applications for wireless
communication devices. We own 70% of TechSoft.
From March 2006, we began to re-organize our business operations into three parts, which were (1) handset design,
(2) sales of products, and (3) developing wireless software and applications. Prior to 2006, we only designed but did not sell
completed handsets. In response to customer demand, we began selling completed smart phone handsets in 2006 and selling
completed feature phones that we designed in 2007. In 2007, we launched the world’s first Windows-based GSM/CDMA dual
mode dual standby pocket PC phone.
Major Factors Affecting Our Results of Operations
Net Revenues. We derive our revenues from sales of products and mobile handset design services. Products we sell include
smart phones and feature phones designed by us and manufactured by EMS providers, printed circuit board assemblies, or
PCBAs, wireless modules and other electronics components for mobile handsets. Revenues from handset design services
comprise design fees and royalty income.
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Our revenues from product sales as a percentage of our total net revenues increased from over 46% in 2006, through over
70% in 2007, to over 90% in 2008. As we expect, however, that our new gaming business will start generating revenue in 2009,
revenues from product sales as a percentage of our total net revenues in 2009 may fall. We recognize revenues from sales of
products after all the risks and rights have passed to our customers. We outsource the production and assembly of our products
to outside manufacturers. We record revenue based on the gross amounts billed to our customers as we are the primary obligor in
these transactions, we have latitude in establishing prices, we are involved in the determination of the service specifications, we
bear the credit risk, we bear the inventory risk and we have the right to select the suppliers and the manufacturers. Normally, full
payment is required before products are shipped. We recognize revenue for products shipped on credit only after collection is
reasonably assured. Sales of completed products generate a lower gross margin than sales of handset design services only.
We also provide mobile handset design services to mobile handset brand owners. Our customers include leading Chinese
mobile handset brand owners and international mobile handset brand owners. International brand owners are owners of handset
brands headquartered outside of the PRC, who have engaged us for handset design services. Our net revenues from international
brand owners increased from 48% of total handset design revenue in 2006 to 57% of total handset design revenue in 2007. In
2008, our net revenues from international brand owners decreased to 8% of total handset design revenue as we started to have
less handset design service and more product sales. Our design gross margins have fluctuated since our inception and are
expected to continue to fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors. These factors include changes in the relative mix of our
services and the terms at which we offer them. In order to maintain or improve our gross margin for our handset design services,
we must reduce our unit cost through achieving greater economies-of-scale, particularly in the face of price pressures in a
competitive market.
The mobile handset industry is characterized by relatively short product life cycles, increasing competition, margin
pressure for wireless handset brand owners and a growing trend toward outsourcing. We expect our business to be primarily
driven by the growing mobile handset markets and the industry trend to outsource. Our net revenues from product sales are
driven by the number of mobile handsets sold to our customers as well as the average per unit price of such handsets. The
number of mobile handsets sold is in turn driven, in part, by the number of our customers and their amount of orders for our
products that our sales and marketing team is able to obtain from each of these customers based on our product quality and
reliability.
While the quality of our products and services is a key factor in attracting orders from our customers, the amount of orders
we receive is also driven by the market demand for the specific products we design and produce, and the level of competition
from our competitors in terms of their ability both to divert our target customers to themselves at our expense as well as to exert
downward pressures in the pricing that we can charge our customers. The market demand for mobile handsets is further
influenced by the general economic condition and the level of disposable income of consumers and consumer sentiment in
China, and, to a lesser extent, in other countries in which we sell our products. As we outsource the assembly and manufacturing
of our products to EMS providers, and we believe it is relatively easy for us to procure raw materials from existing and new
suppliers and to procure manufacturing services from existing and new EMS providers, we do not anticipate having any
capacity problem in sales order fulfillment as we are in a position to accept, and successfully fulfill, substantially more orders
than the volume that we have been handling so far.
Our net revenues from design services reflect deductions from our gross revenues for local business taxes incurred by our
subsidiaries in China. Each of our subsidiaries in China is subject to a local business tax at an effective rate of 5% on revenues
generated from services provided in China. We may, upon application to and approval from relevant tax authorities, be eligible
for full refunds of the business taxes to the extent they related to the revenue generated under technology development
agreements and/or technical marketing agreements. We have applied for and received refunds in connection with the revenues
generated under several of our mobile handset design contracts. Our net revenues from sales of feature phones and smart phones
reflect deductions from our gross revenues for value-added taxes incurred by our subsidiaries in China. We are required to pay
value added tax, or VAT, at a rate of 17% of the gross sales proceeds received by our PRC subsidiaries from such sales.
Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues from our sales of products, including smart phones, feature phones, and wireless
modules, consists primarily of the cost of acquiring the products from EMS factories, and to a lesser extent, compensation and
benefits to our staff associated with the ODP business. The cost of acquiring the products from EMS factories include not only
the service fees paid to the EMS providers but also the cost of raw materials we buy from our suppliers and assign to the EMS
providers for processing and assembly. Our cost of revenues for product sales may be lowered by our ability to source the
required raw materials and components from our suppliers at competitive cost due to established and stable supplier
relationships and price discounts from bulk purchases. Cost of revenues for our design fees primarily consists of part of our
engineers’ compensation and benefits for the period during which they are involved in any mobile handset design project, and,
to a lesser extent, product warranty expenses, costs of materials used in making handset prototypes and depreciation and
amortization of intangible assets including technology licenses and royalty rights used in connection with our handset design
services. Cost of revenues for our royalty income normally is minimal.
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Operating Expenses. Our operating expenses consist of general and administrative, research and development and selling
and marketing expenses and expenses related to impairment of acquired intangible assets and impairment as a result of
revaluation of long-lived fixed assets.
General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation and benefits of
administrative personnel, lease expenses for occupancy associated with administration, travel and other expenses for general
and administrative purposes, as well as costs for professional services, including legal and accounting services.
Research and Development. Research and development expenses consist primarily of the portion of our engineers’
compensation and benefits not attributable to any mobile handset design project pursuant to a design contract, amortization of
assets related to research and development, compensation and benefits to our engineers who are involved in the development of
wireless modules, and lease expenses for occupancy associated with research and development.
Selling and Marketing. Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of expenses related to marketing and promotion
activities, compensation and benefits for sales and marketing personnel and travel expenses of sales and marketing personnel.
We expect our selling and marketing expenses to increase in absolute terms as we hire additional sales and marketing personnel
and expand our selling and marketing network in Japan, Europe and North America to promote and sell our products and
services.
Income Taxes. Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, where we are located, and the current laws of the British
Virgin Islands, where our holding company and intermediate holding companies are located, we are not subject to tax on our
income or capital gains. In addition, our payment of dividends is not subject to withholding tax in these jurisdictions.
While the HNTE certificates of Techfaith China and Techfaith Intelligent Handset Beijing are valid for three years, we
believe we will be able to reapply successfully for the renewal of the current certificates as we believe we will continue to meet
the published criteria. Techfaith China and Techfaith Intelligent Handset Beijing have used the reduced applicable tax rate in
calculations of deferred tax balances for the foreseeable future. Techfaith Shanghai is qualified as a “productive enterprise” and
has been agreed by the relevant tax authorities for a two-year exemption from income tax in 2005 and 2006, followed by a 50%
reduction in tax rates for the succeeding three years in 2007, 2008 and 2009. Techfaith Shenzhen is also qualified as a
“productive enterprise” and has been agreed by the relevant tax authorities to be entitled to a two-year exemption from income
tax in 2007 and 2008, followed by a 50% reduction in tax rate for the succeeding three years in 2009, 2010 and 2011. Techfaith
Hangzhou is also qualified as a “productive enterprise” and has been agreed by the relevant tax authorities to be entitled to a
two-year exemption from income tax in 2007 and 2008, followed by a 50% reduction in tax rate for the succeeding three years
in 2009, 2010 and 2011. Techfaith Shenyang, Step Technologies and One Net are subject to the corporate income tax rate of
25% on the PRC taxable income. For more information, see “Item 5. Information On the Company — B. Business Overview —
Regulation — Tax.”
Critical Accounting Policies
We prepare our financial statements in conformity with the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States
of America, or U.S. GAAP, which require us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses in the financial statements and the accompanying notes. Significant accounting estimates
reflected in our financial statements include revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, provision for inventory
write-down, provision for warranty, useful lives and impairment for plant, machinery and equipment and intangible assets, share
based compensation expense and valuation allowance for deferred tax assets. We continually evaluate these estimates and
assumptions based on the most recently available information, our own historical experience and various other assumptions that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Since the use of estimates is an integral component of the financial
reporting process, actual results could differ from those estimates. Some of our accounting policies require higher degrees of
judgment than others in their application. We consider the policies discussed below to be critical to an understanding of our
financial statements as their application assists management in making their business decisions.
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Revenue Recognition.
Our revenues are derived from sales of products and handset design service. Revenue from handset design services
comprises design fee, royalty income, component sales and service income. Products we sell include smart phones, feature
phones, wireless modules and other electronics components for mobile handsets.
(1) Handset design services
Design fee. Design fee is a fixed amount paid in installments according to pre-agreed milestones. In general, three
milestones are identified in our design contracts with customers. When the mobile handset design receives the approval
verifying its conformity with applicable industry standards, in the case of GSM-based handsets, the full type approval, or FTA,
for its conformity with GSM standards, we achieve the first milestone with respect to the design. When the mobile handset
design receives regulatory approval for its use in the intended country, in the case of China, a China type approval, or CTA, we
achieve the second milestone. When the customer accepts the mobile handset design and is ready to begin mass production of
mobile handsets based on our design, we achieve the last milestone, which we refer to as shipping acceptance, or SA. The
handset design process normally includes hardware, software, mechanical engineering design, testing and quality assurance,
pilot production, production support and other incidental support requested by customers. Because the software element of the
handset has been deemed more than incidental for the handset design process taken as a whole, we recognize revenues in
accordance with Statement of Position, or SOP, 97-2 “Software Revenue Recognition”. The handset design process requires
significant production, development and customization of software, accordingly, as prescribed by SOP97-2, revenue is
recognized using the percentage of completion method in accordance with SOP81-1, “Accounting for Performance of
Construction Type and Certain Performance Type Contracts”. We recognize revenue only upon achievement of each milestone
(i.e. FTA, CTA and SA), which is consistent with the use of an output measure. The milestones can vary depending on the
customers’ requirements. The percentage of completion designated for each milestone, however, is the percentage that would be
obtained by using an input measure (i.e. labor hours and other relevant costs incurred). We believe that designating the
percentage of completion for each milestone based on labor hours and other relevant costs incurred, as opposed to by reference
to the amounts that become billable at the milestone, is more reflective of the progress completed through the date of the
milestone. In the event that a milestone has not been reached, the associated cost is deferred and revenue is not recognized until
the milestone has been achieved and/or accepted by the customer.
In 2006, we began to expand our international customer base by developing handsets on new technology platforms. These
international customers might not be subject to the PRC certification standards mentioned above, namely FTA and CTA, but
the pre-agreed milestones stipulated by contract, such as engineering prototype, or EP, semi-production, or SP and pilot
production, or PP. Achievement of these milestones is independently verified by customers before revenue is recognized.
Royalty income. In addition to design fee, we also charge royalty to certain customers. The royalty is calculated at a
variable rate based on the volume of mobile handsets manufactured or sold by a customer. Royalty income is recognized when
the confirmation of manufacturing or selling volume is obtained from customers.
Component sales related to design. After we have delivered design products to our customers, customers are required to
purchase certain components (such as chips used in mobile handsets) through us to manufacture the designed products. As the
component sales are built into the design contracts, we include these component sales in the design contract-related revenue
rather than product sales. We recognize the net revenue for component sales when the components are delivered and the legal
title directly pass from the suppliers to customers.
Service income. Revenue from providing mobile handset test services is recognized when persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, the fee is fixed or determinable, collection is reasonably assured, and in the period in which performance has
occurred.
(2) Product sales
Product sales. Revenue from sales of products, including smart phones and feature phones designed by us and
manufactured by EMS providers, wireless modules and other electronics components is recognized when persuasive evidence of
an arrangement exists, the fee is fixed or determinable, collection is reasonably assured, and in the period in which delivery or
performance has occurred.
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Income taxes
Deferred income taxes are provided using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred income taxes are
recognized for tax credits and net operating losses available for carry-forwards and significant temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are classified as current or non-current based upon the classification of the related asset or liability in
the financial statements or the expected timing of their reversal if they do not relate to a specific asset or liability. We determine
whether or not a valuation allowance is required at the level of each taxable entity. The greater part of deferred tax assets arise in
companies which are not expected to have any significant taxable income in the foreseeable future and consequently a full
provision has been made in respect of them. In the future, the majority of our taxable income is expected to be generated by
Techfaith Intelligent Handset Beijing and Techfaith Hangzhou. Techfaith Hangzhou does not have a significant amount of
deferred tax assets. Techfaith Intelligent Handset Beijing has deferred tax assets of US$0.9 million. Because of the difficulty of
forecasting future taxable income in the present market conditions and having regard to the ways in which our business has
changed, we believe a conservative forecast of future taxable income is appropriate in respect of Techfaith Intelligent Handset
Beijing based on the projected taxable income for the next five years and accordingly we have made a valuation allowance of
85% in respect of its deferred tax assets. Current income taxes are provided for in accordance with the laws and regulations
applicable to us as enacted by the relevant tax authorities.
In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued Interpretation No. 48, or FIN 48, “Accounting
for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109”. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold
and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be
taken in a tax return. We have adopted FIN 48 with effect from January 1, 2007. The adoption of FIN 48 had no significant
impact on our accounting for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2008. We did not incur any
interest and penalties related to potential underpaid income tax expenses
Goodwill
The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired is recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as
goodwill.
The total carrying amount of goodwill of US$0.6 million is allocated to product sales segment.
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, or SFAS 142, requires that
the goodwill impairment assessment be performed at the reporting unit level. We performed our annual goodwill impairment
test at December 31, 2008. Our reporting units are consistent with our three operating segments. We estimated the fair values of
the reporting units primarily using the income approach valuation methodology that includes the discounted cash flow method,
taking into consideration the market approach and certain market multiples as a validation of the values derived using the
discounted cash flow methodology. The discounted cash flows for each reporting unit were based on discrete five year financial
forecasts developed by management for planning purposes. Cash flows beyond the four year and discrete forecast were
estimated using a terminal value calculation, which incorporated historical and forecasted financial trends for each reporting
unit and considered long-term earnings growth rates for publicly traded peer companies. Publicly available information
regarding our market capitalization was also considered in assessing the reasonableness of the cumulative fair values of our
reporting units estimated using the discounted cash flow methodology. During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and
2008, there was no impairment indicator present and no goodwill impairment loss was recorded.
Valuation of Long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles
Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, and definite-lived intangible assets are stated at cost or fair value for
impaired assets. Depreciation and amortization is computed principally by the straight-line method.
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets”,
or SFAS 144, requires that long-lived assets and intangible assets subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment when
certain indicators of impairment are present. Impairment exists if estimated future undiscounted cash flows associated with longlived assets are not sufficient to recover the carrying value of such assets. The long-lived assets are adjusted to their respective
fair values when impairment exists.
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In light of the adverse conditions in global capital markets in 2008, we assessed long-lived assets and intangible assets
subject to amortization for impairment. In assessing long-lived assets for an impairment loss, assets are grouped with other assets
and liabilities at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and
liabilities. For each asset group, we compared the sum of the expected undiscounted future cash flows from the use of the assets
in each of the asset groups with the carrying amount of such assets. The expected future cash flows of each of the asset groups
are based on a financial projection management used for planning purpose. The expected undiscounted future cash flows of
three of the asset groups are less than the carrying amount of such assets. We then wrote down the carrying amounts of assets in
these three asset groups to their respective fair value. When estimating the fair value of the asset, we considered “value in use”
and “value in exchange”. Value in use of the asset was derived through the application of income approach discounted cash
flow method, while value in exchange was derived by primarily using the cost approach as well as the market approach.
According to the “high and best use” concept in SFAS 157, we used the higher of value in use or value in exchange to
determine the fair value of the asset. We recorded a total of US$0.9 million impairment of long-lived assets in 2008, including
an impairment loss of $0.3 million related to property and equipment, and an impairment loss of US$0.6 million related to
intangible assets. The total impairment loss is in the handset design segment.
During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, we recorded an impairment loss of US$1.4 million and US$nil,
respectively.
Product warranty
Our product warranty relates to the provision of bug fixing services to our designed mobile handset for a period of one to
three years commencing upon the mass production of the mobile handset, and warranties to our customers on the sales of
products. Accordingly, our product warranty accrual reflects our best estimate of probable liability under its product warranties.
We determine the warranty based on historical experience and other currently available evidence.
Results of Operations
The following table sets forth a summary of our consolidated statements of operations for the periods indicated. Our
business has evolved rapidly and significantly since we commenced operations in July 2002. Our limited operating history
makes the prediction of future operating results very difficult. We believe that period-to-period comparisons of operating results
should not be relied upon as being indicative of future performance.
For the Year Ended December 31,
2006
2007
2008
(In thousands)
Consolidated Statement of Operations Data
Net revenues:
Handset design
Product sales

$

42,860
37,944

$

41,721
101,723

$

19,123
189,727

Total net revenues

$

80,804

$

143,444

$

208,850

Cost of revenues:
Handset design
Product sales

$

25,262
29,843

$

25,239
79,556

$

10,308
157,377

Total cost of revenues

$

55,105

$

104,795

$

167,685

Gross profit:
Handset design
Product sales

$

17,598
8,101

$

16,482
22,167

$

8,815
32,350

Total gross profit

$

25,699

$

38,649

$

41,165

$

(15,110)
(21,970)
(2,260)
(1,388)

$

(13,142)
(30,876)
(3,422)
—

$

(15,553)
(18,195)
(5,497)
(880)

$

(40,728)

$

(47,440)

$

(40,125)

Operating expenses:
General and administrative
Research and development
Selling and marketing
Impairment of long-lived assets
Total operating expenses
Government subsidy income
Other operating income
(Loss) income from operations
Interest expense
Interest income
Other (expense)income
Change in fair value of put option
Income taxes
Minority interests
Equity in loss of an affiliate

$

180
—
(14,849)
(18)
4,879
149
(269)
(100)
1,808
(393)

$

1,734
—
(7,057)
(166)
3,871
(220)
(43)
(6)
1,200
(851)

$

3,081
2,443
6,564
(47)
1,616
(22)
(855)
93
652
—

Net (loss) income

$

31

(8,793)

$

(3,272)

$

8,001
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Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2007 and the Year Ended December 31, 2008
Net Revenues
Our net revenue increased by 45.6% from US$143.4 million in 2007 to US$208.9 million in 2008. The increase was
attributed to the increased sales of smart phones and feature phones.
Handset design. Our net revenues from handset design decreased by 54.2% from US$41.7 million in 2007 to
US$19.1 million in 2008, due to the decrease in the volume of our design contracts. The decrease is expected to continue due to
our transformation of business model to an ODP provider as well as our recent entry into the gaming business.
Product Sales. Revenues from product sales increased by 86.5% from US$101.7 million in 2007 to US$189.7 million in
2008. The increase was primarily due to the increase of sales orders for smart phones and feature phones from our customers.
Product sales from our feature phones as a result of contracts for which the contract party was inside the PRC increased by
25% from US$33.0 million in 2007 to US$41.2 million in 2008. Product sales from our feature phone as a result of contracts for
which the contract party was outside the PRC increased significantly from US$14.4 million in 2007 to US$41.1 million in
2008. We refer to a contract party as being outside the PRC if it is incorporated in a non-PRC jurisdiction, and we refer to a
contract party as being inside the PRC if it is incorporated in PRC.
Product sales from our smart phones as a result of contracts for which the contract party was inside the PRC increased
significantly from US$25.9 million in 2007 to US$93.2 million in 2008. Products sales from our smart phones as a result of
contracts for which the contract party was outside the PRC decreased by 35.8% from US$10.5 million in 2007 to
US$6.7 million in 2008, due to our business strategy to expand the domestic markets for middle- and high-end smart phones.
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Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenues increased by 60% from US$104.8 million in 2007 to US$167.7 million in 2008. The increase was
attributable to the increase in cost of revenues for product sales.
Handset design. Cost of revenues for handset design decreased by 59.2% from US$25.2 million in 2007 to
US$10.3 million in 2008.
Product sales. Cost of revenue from products sales increased by 97.8% from US$79.6 million in 2007 to US$157.4 million
in 2008.
Gross Profit
Our gross profit was US$41.2 million in 2008, compared to US$38.6 million in 2007, representing gross margins of 19.7%
and 26.9%, respectively. The gross margin for handset design revenue increased from 39.5% in 2007 to 46.1% in 2008. This
was primarily because in 2008 we signed eight contracts with a total amount of US$7.2 million with exceptionally high gross
margin of more than 90%. Gross margin for product sales decreased from 21.8% in 2007 to 17.1% in 2008. This was the direct
result of a promotion sale with low margin that we had in the fourth quarter of 2008. The product mix changed together with the
changes of gross margins of handset design and product sales. Revenue from product sales increased from 70.9 % of the total net
revenue in 2007 to 90.8% of the total net revenue in 2008. In addition, revenue from handset design fees decreased from 29.1%
of the total net revenue in 2007 to 9.2% of the total net revenue in 2008. As a result of the foregoing, our gross margins
decreased from 26.9% in 2007 to 19.7% in 2008.
Operating Expenses
Operating expenses decreased by 15.4% from US$47.4 million in 2007 to US$40.1 million in 2008. The decrease was
primarily due to a decrease in research and development expenses, partially offset by an increase in general and administrative
expenses and an increase in selling and marketing expenses.
During 2008, we approved and announced a restructure plan to streamline our business processes. This plan included the
termination of 841 employees. This plan was completed in 2008 and resulted in restructuring charges, including US$3.4 million
reflected in the general and administrative expenses for employee severance and benefits in compliance with the New Labor
Law of the PRC. The office building where the terminated employees used to work is owned by us. We assessed the fair value of
the office building and determined that there was no impairment of the carrying amount of the building as of December 31,
2008. In March 2009, We relocated to another building in Beijing Economic-Technological Development Area so we can lease
out our previous office building.
General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses increased from US$13.1 million in 2007 to
US$15.6 million in 2008. The increase during 2008 was due primarily to the one-off expenses in compensation for layoff, which
was US$3.4 million in 2008.
Research and Development. Research and development expenses decreased substantially from US$30.9 million in 2007 to
US$18.2 million in 2008. The decrease was due primarily to the reduced cost incurred as a result of the human resource
restructuring throughout 2008 in the face of the worsening global economic downturn.
Selling and Marketing. Selling and marketing expenses increased by 60.6% from US$3.4 million in 2007 to
US$5.5 million in 2008. The increase was due primarily to an increase in our selling and marketing activities for products
promotion.
Impairment loss. Impairment loss was US$0.9 million in 2008, compared to US$nil in 2007. The impairment loss in 2008
was incurred because the carrying amounts of certain fixed assets and intangible assets were not recoverable as they exceeded
the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of assets.
Government Subsidy Income
We recorded government subsidy income of US$1.7 million and US$3.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2007
and 2008, respectively.
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Some local governments in PRC give subsidies to companies as an incentive to establish business in its jurisdiction. These
government subsidies are recognized as subsidy income when they are received as we do not have further obligation to earn this
subsidy. We recorded a government subsidy income of US$0.4 million and US$2.3 million for the years ended December 31,
2007 and 2008, respectively for this type of government subsidy.
We also receive government grants as compensation of performing government endorsed projects. The grants are
refundable until we achieve certain performance measures. These government grants are recorded as a liability until earned. We
recognize these grants as subsidy income once it completes the relevant projects and achieves the performance measures. We
recorded a government subsidy income of US$1.3 million and US$0.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2008,
respectively for this type of government grants.
Net Income
As a result of the cumulative effect of the foregoing factors, we incurred a net income of US$8.0 million in 2008, as
compared to a net loss of US$3.3 million in 2007.
Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2006 and the Year Ended December 31, 2007
Net Revenues
Our net revenues increased by 77.5% from US$80.8 million in 2006 to US$143.4 million in 2007. The increase was
primarily attributable to a substantial increase in net revenues from product sales. In 2007, we allowed one of our new customers
to return a newly developed product that was sold, delivered and for which revenues were recognized in 2006. This return was
booked in 2007 as a reduction of revenue and cost of revenue by approximately US$2.6 million and US$2.0 million,
respectively. This was not our common practice but was a special negotiated arrangement that we made with the intent to
maintain a good and long-term relationship with the customer.
Handset design. Our net revenues from handset design decreased by 2.7% from US$42.9 million in 2006 to
US$41.7 million in 2007, due to the decrease in the volume of our design contracts.
Product Sales. Revenues from product sales increased significantly from US$37.9 million in 2006 to US$101.7 million in
2007. The increase was primarily due to the fact that the new models of feature phones and smart phones attracted new
customers and our feature phone solution started to contribute to product sales as a result of contracts from regional distributors
and international carriers in 2007.
Product sales from our feature phones as a result of contracts for which the contract party was inside the PRC increased
significantly from US$0.5 million in 2006 to US$33.0 million in 2007. Product sales from our feature phone as a result of
contracts for which the contract party was outside the PRC increased from US$nil in 2006 to US$14.4 million in 2007. We refer
to a contract party as being outside the PRC if it is incorporated in a non-PRC jurisdiction, and we refer to a contract party as
being inside the PRC if it is incorporated in PRC.
Cost of Revenues
Cost of revenues increased substantially by 90.2% from US$55.1 million in 2006 to US$104.8 million in 2007. The
increase was primarily attributable to a substantial increase in cost of revenues for products sales.
Handset design. Cost of revenues for handset design decreased slightly from US$25.3 million in 2006 to US$25.2 million
in 2007.
Product sales. Cost of revenue from products sales increased significantly from US$29.8 million to US$79.6 million.
Gross Profit
Our gross profit was US$38.6 million in 2007, compared to US$25.7 million in 2006, representing gross margins of 26.9%
and 31.8%, respectively. The gross margin for handset design revenue and product sales remained relatively stable from 2006 to
2007. Revenue from product sales, which has a lower gross margin than that of handset design, increased from 47.0 % of the
total net revenue in 2006 to 70.9% of the total net revenue in 2007. In addition, revenue from handset design, which has a
higher gross margin, decreased from 53.0% of the total net revenue in 2006 to 29.1% of the total net revenue in 2007. As a
result of the foregoing, our gross margins decreased from 31.8% in 2006 to 26.9% in 2007.
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Operating Expenses
Operating expenses increased from US$40.7 million in 2006 to US$47.4 million in 2007. The increase was due primarily
to an increase in research and development expenses and, to a lesser extent, an increase in selling and marketing expenses, and
slightly offset by a decrease in general and administrative expenses.
General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses decreased from US$15.1 million in 2006 to
US$13.1 million in 2007. The decrease was due primarily to a decrease in allowance for doubtful accounts.
Research and Development. Research and development expenses increased substantially from US$22.0 million in 2006 to
US$30.9 million in 2007. The increase was due primarily to our continuous investment in emerging technologies and
development of handset and smart phone products.
Selling and Marketing. Selling and marketing expenses increased by 51.4% from US$2.3 million in 2006 to
US$3.4 million in 2007. The increase was due primarily to an increase in our selling and marketing activities as we expanded
our efforts to market and sell our services and products.
Impairment loss. Impairment loss was US$nil in 2007, compared to US$1.4 million in 2006. The impairment loss of 2006
was leasehold improvement impairment due to the relocation of our offices.
Government Subsidy Income
We recorded government subsidy income of US$1.7 million in 2007 as compared to US$0.2 million in 2006.
Some local governments in PRC give subsidies to companies as an incentive to establish business in its jurisdiction. These
government subsidies are recognized as subsidy income when they are received as we do not have further obligation to earn this
subsidy. We recorded a government subsidy income of US$0.2 million and US$0.4 million for the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2007, respectively for this type of government subsidy.
We also receive government grants as compensation of performing government endorsed projects. The grants are
refundable until we achieve certain performance measures. These government grants are recorded as a liability until earned. We
recognize these grants as subsidy income once it completes the relevant projects and achieves the performance measures. We
recorded a government subsidy income of US$nil and US$1.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007,
respectively for this type of government grants.
Net Income
As a result of the cumulative effect of the foregoing factors, we incurred a net loss of US$3.3 million in 2007, as compared
to US$8.8 million in 2006.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In September 2006, FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 157, “Fair Value
Measurements” (“SFAS 157”). Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the measurement and disclosure other than
those requirements related to nonfinancial assets and liabilities in accordance with guidance from FASB Staff Position 157-2,
“Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157,” which delayed the effective date of SFAS 157 for all nonfinancial assets and
nonfinancial liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring
basis (at least annually), until the beginning of fiscal year 2009. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS 157 for nonfinancial
assets and liabilities will have a significant effect on our consolidated financial statements.
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On April 9, 2009, the FASB issued the FASB Staff Position FSP FAS 157-4, Determining Fair Value When the Volume and
Level of Activity for the Asset or Liability Have Significant Decreased and Identifying Transactions That Are Not Orderly. This
statement provides additional guidance for estimating fair value measurement in accordance with FAS 157 when the volume
and level of activity for the asset or liability have significantly decreased and provides guidance on identifying circumstances
that indicate a transaction is not orderly. It emphasizes that despite significant decreases in volume and level of activity and
regardless of the valuation technique(s) used for the asset or liability, the fair value measurement stays the same. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction (that is, not a forced
liquidation or distressed sale) between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. This issue
is effective prospectively for interim and annual periods ending after June 15, 2009. Early adoption is permitted for periods
ending after March 15, 2009. We are in the process of assessing the potential impact the adoption of FSP FAS157-4 may have
on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations: (Revised 2007) (“SFAS 141R”). SFAS 141R is
relevant to all transactions or events in which one entity obtains control over one or more other businesses. SFAS 141R requires
an acquirer to recognize any assets and noncontrolling interest acquired and liabilities assumed to be measured at fair value as
of the acquisition date. Liabilities related to contingent consideration are recognized and measured at fair value on the date of
acquisition rather than at a later date when the amount of the consideration may be resolved beyond a reasonable doubt. This
revised approach replaces SFAS 141’s cost allocation process in which the cost of an acquisition was allocated to the individual
assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their respective fair value. SFAS 141R requires any acquisition-related costs
and restructuring costs to be expensed as incurred as opposed to allocating such costs to the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed as previously required by SFAS 141. Under SFAS 141R, an acquirer recognizes liabilities for a restructuring plan in
purchase accounting only if the requirements of SFAS 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,
are met. SFAS 141R allows for the recognition of pre-acquisition contingencies at fair value only if these contingencies are
likely to materialize. If this criterion is not met at the acquisition date, then the acquirer accounts for the non-contractual
contingency in accordance with recognition criteria set forth under SFAS 5, Accounting for Contingencies, in which case no
amount should be recognized in purchase accounting. SFAS 141R is effective as of the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year
that begins after December 15, 2008. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS 141R will have a significant impact on our
consolidated financial statements.
On April 1, 2009, the FASB issued FSP FAS 141(R)-1, which amends the guidance in FASB Statement No. 141(R),
Business Combinations, to establish a model for pre-acquisition contingencies that is similar to the one entities used under
Statement 141. The FSP is effective for business combinations whose acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008. We are in the process of assessing the potential impact the
adoption of FSP FAS 141(R)-1 may have on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements — An
Amendment of ARB No. 51 (“SFAS 160”). This Statement amends ARB 51 to establish accounting and reporting standards for
the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. It clarifies that a noncontrolling interest
in a subsidiary is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity and should be reported as equity on the financial statements.
SFAS 160 requires consolidated net income to be reported at amounts that include the amounts attributable to both the parent
and the noncontrolling interest. Furthermore, disclosure of the amounts of consolidated net income attributable to the parent
and to the noncontrolling interest is required on the face of the financial statements. SFAS 160 is effective as of the beginning
of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after December 15, 2008. Upon the adoption of SFAS 160, we reclassified the minority
interest balance to the shareholder’s equity on January 1, 2009.
In April 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position FAS142-3, Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets. This
FSP amends the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful
life of a recognized intangible asset under FASB Statement No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. This FSP is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is prohibited.
The guidance for determining the useful life of a recognized intangible asset in this FSP shall be applied prospectively to
intangible assets acquired after the effective date. The Group is in the process of assessing the potential impact the adoption of
FSP 142-3 may have on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

36

Table of Contents

In June 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position EITF 03-6-1, Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based
Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities. This FSP gives guidance on the computation of earnings per share and the
impact of share-based instruments that contain certain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents. The FSP is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2008 and early application is prohibited. We are in the process of
assessing the potential impact the adoption of FSP 03-6-1 may have on our consolidated financial position or results of
operations.
At a November 24, 2008 meeting, the FASB ratified the consensus reached by the Task Force in Issue No. 08-6: Equity
Method Investment Accounting Considerations (“EITF 08-6”). Because of the significant changes to the guidance on
subsidiary acquisitions and subsidiary equity transactions and the increased use of fair value measurements as a result of
Statements 141(R) and 160, questions have arisen regarding the application of that accounting guidance to equity method
investments. EITF 08-6 provides guidance for entities that acquire or hold investments accounted for under the equity method.
This issue is effective for transactions occurring in fiscal years and interim periods beginning on or after December 15, 2008.
Early adoption is not permitted. We do not expect the adoption of EITF 08-6 will have significant impact on our consolidated
financial position or results of operations.
On April 9, 2009, the FASB issued the FASB Staff Position FSP FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2, Recognition and Presentation
of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments (“OTTI”). This Statement amends the OTTI guidance for debt securities to make the
guidance more operational and to improve the presentation and disclosure of OTTI on debt and equity securities in the financial
statements. This FSP does not amend existing recognition and measurement guidance related to OTTI of equity securities. It
gives guidance on the evaluating whether an impairment of a debt security is other-than-temporary and the determination of
Amount of an OTTI recognized in earnings and other comprehensive income. We are in the process of assessing the potential
impact the adoption of FSP FAS115-2 and FAS 124-2 may have on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.
On June 12, 2009, the FASB issued SFAS 166, Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets (“SFAS 166”). SFAS 166
amends the derecognition guidance in Statement 140 and eliminates the exemption from consolidation for qualifying specialpurpose entities (QSPEs). As a result, a transferor will need to evaluate all existing QSPEs to determine whether they must now
be consolidated in accordance with Statement 167. Statement 166 is effective is for financial asset transfers occurring after the
beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after November 15, 2009. We are in the process of assessing the potential
impact the adoption of SFAS 166 may have on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.
On June 12, 2009, the FASB issued SFAS 167, Amendments to FASB Interpretation No. 46(R) (“SFAS 167”). SFAS 167
amends the consolidation guidance applicable to variable interest entities. The amendments will significantly affect the overall
consolidation analysis under Interpretation 46(R). While the Board’s discussion leading up to the issuance of Statement 167
focused extensively on structured finance entities, the amendments to the consolidation guidance affect all entities and
enterprises currently within the scope of Interpretations 46(R), as well as QSPEs that are currently excluded from the scope of
Interpretation 46(R). The Statement is effective as of the beginning of the first fiscal year that begins after November 15, 2009.
We are in the process of assessing the potential impact the adoption of SFAS 167 may have on our consolidated financial
position or results of operations.
B. Liquidity and Capital Resources
The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated:
Year Ended December 31,
2007
2008
(In thousands)
5,434
$
(19,353)
$
1,496
(30,212)
(13,279)
(11,409)
(1,953)
—
—
2,696
4,214
4,085
(24,035)
(28,418)
(5,828)
137,207
113,172
84,754
113,172
$
84,754
$
78,926

2006
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$

$
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We have financed our operations through cash generated from our operating activities and securities issuances, including
our initial public offering in May 2005. As of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, we had US$78.9 million and
US$84.8 million, respectively, in cash and cash equivalents. Our cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of cash on hand
and bank deposits with terms of three months or less.
To develop our gaming business, on June 9, 2009, our subsidiary, Leo Technology Limited, issued to certain entities
affiliated with IDGVC Partners, a leading venture capital firm, senior secured convertible promissory notes with an aggregate
principal amount of US$10 million, a maturity date of three years and an interest rate of 8% per annum compounded annually.
At the earlier of (i) 30 months after the note issuance date if a qualified initial public offering of the note issuer has not occurred
by that time, or (ii) the occurrence of an event of default, the note holders may also require the note issuer to redeem the notes in
cash equal to the redemption amount plus an annual return of 20% compounded annually on the redemption amount, accrued
but unpaid dividend (if any) and late charges (if any). In addition, Infiniti Capital Limited will invest US$10 million cash in
Leo Technology’s common equity under a definitive agreement entered on May 15, 2009.
We believe that our current cash and cash equivalents and cash flow from operations will be sufficient to meet our
anticipated cash needs, including our cash needs for working capital and capital expenditures for the next 12 months. We may,
however, require additional cash resources beyond the next 12 months due to higher than expected growth in our business or
other changing business conditions or future developments, including any possible investments or acquisitions. If our existing
cash resources are insufficient to meet our requirements, we may seek to sell additional equity securities, debt securities or
borrow from banks. We cannot assure you that financing will be available in the amounts we need or on terms acceptable to us,
if at all. The sale of additional securities, including convertible debt securities, in one or more public offerings or private
placements could result in additional dilution to our shareholders. The incurrence of indebtedness would result in debt service
obligations and could result in operating and financial covenants that restrict our operations and our ability to pay dividends to
our shareholders. If we are unable to obtain additional equity or debt financing as required, our business, operations and
prospects may suffer.
The ability of our subsidiaries in China to convert Renminbi into U.S. dollars and make payments to us is subject to PRC
foreign exchange regulations. Under these regulations, Renminbi is convertible for current account items, including the
distribution of dividends, interest payments, trade and service-related foreign exchange transactions. Conversion of Renminbi
for capital account items, such as direct investment, loan, security investment and repatriation of investment, however, is still
subject to the approval of relevant PRC government authorities. TechFaith is a holding company and has no present plan to pay
any cash dividends on its ordinary shares in the foreseeable future. See “Item 8. Financial Information — A. Consolidated
Statements and Other Financial Information — Dividend Policy.” Nor does TechFaith have any loans or any other outstanding
debts. Accordingly, we believe that the impact of PRC foreign exchange regulations on TechFaith’s ability to meet its cash
obligations is minimal.
Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities was US$1.5 million in 2008 while net cash used in
operating activities in 2007 was US$19.4 million. The increase was mainly due to the operating profit from our ODP business.
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities decreased substantially from US$5.4 million in 2006 to US$(19.4) million in
2007, due to an increase in our inventory levels.
In connection with sales of products, our customers typically pay us a portion of the selling price before the products are
delivered. We account for such prepayment as advance from customers until all the risks and rights associated with the products
have been passed to our customers. Advance from customers decreased from US$7.5 million in 2007 to US$5.3 million in 2008.
The decrease was due primarily to less prepayments paid by customers despite the increase of sales of products from 2007 to
2008. Advance from customers increased from US$5.2 million in 2006 to US$7.5 million in 2007. The increase was due
primarily to the increased prepayments paid by customers as a result of the substantial increase in the sales of products from
2006 to 2007.
In connection with our handset design services, our customers typically pay us a portion of design fees immediately after
the design contract is executed. Such design fee advances received from customers are accounted for as deferred revenue and are
not recognized until a pre-agreed milestone has been reached. Despite the substantial decrease of revenues from design fees
from US$26.0 million in 2007 to US$15.5 million in 2008, deferred revenue increased slightly from US$1.5 million in 2007 to
US$1.7 million in 2008. Deferred revenue decreased from US$5.4 million in 2006 to US$1.5 million in 2007. Both the decrease
of deferred revenue in 2006 and the increase of deferred revenue in 2008 from the amount in 2007 were mainly due to the
recognition of revenue from more design projects in 2007 as a result of meeting the required milestones right before the year
end of 2007.
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Our accounts receivable amounted to US$37.2 million, US$40.0 million and US$37.8 million as of December 31, 2006,
2007 and 2008, respectively. Our inventories amounted to US$8.5 million, US$50.8 million and US$37.8 million as of
December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.
Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities decreased from US$13.3 million in 2007 to US$11.4 million in
2008. The decrease in our investing activities in 2008 was due primarily to the reduced capital investment in 2008 and
decreases in restricted cash, partially offset by an increase in purchase of plant, machinery and equipment. Net cash used in
investing activities substantially decreased from US$30.2 million in 2006 to US$13.3 million in 2007. The substantial decrease
in our investing activities in 2007 was due primarily to the purchase of significantly less fixed assets and decreases in restricted
cash. Net cash used in investing activities substantially increased from US$5.5 million in 2005 to US$30.2 million in 2006. The
substantial increase in our investing activities in 2006 was due primarily to investment in an affiliate and purchase of fixed
assets.
Financing Activities. Net cash used by financing activities remained at US$nil in 2008. Net cash used by financing
activities decreased from US$2.0 million in 2006 to US$nil in 2007. The decrease in our financing activities in 2007 was
primarily as a result of there not being any financial activities undertaken in 2007.
Our capital expenditures amounted to US$23.8 million, US$13.8 million and US$14.8 million in 2006, 2007 and 2008,
respectively. Our historical capital expenditure consisted principally of purchases of software, machinery, equipment and other
items related to our mobile handset design services. We incurred capital expenditures totaling approximately US$14.8 million
in 2008, which primarily consisted of plant and machinery, furniture, fixtures and equipment.
Our capital expenditure plan for 2009 is US$16.2 million, which primarily consists of the purchase of license and
equipment and construction of a plant.
C. Research and Development, Patents and Licenses, etc.
See “Item 4. Information on the Company — B. Business Overview.”
D. Trend Information
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, we are not aware of any trends, uncertainties, demands,
commitments or events for the year ended December 31, 2008 that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our
net revenues, income, profitability, liquidity or capital resources, or that caused the disclosed financial information to be not
necessarily indicative of future operating results or financial conditions.
E. Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any outstanding off-balance sheet guarantees, interest rate swap transactions or foreign currency forward
contracts. We do not engage in trading activities involving non-exchange traded contracts.
F. Contractual Obligations
The following table sets forth our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2008:

Contractual Obligations
Operating lease obligations(1)
Capital obligations(2)
Purchase obligations(3)
Total

Total
2,178
16,226
6,253
24,657

Payment Due by Period
Less Than 1
1-3
Year
Years
(In thousands of $)
995
1,183
16,226
—
6,253
—
23,474
1,183

3-5
Years

More Than 5
Years
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

(1) Operating lease obligations arise from operating lease agreements principally for office spaces in China.
(2) Capital obligations represent commitments for construction of property, purchase of plant, machinery and equipment.
(3) Purchase obligations represent commitments under non-cancellable contracts we entered into with certain EMS providers
that allow them to procure inventory required to provide the manufacturing services for our products.
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Other than the contractual obligations set forth above, we do not have any long-term commitments.
G. Safe Harbor
This annual report on Form 20-F contains statements of a forward-looking nature. These statements are made under the
“safe harbor” provisions of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. You can identify these forward-looking
statements by words or phrases such as “may,” “will,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “future,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “estimate,”
“is/are likely to” or other and similar expressions. A number of business risks and uncertainties could cause actual results,
performance or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. These risks
and uncertainties relate to:
•

our limited operating history as a mobile handset design and software solution provider, and, to an even larger extent,
as a seller of completed handsets;

•

decrease in demand for completed handsets by mobile handset brand owners;

•

our ability to acquire and retain additional international mobile handset brand owners as our customers;

•

our ability to timely and cost-efficiently sell completed handsets to meet our customers’ demands; and

•

other risks outlined in this annual report on Form 20-F.

We would like to caution you not to place undue reliance on these statements and you should read these statements in
conjunction with the risk factors disclosed in “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors.” We do not undertake any obligation
to update the forward-looking statements except as required under applicable law.
ITEM 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees
A. Directors and Senior Management
The following table sets forth information regarding our directors and executive officers as of the date of this annual report.
Directors and Executive Officers
Defu Dong
Xiaonong Cai
Jy-Ber Gilbert Lee
Hung Hsin (Robert) Chen
Ken Lu
Ling Sui
Hui (Tom) Zhang
Yuping Ouyang
Changke He
Yibo Fang
Shugang Li

Age
38
39
53
63
46
53
36
34
47
40
41

Position/Title
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Director
Independent Director
Independent Director
Independent Director
Independent Director
Chief Financial Officer
Chief Technology Officer
Senior Vice President
President

Executive Directors
Mr. Defu Dong has been the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of our company since our inception. Prior to founding
our company in July 2002, Mr. Dong co-founded Beijing Sino-Electronics Future Telecommunication R&D, Ltd., or SEF, a
mobile handset design house, in February 2001. He was a director, shareholder and the Chief Executive Officer of SEF from its
inception until July 2002. Mr. Dong worked at Motorola (China) as a sales manager from 1997 to 2001. Prior to joining
Motorola (China), Mr. Dong was a sales manager at Mitsubishi (China) for one year. Mr. Dong received his bachelor’s degree in
mechanical engineering from Chongqing University in China in 1994.
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Dr. Jy-Ber Gilbert Lee has been our director since May 2005. Mr. Lee was our President and Chief Operating Officer from
February 2006 to August 2008. Prior to joining our company, Dr. Lee was the deputy general manager of the Guangdong branch
of China Netcom Corp., a subsidiary of China Netcom Group. From June 2001 to February 2004, Dr. Lee was the Managing
Director of Sales of China Netcom Corp. From July 2000 to May 2001, Dr. Lee was a Vice President of Motorola Inc., and
Deputy General Manager of Global Telecom Solution, Greater China. Dr. Lee received his bachelor’s degree in mechanical
engineering from National Taiwan University in 1977, his master’s degree in energy engineering and his Ph.D. degree in
mechanical engineering from the University of Illinois.
Mr. Xiaonong Cai has been a director of our company and our Deputy Chief Executive Officer since August 2008. From
2002 to August 2008, Mr. Cai has served in various management positions at our company, including senior vice president for
sales and marketing, and president of TechFaith Software (China) Holding Limited, our joint venture with Qualcomm. Prior to
joining our company, he served as a regional sales manager at Motorola China. Mr. Cai received his MBA degree from Peking
University and his bachelor’s degree in management from Tsinghua University.
Independent Directors
Mr. Hung Hsin (Robert) Chen has been our independent director since September 2005. Prior to that, Mr. Chen had worked
at SangFei Consumer Communications Co., Ltd, or SangFei, a joint venture between Philips and China Electronics Corporation,
which produces mobile phones and MP3 players for OEMs and ODMs. Mr. Chen had been the general manager of SangFei and
a senior consultant of Philips China for nine years. Prior to joining SangFei, Mr. Chen was a general manager of National
Semiconductor China, a joint venture with National Semiconductor. Mr. Chen has over 30 years experience in the consumer
electronic products and wireless terminals industries. Mr. Chen received his bachelor’s degree from Taiwan National Cheng
Kung University in 1969.
Dr. Ken Lu has been our independent director since August 2006. Dr. Lu is the founder and managing director of APAC
Capital Advisors Limited, an investment management company focusing on the Greater China markets. Prior to founding APAC
Capital, Dr. Lu worked as a research analyst at a number of leading investment banks, including JP Morgan and Credit Suisse
(formerly Credit Suisse First Boston, or CSFB). He served as the Head of China Research at CSFB from October 2001 to
May 2004, managing a team of over 10 research analysts and directing CSFB’s overall China research products. Mr. Lu also
serves on the boards and audit committees of Asia Info Holdings, Inc., a company listed on the Nasdaq Global Market,
Enerchina Holdings Ltd, Kasen International Holdings Ltd and Spreadtrum Communications, Inc., a company listed on the
Nasdaq Global Market. He received his bachelor’s degree from the Beijing University, his master’s degree from the Brigham
Young University, and his Ph. D. degree in finance from the University of California, Los Angeles.
Ms. Ling Sui has been our independent director since August, 2007. Ms. Sui is a partner and general manager of CFO
Resource, a financial consulting company since May 2008. From November 2007 to February 2008, Ms. Sui was vice president
of Hangzhou Casa Limited, a heating equipment manufacturing company. Prior to that, Ms. Sui was the vice chairman of the
Human Resource Association for Chinese & Foreign Enterprises in Beijing. Ms. Sui served as the assistant to the Chief
Executive Officer and general manager of the group finance department of China Netcom (Group) Company Ltd. from 2004 to
2007 and vice president and financial controller of China Netcom Corporation Ltd. from 1999 to 2004. Prior to that, Ms. Sui
worked with Motorola for six years as the service operation controller in the personal communication sector. Ms. Sui received
her bachelor’s degree in finance and banking from Northeast University of Finance & Economics in China in 1978.
Dr. Hui (Tom) Zhang has been our independent director since April 1, 2006. Dr. Zhang is a co-founder and Chief Executive
Officer of Innofidei Inc., a fabless semiconductor company in China founded in 2006. Dr. Zhang was a co-founder of Vimicro
International (Nasdaq: VIMC). He also serves as an independent director of KongZhong Corporation and Qiaoxing Mobile. He
is secretary general of the Mobile Multimedia Technology Alliance. Dr. Zhang received his bachelor’s degree from the
University of Science & Technology of China and his Ph.D. degree in electrical engineering from the University of California at
Berkeley. He received the 2005 University of California at Berkeley Outstanding Engineering Alumni Award.
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Other Executive Officers
Ms. Yuping Ouyang has been our Chief Financial Officer since August 2008. From September 2004 to August 2008,
Ms. Ouyang was in various financial positions at our company, including US GAAP reporting manager and chief accounting
officer. Prior to joining our company, she served as an accounting manager at Guangzhou Metro Corporation. Ms. Ouyang
received her MBA from the Sun Yat-sen University and her bachelor’s degree in management from the Guangdong University of
Foreign Studies. Ms. Ouyang is also a member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Mr. Changke He is the Chief Technology Officer of our company. He previously served as the President of STEP
Technologies from May 2004 to February 2005, and was a director of our company. Prior to joining us in September 2002,
Mr. He worked at SEF for three months. From 1995 to May 2002, Mr. He worked at Motorola (China) as an RF engineer. Mr. He
received his bachelor’s degree in automatic control and computer engineering from China Central Polytechnic College in 1982
and his master’s degree in electronics and automatic engineering from Tianjin University in China in 1990.
Mr. Yibo Fang is the President of STEP Technologies. From August 2002 to March 2005, Mr. Fang was the Vice President
and Chief Technology Officer of TechFaith China. Before joining our company in August 2002, Mr. Fang worked at SEF for
five months as a hardware director. From August 2001 to January 2002, Mr. Fang worked at ZT Telecom as a hardware engineer.
From 1995 to July 2001, Mr. Fang worked at Motorola (China) as a hardware engineer. Mr. Fang received his bachelor’s degree
in electrical engineering and applied electronic technology from Tsinghua University in China in 1991.
Mr. Shugang Li has been our President since August 2008. From 2002 to August 2008, Mr. Li served in several positions at
our company, including vice president in charge of production support, sourcing, project management and quality assurance
and as president of Step Technologies (Beijing) Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of TechFaith. Most recently, Mr. Li served as president of
TechFaith Electronics. Prior to joining our company, Mr. Li served as an engineering department manager at Motorola China
for seven years. He received his bachelor’s degree in electronic engineering from Tianjin University.
The business address of our directors and executive officers is c/o China Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology
Limited, Building 1, No. 13, YongChang North Road, Beijing Economic-Technological Development Area (Yi Zhuang),
Beijing 100176, People’s Republic of China.
B. Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers
In 2008, the aggregate cash compensation and benefits that we paid to our executive officers, including all the directors,
was approximately US$1 million. No executive officer is entitled to any severance benefits upon termination of his or her
employment with our company.
Share Incentives
In 2005, our board of directors and our shareholders approved a 2005 share incentive plan, or the 2005 plan, in order to
attract and retain the best available personnel for positions of substantial responsibility, provide additional incentive to
employees, directors and consultants and promote the success of our business. A total of 40,000,000 ordinary shares have been
reserved for issuance under the 2005 plan, under which 131,636 options and 644,090 nonvested shares were issued as of
June 24, 2009. Our future grants of share incentives will be made pursuant to the 2005 plan.
The following table summarizes, as of June 24, 2009, the outstanding options granted under the 2005 plan to our directors
and senior executive officer named below since our board of directors adopted the 2005 plan.

Jy-Ber Gilbert Lee
Total

Ordinary
Shares
Underlying
Options
Granted
131,636
131,636

Exercise Price
(US$/Share)
1.083
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Date of
Grant
August 13, 2005

Date of
Expiration
August 13, 2015
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The following table summarizes, as of June 24 , 2009, the nonvested shares granted under the 2005 plan to our directors
and senior executive officer named below since our board of directors adopted the 2005 plan.

Hung Hsin (Robert) Chen
Ying Han
Hui (Tom) Zhang
Ken Lu
Sui Ling

Number of Ordinary Shares
Underlying the Nonvested Shares
Granted, as of the Date of Grant
65,818
65,818
65,818
65,818
65,818

Purchase
Price
(US$/Share)
—
—
—
—
—

Date of Grant
August 12, 2006
August 12, 2006
August 12, 2006
November 11, 2006
August 11, 2007

Vesting
Schedule
(1)
(2)
(2)
(3)
(4)

329,090

Total

(1) 100% of the shares vested immediately on the grant date.
(2) 50% of the nonvested shares vested immediately on the grant date, and the remaining 50% of the nonvested shares vested
on April 1, 2007.
(3) 50% of the nonvested shares vested immediately on the grant date, and the remaining 50% of the nonvested shares vested
on November 1, 2007.
(4) One quarter of the nonvested shares vested immediately on the grant date, and the remaining three quarters to be vested on
August 12, 2008, 2009 and 2010 averagely.
The following paragraphs describe the principal terms of the 2005 plan.
Types of Awards. We may grant the following types of awards under our 2005 plan:
•

our ordinary shares;

•

options to purchase our ordinary shares;

•

nonvested shares, which are non-transferable ordinary shares, subject to forfeiture upon termination of a grantee’s
employment or service;

•

nonvested share units, which represent the right to receive our ordinary shares at a specified date in the future, subject
to forfeiture upon termination of a grantee’s employment or service;

•

share appreciation rights, which provide for the payment to the grantee based upon increases in the price of our
ordinary shares over a set base price; and

•

dividend equivalent rights, which represent the value of the dividends per share that we pay.

Awards may be designated in the form of ADSs instead of ordinary shares. If we designate an award in the form of ADSs, the
number of shares issuable under the 2005 plan will be adjusted to reflect that one ADS represents 15 ordinary shares.
Plan Administration. Our board of directors, or a committee designated by our board or directors, will administer the 2005
plan. The committee or the full board of directors, as appropriate, will determine the provisions and terms and conditions of
each award grant.
Award Agreement. Awards granted under our 2005 option plan are evidenced by an award agreement that sets forth the
terms, conditions and limitations for each award. In addition, in the case of options, the award agreement also specifies whether
the option constitutes an incentive stock option, or ISO, or a non-qualifying stock option.
Eligibility. We may grant awards to employees, directors and consultants of our company or any of our related entities,
which include our subsidiaries or any entities in which we hold a substantial ownership interest. However, we may grant options
that are intended to qualify as ISOs only to our employees.
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Acceleration of Awards upon Corporate Transactions. The outstanding awards will accelerate upon occurrence of a
change-of-control corporate transaction where the successor entity does not assume our outstanding awards under the 2005
plan. In such event, each outstanding award will become fully vested and immediately exercisable, and the transfer restrictions
on the awards will be released and the repurchase or forfeiture rights will terminate immediately before the date of the changeof-control transaction. If the successor entity assumes our outstanding awards and later terminates the grantee’s service without
cause within 12 months of the change-of-control transaction, the outstanding awards will automatically become fully vested
and exercisable.
Terms of Awards. In general, the plan administrator determines the exercise price of an option or the purchase price of the
nonvested shares and sets forth the price in the award agreement. The exercise price may be a fixed or variable price related to
the fair market value of our ordinary shares. If we grant an ISO to an employee, who, at the time of that grant, owns shares
representing more than 10% of the voting power of all classes of our share capital, the exercise price cannot be less than 110%
of the fair market value of our ordinary shares on the date of that grant. The term of each award shall be stated in the award
agreement. The term of an award shall not exceed 10 years from the date of the grant.
Vesting Schedule. In general, the plan administrator determines, or the award agreement specifies, the vesting schedule.
Amendment and Termination. Our board of directors may at any time amend, suspend or terminate the 2005 plan.
Amendments to the 2005 plan are subject to shareholder approval to the extent required by law, or stock exchange rules or
regulations. Additionally, shareholder approval is specifically required to increase the number of shares available for issuance
under the 2005 plan or to extend the term of an option beyond 10 years. Unless terminated earlier, the 2005 plan will expire and
no further awards may be granted after the tenth anniversary of the shareholder approval of the 2005 plan.
C. Board Practices
In 2008, our directors held three meetings. Each director participated in all the meetings of our board and its committees on
which he served after becoming a member of our board. No director is entitled to any severance benefits upon termination of his
directorship with us. As of the date of this annual report, a majority of our directors meet the “independence” definition under
The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. Marketplace Rules, or the Nasdaq Rules.
Committees of the Board of Directors
Audit Committee. Our audit committee reports to the board regarding the appointment of our independent auditors, the
scope of the annual audits, the fees paid to our independent auditors, the results of our annual audits, compliance with our
accounting and financial policies and management’s procedures, policies relating to the adequacy of our internal accounting
controls and pre-approval of non-audit services rendered to us by our independent auditors. In 2008, our audit committee held
four meetings.
Our audit committee currently consists of Dr. Ken Lu, Mr. Robert Chen and Ms. Ling Sui, all of whom meet the audit
committee independence standard under Rule 10A-3 under the Securities Exchange Act. Each of them also meets the
independence definition under Rule 5605 of the Nasdaq Rules. Mr. Ken Lu and Ms. Ling Sui are “financial experts” as defined
under the Nasdaq Rules.
Compensation Committee. Our compensation committee reviews and evaluates and, if necessary, revises the compensation
policies adopted by the management. Our compensation committee also determines all forms of compensation to be provided to
our three most senior executive officers. In addition, the compensation committee reviews all annual bonuses, long-term
incentive compensation, share options, employee pension and welfare benefit plans. Our Chief Executive Officer may not be
present at any committee meeting during which his compensation is deliberated.
Our compensation committee currently consists of Dr. Hui (Tom) Zhang, Dr. Ken Lu and Mr. Robert Chen, all of whom
meet the “independence” definition under the Nasdaq Rules. In 2008, our compensation committee held four meetings.
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee . Our corporate governance and nominating committee assists our
board of directors in identifying individuals qualified to become our directors and in determining the composition of the board
and its committees. The corporate governance and nominating committee monitor compliance with the code of business
conduct and ethics and applicable laws and practice of corporate governance.
Our corporate governance and nominating committee currently consists of Dr. Hui (Tom) Zhang, Dr. Ken Lu and
Mr. Robert Chen, all of whom meet the “independence” definition under the Nasdaq Rules. In 2008, our corporate governance
and nominating committee held four meetings.
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Duties of Directors
Under Cayman Islands laws, our directors have a fiduciary duty to act honestly in good faith with a view to our best
interests. Our directors also have a duty to exercise the skill they actually possess and such care and diligence that a reasonably
prudent person would exercise in comparable circumstances. In fulfilling their duty of care to us, our directors must ensure
compliance with our memorandum and articles of association.
Terms of Directors and Officers
All directors hold office until the expiration of their terms and until their successors have been duly elected and qualified.
A director may only be removed by our shareholders at any time before the expiration of his term. Officers are elected by and
serve at the discretion of the board of directors.
D. Employees
As of December 31, 2008, we had 522 employees, including 400 in research and development and supportive function, 62
in selling and marketing and 60 in management and administration.
E. Share Ownership
As of both December 31, 2008 and June 24, 2009, 650,034,590 ordinary shares of our company were outstanding,
excluding shares issuable upon exercise of outstanding options and shares that may be issued to holders of the notes held by
certain entities affiliated with IDG Partners. Our shareholders are entitled to vote together as a single class on all matters
submitted to shareholders vote. No shareholder has different voting rights from other shareholders. We are not aware of any
arrangement that may, at a subsequent date, result in a change of control of our company.
As of June 24, 2009, approximately 70.0% of the issued and outstanding shares were held by the record shareholders in the
United States, including 26,699,225 ADSs held by our ADS depositary.
The following table sets forth information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our ordinary shares, as of June 24,
2009, of each of our directors and executive officers.
Ordinary Shares Beneficially Owned (1)
Number
%(2)
Directors and Executive Officers:
Defu Dong (3)
Jy-Ber Gilbert Lee (4)
Hung Hsin (Robert) Chen (5)
Hui (Tom) Zhang (6)
Ken Lu (7)
Sui Ling (8)
All directors and executive officers as a group (10)

*

249,250,000
131,636
65,818
65,818
65,818
32,909
249,611,999

38.3%
*
*
*
*
*
38.4%

Less than 1%.

(1) Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC,
and includes voting or investment power with respect to the securities.
(2) For each person and group included in this table, percentage ownership is calculated by dividing the number of shares
beneficially owned by such person or group by the sum of (1) 650,034,590, being the number of ordinary shares
outstanding as of June 24, 2009, and (2) the number of ordinary shares underlying share options held by such person or
group, if any, that were exercisable within 60 days after June 24, 2009, or the number of nonvested shares held by such
person or group, if any, that will fully vest within 60 days after June 24, 2009, or the number of other securities of the
company that such person or group otherwise has the right to acquire, if any, within 60 days after June 24, 2009 by option
or other agreement.
(3) Includes 165,750,000 ordinary shares held by Oasis Land Limited, which is ultimately owned by Dong’s Family Trust, and
83,500,000 ordinary shares held by Helio Glaze Limited, which is ultimately owned by Huo’s Offshore Trust. Mr. Defu
Dong is the sole director of each of Oasis Land Limited and Helio Glaze Limited, with the sole power to vote on behalf of
Oasis Land Limited and Helio Glaze Limited on all matters of TechFaith requiring shareholder approval. The business
address for Defu Dong is Building 1, No. 13, YongChang North Road, Beijing Economic-Technological Development
Area (Yi Zhuang), Beijing 100176, People’s Republic of China.
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(4) Includes 131,636 ordinary shares that were issuable upon exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after June 24,
2009 held by Mr. Lee.
(5) Includes 65,818 nonvested shares that were granted to Robert Chen on August 12, 2006, the previous granted 131,636
share options were cancelled accordingly.
(6) Includes 65,818 nonvested shares that were granted to Hui (Tom) Zhang on August 12, 2006.
(7) Includes 65,818 nonvested shares that were granted to Ken Lu on November 11, 2006.
(8) Includes 32,909 nonvested shares that were granted to Sui Ling on August 11, 2007.
(9) Shares owned by all of our directors and executive officers as a group include shares beneficially owned by Defu Dong,
Christopher Patrick Holbert , Jy-Ber Gilbert Lee, Hung Hsin (Robert) Chen, Sui Ling, Hui (Tom) Zhang and Ken Lu.
The following table sets forth information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our ordinary shares, as of June 24,
2009, by each of our principal shareholders.
Ordinary Shares Beneficially Owned(1)
Number
%(2)
Principal Shareholders:
Hongmei Yue (3)
Fidelity Management & Research Company (4)

55,410,820
54,659,670

8.5
8.4

(1) Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC, and includes voting or investment power with
respect to the securities.
(2) For each person and group included in this table, percentage ownership is calculated by dividing the number of shares
beneficially owned by such person or group by the sum of (1) 650,034,590, being the number of ordinary shares
outstanding as of June 24, 2009, and (2) the number of ordinary shares underlying share options held by such person or
group, if any, that were exercisable within 60 days after June 24, 2009, or the number of nonvested shares held by such
person or group, if any, that will fully vest within 60 days after June 24, 2009, or the number of other securities of the
company that such person or group otherwise has the right to acquire, if any, within 60 days after June 24, 2009 by option
or other agreement.
(3) Includes 44,540,820 ordinary shares held by Bright Garnet Limited, which is ultimately 98%-owned by The Faith’s Trust
and 2%-owned by Liu’s Offshore Trust, and 10,870,000 ordinary shares held by Geranium Joy Limited, which is ultimately
owned by He’s Offshore Trust. Ms. Hongmei Yue is the sole director of each of Bright Garnet Limited and Geranium Joy
Limited, with the sole power to vote on behalf of Bright Garnet Limited and Geranium Joy Limited on all matters of
TechFaith requiring shareholder approval. The business address for Hongmei Yue is c/o Raymond Song, Building 1,
No. 13, YongChang North Road, Beijing Economic-Technological Development Area (Yi Zhuang), Beijing 100176,
People’s Republic of China.
(4) Includes 54,659,670 ordinary shares held by Fidelity Management & Research Company, or Fidelity Management, which
is a wholly owned subsidiary of FMR LLC and an investment adviser registered under Section 203 of the Investment
Advisers Act of 1940. The business address for Fidelity Management & Research Company is 82 Devonshire Street,
Boston, Massachusetts 02109. According to the Schedule 13G, as amended, filed by FMR LLC and other reporting persons
on February 17, 2009, as of December 31, 2008, Fidelity Low Priced Stock Fund was interested in 37,500,000 ordinary
shares, or 5.770% of the total outstanding ordinary shares of our company. Each of Edward C. Johnson 3d, chairman of
FMR LLC, and FMR LLC has sole power to dispose of the 54,659,670 ordinary shares held by Fidelity Management.
Members of the family of Edward C. Johnson 3d are the predominant owners, directly or through trusts, of Series B voting
common shares of FMR LLC, representing 49% of the voting power of FMR LLC. The Johnson family group and all other
Series B shareholders have entered into a shareholders’ voting agreement under which all Series B voting common shares
will be voted in accordance with the majority vote of Series B voting common shares. Accordingly, through their
ownership of voting common shares and the execution of the shareholders’ voting agreement, members of the Johnson
family may be deemed, under the Investment Company Act of 1940, to form a controlling group with respect to FMR LLC.
Neither FMR LLC nor Edward C. Johnson 3d has the sole power to vote or direct the voting of the shares owned directly by
the Fidelity Funds, which power resides with the Funds’ Boards of Trustees. Fidelity carries out the voting of the shares
under written guidelines established by the Funds’ Boards of Trustees.
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On June 9, 2009, our subsidiary Leo Technology Limited issued US$10 million aggregate principal amount of 8% senior
secured convertible promissory notes with a maturity date of three years to certain entities affiliated with IDGVC Partners, a
leading venture capital firm. The notes are convertible into our ordinary shares or Leo Technology Limited’s ordinary shares at
the option of the note holders. In the event of a full conversion of the notes, a total of 126,050,421 ordinary shares of our
company (subject to adjustment but in any event not exceeding 129,941,915 ordinary shares, or 19.99% of our total and issued
outstanding shares) may be issued to the holders of the notes.
We have two record owners of our ordinary shares in the U.S.
ITEM 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions
A. Major Shareholders
Please refer to “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees —E. Share Ownership.”
B. Related Party Transactions
Transactions with QUALCOMM
In March 2006, we entered into a joint venture with QUALCOMM by incorporating a Cayman Islands holding company
named TechFaith Software (China) Holding Limited. QUALCOMM and we hold 30% and 70%, respectively, of this holding
company’s shares. In June 2006, TechFaith Software (China) Holding Limited, or Techsoft Holding, formed a company,
TechFaith Software (China) Limited, or TechSoft, in China to develop application software for wireless devices. Pursuant to an
agreement entered into on March 22, 2006 in relation to this joint venture with QUALCOMM, TechSoft will receive a total of
US$25 million in funding from QUALCOMM and us and non-cash in-kind contributions including software and licenses.
TechSoft is based in Beijing and Hangzhou, China. Up to December 31, 2008, TechSoft has received total cash injection of
US$10 million.
We became QUALCOMM’s first independent handset design house partner in China, following an investment announced
in April 2004. Initially focusing on 3G CDMA mobile handsets, TechSoft will operate as an independent entity.
Transactions with Techfaith Technology and De Ming
In 2007, we purchased raw materials from related parties, Techfaith Technology (Shenyang) Ltd., or Techfaith Technology,
and De Ming Technology (Hangzhou) Ltd. (formerly known as Kang Mu Ni Electronics (Hangzhou) Ltd.), or De Ming, for
US$34,000 and US$0.5 million, respectively. Techfaith Technology and De Ming are subsidiaries of Techfaith Electronics
Limited, a company established in September 2007, of which our founder and chief executive officer, Mr. Defu Dong, holds
43% equity interest.
In 2008, Techfaith Technology became one of our EMS providers. During the year ended December 31, 2008, we sold raw
materials to Techfaith Technology for US$18.8 million and purchased products from Techfaith Technology for
US$17.0 million. In 2008, we purchased raw materials from De Ming for US$2.4 million.
As of December 31, 2008, amounts due from related parties are as follows:
Year ended December 31,
2007
2008
(In thousands of US$)
Techfaith Technology
De Ming

$
$
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1,047
54
1,101

$
$

5,537
—
5,537
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As of December 31, 2008, amount due to related party is as follows:
Year ended December 31,
2007
2008
(In thousands of US$)
$

De Ming

201

$

419

C. Interests of Experts and Counsel
Not applicable.
ITEM 8. Financial Information
A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Information
We have appended consolidated financial statements filed as part of this annual report.
Legal Proceedings
We are not currently involved in any litigation or other legal matters that would have a material adverse impact on our
business or operations.
Dividend Policy
We do not have any present plan to pay any cash dividends on our ordinary shares in the foreseeable future. We currently
intend to retain most, if not all, of our available funds and any future earnings for use in the operation and expansion of our
business.
Subject to the Cayman Islands Companies Law (2007 Revision), our board of directors may from time to time declare
dividends on shares in issue. Even if our board of directors determines to distribute dividends, the form, frequency and amount
of our dividends will depend upon our future operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial
condition, contractual restrictions and other factors as the board of directors may deem relevant. Any dividend we declare will
be paid to the holders of ADSs, subject to the terms of the deposit agreement, to the same extent as holders of our ordinary
shares, less the fees and expenses payable under the deposit agreement. Any dividend we declare will be distributed by the
depositary to the holders of our ADSs. Cash dividends on our ordinary shares, if any, will be paid in U.S. dollars.
B. Significant Changes
Except as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, we have not experienced any significant changes since the date of our
audited consolidated financial statements included in this annual report.
ITEM 9. The Offer and Listing
A. Offer and Listing Details
Our ADSs, each representing 15 of our ordinary shares, have been listed on the Nasdaq Global Market since May 5, 2005.
Our ADSs are traded under the symbol “CNTF.”
For 2008, the trading price of our ADSs on Nasdaq ranged from $0.71 to $6.98 per ADS.
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The following table provides the high and low trading prices for our ADSs on the Nasdaq Global Market for (1) the years
2007 and 2008; (2) the first quarter in 2009, all quarters in 2007 and 2008; and (3) each of the past six months.
Sales Price
High

Low

Annual High and Low
2006
2007
2008

18.00
11.13
6.98

6.58
4.01
0.71

Quarterly Highs and Lows
First Quarter 2007
Second Quarter 2007
Third Quarter 2007
Fourth Quarter 2007
First Quarter 2008
Second Quarter 2008
Third Quarter 2008
Fourth Quarter 2008
First Quarter 2009

11.13
9.45
8.45
9.98
6.79
6.98
4.60
1.33
1.94

8.11
5.30
4.01
5.16
3.40
4.00
0.85
0.71
1.11

1.04
1.33
1.94
1.92
1.50
1.73
2.09
2.69

0.71
0.80
1.21
1.23
1.11
1.31
1.50
1.90

Monthly Highs and Lows
November 2008
December 2008
January 2009
February 2009
March 2009
April 2009
May 2009
June 2009 (through June 22, 2009)
B. Plan of Distribution
Not applicable.
C. Markets

Our ADSs, each representing 15 of our ordinary shares, have been listed on the Nasdaq Global Market since May 5, 2005
under the symbol “CNTF.”
D. Selling Shareholders
Not applicable.
E. Dilution
Not applicable.
F. Expenses of the Issue
Not applicable.
ITEM 10. Additional Information
A. Share Capital
Not applicable.
B. Memorandum and Articles of Association
We incorporate by reference into this Annual Report the description of our amended and restated memorandum of
association contained in our F-1 registration statement (File No. 333-123921) filed with the Commission on April 20, 2005. Our
shareholders had in 2005 approved an amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of our company, which
became effective immediately upon the trading of our ADSs on the Nasdaq Global Market.
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C. Material Contracts
We have not entered into any material contracts other than in the ordinary course of business and other than those
described in “Item 4. Information on the Company” or elsewhere in this annual report on Form 20-F.
D. Exchange Controls
PRC government imposes control over the convertibility of the RMB into foreign currencies. The conversion of the RMB
into foreign currencies, including U.S. dollars, has been based on rates set by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York. On
July 21, 2005, the PRC government changed its decade-old policy of pegging the value of the Renminbi to the U.S. dollar.
Under the new policy, the Renminbi was permitted to fluctuate within a narrow and managed band against a basket of certain
foreign currencies. This change in policy caused the Renminbi to appreciate approximately 21.5% against the U.S. dollar over
the following three years. Since reaching a high against the U.S. dollar in July 2008, however, the Renminbi has traded within a
narrow band against the U.S. dollar, remaining within 1% of its July 2008 high but never exceeding it. As a consequence, the
Renminbi has fluctuated sharply since July 2008 against other freely traded currencies, in tandem with the U.S. dollar. For
example, the Renminbi appreciated approximately 27% against the Euro between July 2008 and November 2008. It is difficult
to predict how long the current situation may last and when and how it may change again.
Pursuant to the Foreign Exchange Control Regulations issued by the State Council on January 29, 1996 and effective as of
April 1, 1996 (and amended on January 14, 1997) and the Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations which came into effect on July 1, 1996 regarding foreign exchange control, or the Regulations, conversion of RMB
into foreign exchange by foreign investment enterprises for current account items, including the distribution of dividends and
profits to foreign investors of joint ventures, is permissible. Foreign investment enterprises are permitted to remit foreign
exchange from their foreign exchange bank account in China on the basis of, inter alia, the terms of the relevant joint venture
contracts and the board resolutions declaring the distribution of the dividend and payment of profits. Conversion of RMB into
foreign currencies and remittance of foreign currencies for capital account items, including direct investment, loans, security
investment, is still subject to the approval of SAFE, in each such transaction. On January 14, 1997, the State Council amended
the Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and added, among other things, an important provision, as Article 5 provides that
the State shall not impose restrictions on recurring international payments and transfers.
Under the Regulations, foreign investment enterprises are required to open and maintain separate foreign exchange
accounts for capital account items (but not for other items). In addition, foreign investment enterprises may only buy, sell and/or
remit foreign currencies at those banks authorized to conduct foreign exchange business upon the production of valid
commercial documents and, in the case of capital account item transactions, document approval from SAFE.
Currently, foreign investment enterprises are required to apply to SAFE for “foreign exchange registration certificates for
foreign investment enterprises.” With such foreign exchange registration certificates (which are granted to foreign investment
enterprises, upon fulfilling specified conditions and which are subject to review and renewal by SAFE on an annual basis) or
with the foreign exchange sales notices from SAFE (which are obtained on a transaction-by-transaction basis), foreign-invested
enterprises may enter into foreign exchange transactions at banks authorized to conduct foreign exchange business to obtain
foreign exchange for their needs.
E. Taxation
The following summary of the material Cayman Islands and United States federal income tax consequences of an
investment in our ADSs or ordinary shares is based upon laws and relevant interpretations thereof in effect as of the date of this
report, all of which are subject to change. This summary does not deal with all possible tax consequences relating to an
investment in our ADSs or ordinary shares, such as the tax consequences under state, local and other tax laws.
Cayman Islands Taxation
According to our Cayman Islands counsel, Maples and Calder, the Cayman Islands currently levies no taxes on individuals
or corporations based upon profits, income, gains or appreciation and there is no taxation in the nature of inheritance tax or
estate duty. There are no other taxes likely to be material to us levied by the government of the Cayman Islands except for
stamp duties which may be applicable on instruments executed in, or brought within the jurisdiction of, the Cayman Islands.
The Cayman Islands is not party to any double tax treaties. There are no exchange control regulations or currency restrictions in
the Cayman Islands.
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United States Federal Income Taxation
The following discussion describes the material United States federal income tax consequences to U.S. Holders (defined
below) under present law of an investment in the ADSs or ordinary shares. This summary applies only to investors that hold the
ADSs or ordinary shares as capital assets and that have the U.S. dollar as their functional currency. This discussion is based on
the tax laws of the United States as in effect on the date of this annual report on Form 20-F and on United States Treasury
regulations in effect or, in some cases, proposed, as of the date of this annual report, as well as judicial and administrative
interpretations thereof available on or before such date. All of the foregoing authorities are subject to change, which change
could apply retroactively and could affect the tax consequences described below.
The following discussion does not deal with the tax consequences to any particular investor or to persons in special tax
situations such as:
•

banks;

•

financial institutions;

•

insurance companies;

•

broker dealers;

•

traders that elect to mark to market;

•

tax-exempt entities;

•

persons liable for alternative minimum tax;

•

persons holding an ADS or ordinary share as part of a straddle, hedging, conversion or integrated transaction;

•

persons that actually or constructively own 10% or more of our voting shares;

•

persons holding ADSs or ordinary shares through partnerships or other pass-through entities; or

•

persons who acquired ADSs or ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of any employee share option or
otherwise as consideration.

U.S. Holders are urged to consult their tax advisors about the application of the United States federal tax rules to their
particular circumstances as well as the state and local and foreign tax consequences to them of the purchase, ownership and
disposition of ADSs or ordinary shares.
The discussion below of the United States federal income tax consequences to “U.S. Holders” will apply if you are the
beneficial owner of ADSs or ordinary shares and you are, for United States federal income tax purposes,
•

a citizen or individual resident of the United States;

•

a corporation (or other entity taxable as a corporation for United States federal income tax purposes) organized
under the laws of the United States, any State or the District of Columbia;

•

an estate whose income is subject to United States federal income taxation regardless of its source; or

•

a trust that (1) is subject to the supervision of a court within the United States and the control of one or more
United States persons or (2) has a valid election in effect under applicable United States Treasury regulations to
be treated as a United States person.

The discussion below assumes that the representations contained in the deposit agreement are true and that the obligations
in the deposit agreement and any related agreement will be complied with in accordance with their terms. If you hold ADSs, you
will be treated as the holder of the underlying ordinary shares represented by those ADSs for United States federal income tax
purposes.
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The U.S. Treasury has expressed concerns that parties to whom ADSs are pre-released may be taking actions that are
inconsistent with the claiming, by U.S. Holders of ADSs, of foreign tax credits for United States federal income tax purposes.
Such actions would also be inconsistent with the claiming of the reduced rate of tax applicable to dividends received by certain
non-corporate U.S. Holders, as described below. Accordingly, the availability of the reduced tax rate for dividends received by
certain non-corporate U.S. Holders could be affected by future actions that may be taken by the U.S. Treasury or parties to whom
ADSs are pre-released.
Taxation of Dividends and Other Distributions on the ADSs or Ordinary Shares
Subject to the passive foreign investment company rules discussed below, the gross amount of all our distributions to you
with respect to the ADSs or ordinary shares will be included in your gross income as dividend income on the date of receipt by
the depositary, in the case of ADSs, or by you, in the case of ordinary shares, but only to the extent that the distribution is paid
out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits (computed under United States federal income tax principles). The
dividends will not be eligible for the dividends-received deduction allowed to corporations in respect of dividends received
from other U.S. corporations.
With respect to non-corporate U.S. Holders (including individuals) for taxable years beginning before January 1, 2011,
dividends may be taxed at the lower applicable capital gains rate (“qualified dividend income”) provided that (1) the ADSs or
ordinary shares are readily tradable on an established securities market in the United States or we are eligible for the benefit of
the income tax treaty between the United States and the PRC, (2) we are not a passive foreign investment company (as discussed
below) for either our taxable year in which the dividend was paid or the preceding taxable year, and (3) certain holding period
requirements are met. For this purpose, ADSs listed on the Nasdaq National Market will be considered to be readily tradable on
an established securities market in the United States. You should consult your tax advisor regarding the availability of the lower
rate for dividends paid with respect to our ADSs or ordinary shares.
Dividends will constitute foreign source income for foreign tax credit limitation purposes. If the dividends are qualified
dividend income (as discussed above), the amount of the dividend taken into account for purposes of calculating the foreign tax
credit limitation will be limited to the gross amount of the dividend, multiplied by the reduced rate divided by the highest rate
of tax normally applicable to dividends. The limitation on foreign taxes eligible for credit is calculated separately with respect
to specific classes of income. For this purpose, dividends distributed by us with respect to ADSs or ordinary shares generally
will constitute “passive category income” but could, in the case of certain U.S. Holders, constitute “general category income.” If
PRC withholding taxes apply to dividends paid to you with respect to the ADSs or ordinary shares, you may be able to obtain a
reduced rate of PRC withholding taxes under the income tax treaty between the United States and the PRC if certain
requirements are met. In addition, subject to certain conditions and limitations, PRC withholding taxes on dividends may be
treated as foreign taxes eligible for credit against your U.S. federal income tax liability. U.S. Holders should consult their own
tax advisors regarding the creditability of any PRC tax.
To the extent that the amount of the distribution exceeds our current and accumulated earnings and profits, it will be
treated first as a tax-free return of your tax basis in your ADSs or ordinary shares, and to the extent the amount of the distribution
exceeds your tax basis, the excess will be taxed as capital gain. We do not intend to calculate our earnings and profits under
U.S. federal income tax principles. Therefore, a U.S. Holder should expect that a distribution will be reported as a dividend even
if that distribution would otherwise be treated as a non-taxable return of capital or as capital gain under the rules described
above.
Taxation of Disposition of Shares
Subject to the passive foreign investment company rules discussed below, you will recognize taxable gain or loss on any
sale, exchange or other taxable disposition of an ADS or ordinary share equal to the difference between the amount realized (in
U.S. dollars) for the ADS or ordinary share and your tax basis (in U.S. dollars) in the ADS or ordinary share. The gain or loss will
be capital gain or loss. If you are a non-corporate U.S. Holder, including an individual, who has held the ADS or ordinary share
for more than one year, you will be eligible for reduced tax rates for gains recognized for taxable years beginning before
January 1, 2011. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations. Any such gain or loss that you recognize generally
will be treated as U.S. source income or loss. However, in the event we are deemed to be a Chinese “resident enterprise” under
PRC tax law, we may be eligible for the benefits of the income tax treaty between the United States and the PRC. In such event,
if PRC tax were to be imposed on any gain from the disposition of the ADSs or ordinary shares, a U.S. Holder that is eligible for
the benefits of the income tax treaty between the United States and the PRC may elect to treat such gain as PRC source income.
U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the creditability of any PRC tax.
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Passive Foreign Investment Company
Due to the price of our ADSs and ordinary shares during 2008 and the composition of our assets (in particular, the retention
of a large amount of cash), we believe that for our taxable year ended December 31, 2008, we may have been a passive foreign
investment company (“PFIC”) for United States federal income tax purposes. A non-U.S. corporation is considered a PFIC for
any taxable year if either:
•

at least 75% of its gross income is passive income (the “income test”), or

•

at least 50% of the value of its assets (based on an average of the quarterly values of the assets during a taxable
year) is attributable to assets that produce or are held for the production of passive income (the “asset test”).

We will be treated as owning our proportionate share of the assets and earning our proportionate share of the income of any
other corporation in which we own, directly or indirectly, more than 25% (by value) of the shares.
The total value of our assets for purposes of the asset test generally will be calculated using the market price of our ADSs
and ordinary shares. Because our share value decreased significantly during 2008 and we retained a significant amount of cash,
more than 50% of the value of our assets during 2008 may be viewed as passive for purposes of the asset test and, as a result we
may have been a PFIC during 2008.
We must make a separate determination each year as to whether we are a PFIC (after the close of each taxable year). We
expect that even if we were not a PFIC for the taxable year ended December 31, 2008, we will very likely be a PFIC for our
current taxable year ending December 31, 2009 unless our share value increases and/or we invest a substantial amount of the
cash and other passive assets we hold in assets that produce active assets. If we are a PFIC for any year during which you hold
ADS or ordinary shares, we will continue to be treated as a PFIC for all succeeding years during which you hold ADS or ordinary
shares. However, if we cease to be a PFIC, provided that you have not made a mark-to-market election, as described below, you
may avoid some of the adverse effects of the PFIC regime by making a deemed sale election with respect to the ADSs or
ordinary shares, as applicable. If such election is made, you will be deemed to have sold our ADSs or shares you hold at their fair
market value and any gain from such deemed sale would be subject to the consequences described in the following paragraph.
After the deemed sale election, you ADSs or shares with respect to which the deemed sale election was made would not be
treated as shares in a PFIC unless we subsequently became a PFIC. The rules dealing with deemed sale elections are very
complex. You are strongly encouraged to consult you tax advisor about the deemed sale election with regard to our company
and subsidiaries.
If we are a PFIC for any taxable year and any of our non-U.S. subsidiaries is also a PFIC, a U.S. Holder would be treated as
owning a proportionate amount (by value) of the shares of the lower-tier PFIC for purposes of the application of these rules, and
could incur liability for the deferred tax and interest charge described below if either (1) we receive a distribution from, or
dispose of all or part of our interest in, the lower-tier PFICs or (2) you dispose of all or part of your ADSs or ordinary shares.
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If we are a PFIC for any taxable year during which you hold ADSs or ordinary shares, you will be subject to special tax
rules with respect to any “excess distribution” that you receive and any gain you realize from a sale or other disposition
(including a pledge) of the ADSs or ordinary shares, unless you make a “mark-to-market” election as discussed below.
Distributions you receive in a taxable year that are greater than 125% of the average annual distributions you received during
the shorter of the three preceding taxable years or your holding period for the ADSs or ordinary shares will be treated as an
excess distribution. Under these special tax rules:
•

the excess distribution or gain will be allocated ratably over your holding period for the ADSs or ordinary shares,

•

the amount allocated to the current taxable year, and any taxable year prior to the first taxable year in which we
became a PFIC, will be treated as ordinary income, and

•

the amount allocated to each other taxable year will be subject to the highest tax rate in effect for that taxable
year and the interest charge generally applicable to underpayments of tax will be imposed on the resulting tax
attributable to each such taxable year.

The tax liability for amounts allocated to years prior to the year of disposition or “excess distribution” cannot be offset by
any net operating losses for such years, and gains (but not losses) realized on the sale of the ADSs or ordinary shares cannot be
treated as capital, even if you hold the ADSs or ordinary shares as capital assets.
Alternatively, a U.S. Holder of “marketable stock” (as defined below) in a PFIC may make a mark-to-market election for
such stock of a PFIC to elect out of the tax treatment discussed in the two preceding paragraphs. If you make a valid mark-tomarket election for the ADSs or ordinary shares, you will include in income each year an amount equal to the excess, if any, of
the fair market value of the ADSs or ordinary shares as of the close of your taxable year over your adjusted basis in such ADSs or
ordinary shares. You are allowed a deduction for the excess, if any, of the adjusted basis of the ADSs or ordinary shares over
their fair market value as of the close of the taxable year. However, deductions are allowable only to the extent of any net markto-market gains on the ADSs or ordinary shares included in your income for prior taxable years. Amounts included in your
income under a mark-to-market election, as well as gain on the actual sale or other disposition of the ADSs or ordinary shares,
are treated as ordinary income. Ordinary loss treatment also applies to the deductible portion of any mark-to-market loss on the
ADSs or ordinary shares, as well as to any loss realized on the actual sale or disposition of the ADSs or ordinary shares, to the
extent that the amount of such loss does not exceed the net mark-to-market gains previously included for such ADSs or ordinary
shares. Your basis in the ADSs or ordinary shares will be adjusted to reflect any such income or loss amounts. If you make such a
mark-to-market election, tax rules that apply to distributions by corporations which are not PFICs would apply to distributions
by us (except that the lower applicable capital gains rate would not apply).
The mark-to-market election is available only for “marketable stock” which is stock that is traded in other than de minimis
quantities on at least 15 days during each calendar quarter (“regularly traded”) on a qualified exchange or other market, as
defined in applicable Treasury regulations. We expect that the ADSs will continue to be listed on the Nasdaq National Market,
which is a qualified exchange for these purposes, and, consequently, assuming that the ADSs are regularly traded, if you are a
holder of ADSs, it is expected that the mark-to-market election would be available to you were we to become a PFIC. If any of
our subsidiaries are or become PFICs, the mark-to-market election will likely not be available with respect to the shares of such
subsidiaries that are treated as owned by you. Consequently, you could be subject to the PFIC rules with respect to income of
the lower-tier PFICs the value of which already had been taken into account indirectly via mark-to-market adjustments.
If you hold ADSs or ordinary shares in any year in which we are a PFIC, you will be required to file Internal Revenue
Service Form 8621 regarding distributions received on the ADSs or ordinary shares and any gain realized on the disposition of
the ADSs or ordinary shares.
Information Reporting and Backup Withholding
Dividend payments with respect to ADSs or ordinary shares and proceeds from the sale, exchange or redemption of ADSs or
ordinary shares may be subject to information reporting to the Internal Revenue Service and possible United States backup
withholding at a current rate of 28%. Backup withholding will not apply, however, to a U.S. Holder who furnishes a correct
taxpayer identification number and makes any other required certification or who is otherwise exempt from backup
withholding. U.S. Holders who are required to establish their exempt status must provide such certification on Internal Revenue
Service Form W-9. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors regarding the application of the United States information
reporting and backup withholding rules.
Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Amounts withheld as backup withholding may be credited against your
United States federal income tax liability, and you may obtain a refund of any excess amounts withheld under the backup
withholding rules by filing the appropriate claim for refund with the Internal Revenue Service and furnishing any required
information.
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F. Dividends and Paying Agents
Not applicable.
G. Statement by Experts
Not applicable.
H. Documents on Display
We have previously filed with the Commission our registration statement on Form F-1, as amended and prospectus under
the Securities Act of 1933, with respect to our ordinary shares.
We are subject to the periodic reporting and other informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or the Exchange Act. Under the Exchange Act, we are required to file reports and other information with the Securities
and Exchange Commission. Specifically, we are required to file annually a Form 20-F no later than six months after the close of
each fiscal year, which is December 31. Copies of reports and other information, when so filed, may be inspected without charge
and may be obtained at prescribed rates at the public reference facilities maintained by the Securities and Exchange
Commission at 100 F. Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549, and at the regional office of the Securities and Exchange
Commission located at Citicorp Center, 500 West Madison Street, Suite 1400, Chicago, Illinois 60661. The public may obtain
information regarding the Washington, D.C. Public Reference Room by calling the Commission at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC
also maintains a Web site at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information
regarding registrants that make electronic filings with the SEC using its EDGAR system. As a foreign private issuer, we are
exempt from the rules under the Exchange Act prescribing the furnishing and content of quarterly reports and proxy statements,
and officers, directors and principal shareholders are exempt from the reporting and short-swing profit recovery provisions
contained in Section 16 of the Exchange Act.
We will furnish The Bank of New York, the depositary of our ADSs, with our annual reports, which will include a review of
operations and annual audited consolidated financial statements prepared in conformity with U.S. GAAP, and all notices of
shareholders’ meetings and other reports and communications that are made generally available to our shareholders. The
depositary will make such notices, reports and communications available to holders of ADSs and, upon our request, will mail to
all record holders of ADSs the information contained in any notice of a shareholders’ meeting received by the depositary from
us.
I. Subsidiary Information
For a listing of our subsidiaries, see “Item 4. Information on the Company — C. Organizational Structure.”
ITEM 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk. Our risk exposure from changes in interest rates relates primarily to the interest income generated by
excess cash invested in short-term bank deposits. Interest-earning instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk. We have not
been nor do we anticipate being exposed to material risks due to changes in interest rates.
Foreign Exchange Risk. Substantially all of our revenues and substantially all our cost of revenues are denominated in
RMB, with an immaterial portion of our cost of revenues denominated in the U.S. dollar, for which we have not incurred any
material foreign exchange gains or losses. In 2006, we invested US$39 million in Techfaith Hangzhou and TechSoft in China.
As of December 31, 2008, we had U.S. currency deposits of US$6.2 million in China. Our exchange losses were US$0.5 million
in 2008 due to the U.S. currency deposited in China. We believe that we currently have significant direct foreign exchange risk.
The value of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar, Euro and other currencies is affected by, among other things, changes in
China’s political and economic conditions and China’s foreign exchange policies. On July 21, 2005, the PRC government
changed its decade-old policy of pegging the value of the Renminbi to the U.S. dollar. Under the new policy, the Renminbi was
permitted to fluctuate within a narrow and managed band against a basket of certain foreign currencies. This change in policy
caused the Renminbi to appreciate approximately 21.5% against the U.S. dollar over the following three years. Since reaching a
high against the U.S. dollar in July 2008, however, the Renminbi has traded within a narrow band against the U.S. dollar,
remaining within 1% of its July 2008 high but never exceeding it. As a consequence, the Renminbi has fluctuated sharply since
July 2008 against other freely traded currencies, in tandem with the U.S. dollar. For example, the Renminbi appreciated
approximately 27% against the Euro between July 2008 and November 2008. It is difficult to predict how long the current
situation may last and when and how it may change again. Any significant revaluation of RMB may materially and adversely
affect our cash flows, revenues, earnings and financial position, and the value of, and any dividends payable on, our ADS in U.S.
dollars. For example, an appreciation of RMB against the U.S. dollar would make any new RMB denominated investments or
expenditures more costly to us, to the extent that we need to convert U.S. dollars into RMB for such purposes.
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Inflation Risk. Inflation in China has not materially impacted our results of operations. According to the National Bureau
of Statistics of China, the change of consumer price index in China was 1.6%, 4.8% and 5.9% in 2006, 2007 and 2008,
respectively. Although we were not materially affected by inflation in the past, we can provide no assurance that we will not be
affected in the future by potentially higher rates of inflation in China. For example, certain operating costs and expenses, such
as employee compensation and office operating expenses may increase as a result of higher inflation. Additionally, because a
substantial portion of our assets consists of cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments, high inflation could
significantly reduce the value and purchasing power of these assets. We are not able to hedge our exposure to higher inflation in
China.
ITEM 12. Description of Securities Other than Equity Securities
Not Applicable.
PART II
ITEM 13. Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delinquencies
Not Applicable.
ITEM 14. Material Modifications to the Rights of Security Holders and Use of Proceeds
Not Applicable.
ITEM 15. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our chief executive officer and chief financial officer have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this annual report. Our
management has concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period ended December 31, 2008
were ineffective primarily because of the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting described below.
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such
term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act, as amended, for our company. Internal control over financial
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and includes
those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of a company’s assets, (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that a company’s receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of a
company’s management and directors, and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of a company’s assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated
financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, a system of internal control over financial reporting can provide only reasonable
assurance with respect to consolidated financial statement preparation and presentation, and may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies and procedures may
deteriorate.
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As required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and related rules as promulgated by the Securities and
Exchange Commission, our management assessed the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2008 using criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our internal
control over financial reporting was ineffective as of December 31, 2008 due to the material weaknesses described below:
(1) The lack of sufficient personnel with the necessary knowledge on internal control. This material weakness had a
pervasive impact on internal control over financial reporting.
(2) Insufficient inventory management controls over sample phones which resulted in late significant adjustments to the
recording of inventory. We do not believe that this material weakness had a pervasive impact on internal control over
financial reporting. Upon identification of the material weakness, our management re-performed physical count of the
sample phone inventory, examined all the shipment and procurements before and after the period end, and determined
that no material adjustment was required to the financial statements contained in this report.
(3) Operating ineffectiveness of revenue contracts review and revenue recognition procedures which resulted in late
significant adjustments to the recording of revenue. We do not believe that this material weakness had a pervasive
impact on internal control over financial reporting. Upon identification of the material weakness, our management
examined all the material contracts entered and revenue recognized before and after the year end, and determined that
no material adjustment was required to the financial statements contained in this report.
After the material weaknesses were reported to our audit committee, the audit committee approved an action plan that
requires the management to remediate the weaknesses. The steps we have taken include:
(1) providing relevant trainings to the personnel who are in charge of internal control.
(2) implementing quarterly inventory physical count and reconciliation with management review procedures
(3) requesting our business operation department to keep a log of all the contracts entered into and our accounting
department to review this log and reconciles with accounting records at least monthly.
Our independent registered public accounting firm has issued an attestation report on our internal control over financial
reporting. The attestation report appears below:
Attestation Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and shareholders of
China Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology Limited
We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of China Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology
Limited, its subsidiaries and variable interest entity (collectively, the “Group”) as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. The Group’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s
Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Group’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s
board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or
improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a
timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future
periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there
is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Group’s annual or interim financial statements will not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. The following material weaknesses have been identified and included in management’s
assessment:
1)

The lack of sufficient personnel with the necessary knowledge on internal control.

2)

Insufficient inventory management controls over sample phones which resulted in late significant adjustments to the
Group’s recording of inventory.

3)

Operating ineffectiveness of revenue contracts review and revenue recognition procedures which resulted in late
significant adjustments to the Group’s recognition of revenue.

These material weaknesses were considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of
the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended December 31, 2008, of the
Group and this report does not affect our report on such financial statements and financial statement schedule.
In our opinion, because of the effect of the material weaknesses identified above on the achievement of the objectives of the
control criteria, the Group has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based
on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended December 31, 2008 of the Group
and our report dated June 24, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and financial statement
schedule and included an explanatory paragraph regarding the Group’s adoption of the recognition and measurement methods
under Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109”, effective on January 1, 2007.
/s/ Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA, Ltd.
Beijing, the People’s Republic of China
June 24, 2009
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Changes in internal control over financial reporting
In 2007, we had identified two material weaknesses during our assessment of the internal control over financial reporting as
defined in Audit Standard No. 2 of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board. After the material weaknesses were
reported to our audit committee, the audit committee approved an action plan that required the management to remediate the
weaknesses. Under the action plan, the chief executive officer, chief operation officer and chief financial officer were assigned
to lead the design and the implementation of the new inventory management system and approval procedures for significant
cash transactions in order to remediate the weaknesses.
The steps we took to remediate the material weaknesses include:
(1) In relation to the inventory management system, we implemented quarterly physical inventory count control
procedures in 2008. Meanwhile, our financial analysis of draft financial information now includes a review of cost of
goods sold and the level of inventory to detect any irregularity and any potential misstatements. We have made
significant progress in inventory management control. During 2008, there was only one deficiency detected, namely
the insufficient inventory management controls over sample phones.
(2) In relation to the approval procedures for significant cash transactions, our internal auditing department has provided
additional training on the authorization control procedures to the relevant management. Furthermore, the chief
financial officer has now taken steps in order to monitor that the designed procedures operate as intended. During
2008, there were not any additional deficiencies detected in this area.
We do not believe that the material weakness in inventory management identified in 2007 had a pervasive impact on internal
control over financial reporting. Upon identification of the material weakness in inventory management, we examined all the
shipments and procurements before and after the period end to ensure there was no other cut-off error.
The material weakness in cash transaction was caused by improper implementation of the approval procedures, which does not
have a pervasive impact on internal control over financial reporting. We examined all the significant cash transactions and
ensured all other transactions were appropriately authorized.
ITEM 16.A. Audit Committee Financial Expert
See “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees — C. Board Practices.”
ITEM 16.B. Code of Ethics
Our board of directors has adopted a code of ethics that applies to our directors, officers, employees and agents, including
certain provisions that specifically apply to our chief executive officer, chief financial officer, chief operating officer, financial
controller, vice presidents and any other persons who perform similar functions for us. We have filed our code of business
conduct and ethics as an exhibit to our registration statement on Form F-1, and posted the code on our
www.techfaithwireless.com website. We hereby undertake to provide to any person without charge, a copy of our code of
business conduct and ethics within ten working days after we receive such person’s written request.
ITEM 16.C. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The following table sets forth the aggregate fees by categories specified below in connection with certain professional
services rendered by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, our independent registered public accounting firm, for the periods indicated.
We did not pay any tax related or other fees to our independent registered public accounting firm during the periods indicated
below.
For the Year Ended December 31,
2007
2008
(In thousands of US$)
1,361
992
48
17

Audit fees (1)
Tax fees (2)

(1) “Audit fees” means the aggregate fees billed in each of the fiscal years listed for professional services rendered by our
principal auditors for the audit of our annual financial statements.
(2) “Tax fees” means the aggregate fees billed in each of the fiscal years listed for professional services rendered by the
principal accountant for tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning.
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ITEM 16.D. Exemptions from the Listing Standards for Audit Committees
We are in compliance with Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act and The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. Marketplace Rules
with respect to the audit committee.
ITEM 16.E. Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers.
In July 2006, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to US$40 million of our company’s outstanding ADSs
from time to time on the open market over the next six months, depending on market conditions, ADS price and other factors
and subject to the requirements of applicable law, including Rule 10b-18 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. We
obtained the required shareholder approval for our share repurchase program at our annual general meeting of shareholders held
on September 18, 2006. We have purchased approximately 577,000 ADSs through our share repurchase program. The 577,000
ADSs were cancelled in 2008.

Period
September 28-29, 2006
October 2-18, 2006

(a) Total Number of
Shares (or Units)
Purchased
77,000 ADSs
500,000 ADSs

(b) Average Price
Paid per Share (or
Units)
US$
7.8849
US$
8.0838

(c) Total Number of
Shares (or Units)
Purchased as Part
of Publicly
Announced Plans or
Programs
77,000 ADSs
500,000 ADSs

(d) Maximum Number
(or Approximate
Dollar Value) of
Shares (or Units)
that may yet be
Purchased Under the
Plans or Programs
77,000 ADSs
500,000 ADSs

No equity securities of our company were purchased by or on behalf of our company or any “affiliated purchaser” (as such
term is defined in Rule 10b-18 under the Exchange Act) of our company in the year ended December 31, 2008. In
September 2008, our board of directors approved a share repurchase program pursuant to authorization previously obtained
from our shareholders. Under the program, our company is authorized, but not obligated, to repurchase up to US$10 million
worth of our outstanding ADSs from time to time, depending on market conditions, share price and other factors, as well as
subject to the relevant rules under United States securities regulations and are subject to restrictions relating to volume, price
and timing. From September 2008 to the date of this annual report, no shares have been repurchased under this new program.
Pursuant to the board resolutions, our board will review this share repurchase program periodically and may adjust its terms and
size accordingly, including suspending or discontinuing the program altogether at anytime.
ITEM 16.F. Change in Registrant’s Certifying Accountant
Not applicable.
ITEM 16.G. Corporate Governance
Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5620(a) requires each issuer to hold an annual meeting of shareholders no later than one year
after the end of the issuer’s fiscal year-end. However, Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5615(a)(3) permits foreign private issuers like us
to follow “home country practice” in certain corporate governance matters. Maples and Calder, our Cayman Islands counsel, has
provided a letter to the Nasdaq Stock Market certifying that under Cayman Islands law, we are not required to hold annual
shareholder meetings every year.
We intend to follow home country practice with respect to annual meetings. We did not hold any annual meeting of
shareholders in 2008. We may hold additional annual shareholder meetings in the future if there are significant issues that
require shareholders’ approvals.
Other than the annual meeting requirements, we have followed and intend to continue to follow the applicable corporate
governance standards under Nasdaq Marketplace Rules.
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In accordance with Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5250(d), we will post this annual report on Form 20-F on our
www.techfaithwireless.com website. In addition, we will provide hardcopies of our annual report free of charge to shareholders
and ADS holders upon request.
PART III
ITEM 17. Financial Statements
We have elected to provide financial statements pursuant to Item 18.
ITEM 18. Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements for China Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology Limited and its
subsidiaries are included at the end of this annual report.
ITEM 19. Exhibits
Exhibit
Number
1.1

Document
Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Registrant (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 from our Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-123921) filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 20, 2005).

2.1

Registrant’s Specimen American Depositary Receipt (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 from our
Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-123921) filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 7, 2005).

2.2

Registrant’s Specimen Certificate for Ordinary Shares (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 from our
Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-123921) filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 20, 2005).

2.3

Note Subscription and Rights Agreement, dated as of April 9, 2004, among the Registrant and other
parties therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 from our Registration Statement on Form F-1
(file no. 333-123921) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 7, 2005).

2.4

Transfer and Assumption Agreement dated November 9, 2004 among the Registrant and other parties
thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 from our Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no.
333-123921) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 7, 2005).

2.5

Share Swap Agreement dated November 9, 2004 among the Registrant and other parties thereto
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 from our Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333123921) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 7, 2005).

4.1

2005 Share Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from our Registration Statement
on Form F-1 (file no. 333-123921) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 20,
2005).

4.2

Form of Indemnification Agreement with the Registrant’s directors (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 from our Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-123921) filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on April 7, 2005).

4.3

Form of Employment Agreement between the Registrant and a Senior Executive Officer of the
Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 from our Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file
no. 333-123921) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 7, 2005).

4.4

Memorandum of Understanding dated December 24, 2003 between a subsidiary of the Registrant and
QUALCOMM (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 from our Registration Statement on Form F-1
(file no. 333-123921) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 7, 2005).
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Exhibit
Number
4.5

4.6

Joint Venture Agreement dated September 26, 2003 between the Registrant and NEC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.3 from our Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-123921) filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 7, 2005).

4.7

Lease Agreement dated July 31, 2003 between the Registrant and Beijing Sino-Electronics Future
Telecommunication R&D, Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.4 from our Registration
Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333-123921) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
April 7, 2005).

4.8*

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics of the Registrant, as amended.

4.9

Agreement dated June 29, 2004 between the Registrant and a PRC subsidiary of NEC (translation)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.6 from our Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333123921) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 7, 2005).

4.10

Agreement dated December 20, 2004 between the Registrant and a PRC subsidiary of NEC (translation)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.7 from our Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 333123921) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 7, 2005).

4.11

Series A Preferred Share Purchase and Sale Agreement dated March 22, 2006 among the Registrant,
QUALCOMM and Techfaith Software (China) Holding Limited (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.11 from our Registration Statement on Form 20-F (file no. 000-51242) filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on June 29, 2006).

4.12

Contract for Purchase of Building dated March 23, 2006 between Beijing Electronics City Co., Ltd. and
Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology (Beijing) Limited (English translation of the Chinese
language document) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.12 from our Registration Statement on
Form 20-F (file no. 000-51242) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 29, 2006).

4.13

Contract for Purchase of Building dated March 23, 2006 between Beijing Electronics City Co., Ltd. and
Techfaith Intelligent Handset Technology (Beijing) Limited (English translation of the Chinese
language document) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.13 from our Registration Statement on
Form 20-F (file no. 000-51242) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 29, 2006).

4.14

Construction Contract dated February 11, 2007 between Techfaith Wireless Communication
Technology (Hangzhou) Limited and Hangzhou Jiang Qian Construction Engineering Co., Ltd.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.14 from our Annual Report on Form 20-F (file no. 000-51242)
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 29, 2007.

8.1*

*

Document
CDMA Modem Card License Agreement dated March 9, 2004 between a subsidiary of the Registrant
and QUALCOMM (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 from our Registration Statement on
Form F-1 (file no. 333-123921) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 7, 2005).

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

12.1*

CEO Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

12.2*

CFO Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

13.1*

CEO Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

13.2*

CFO Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

15.1*

Consent of Maples and Calder.

15.2*

Consent of Genland Law Firm.

Filed with this annual report on Form 20-F.
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SIGNATURES
The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing its annual report on Form 20-F and that it has
duly caused and authorized the undersigned to sign this annual report on its behalf.
CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
By: /s/ Defu Dong
Name: Defu Dong
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Date: June 25, 2009
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CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of China Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology
Limited, its subsidiaries and variable interest entity (collectively, the “Group”) as of December 31, 2007 and 2008, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2008, and related financial statement schedule included in Schedule 1. These
financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Group’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group
as of December 31, 2007 and 2008 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also,
in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements
taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects, the information set forth therein.
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective on January 1, 2007, the Company adopted the
recognition and measurement methods under Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109”.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
Group’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on the criteria established in Internal Control
— Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report
dated June 24, 2009 expressed an adverse opinion on the Group’s internal control over financial reporting because of material
weaknesses.
/s/ Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA Ltd.
Beijing, the People’s Republic of China
June 24, 2009
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CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
Year ended December 31,
2007
2008
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $3,838 and $7,128 in 2007 and 2008,
respectively
Notes receivable
Amounts due from related parties
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Deferred tax assets-current

$

Total current assets
Deposits for acquisition of plant, machinery, equipment and leasehold improvement
Plant, machinery and equipment, net
Acquired intangible assets, net
Deferred tax assets-noncurrent
Goodwill
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term payable
Accounts payable
Amount due to related party
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Advance from customers
Deferred revenue
Income tax payable
Put option liability
Total current liabilities
Long-term payable
Total liabilities

F-2

84,754
3,389

$

78,926
162

40,014
4,020
1,101
50,763
10,116
—

37,804
85
5,537
37,763
10,003
83

194,157

170,363

10,177
28,275
1,646
—
606

—
48,125
921
49
606

$

234,861

$

220,064

$

1,358
35,416
201
14,251
7,512
1,541
142
318

$

1,211
9,214
419
9,074
5,260
1,748
149
1,173

60,739

28,248

453

—

61,192

28,248
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CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS — continued
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
Year ended December 31,
2007
2008
Commitments (Note 18)
Minority interests
Shareholders’ equity:
Ordinary shares of par value $0.00002: 50,000,000,000,000 shares authorized; shares
issued and outstanding, 649,913,136 in 2007 and 650,034,590 in 2008
Additional paid-in capital
Treasury stock, at cost (8,655,000 and nil shares as of December 31, 2007 and 2008,
respectively)
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Statutory reserve
Retained earnings

1,660

1,008

13
110,327

13
105,846

(4,628)
13,776
6,813
45,708

Total shareholders’ equity

—
24,427
8,542
51,980

172,009

TOTAL LIABILITIES, MINORITY INTERESTS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

$

234,861

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
2006
Revenues:
Handset design
Product sales

$

Year ended December 31,
2007

42,860
37,944

$

41,721
101,723

$

2008
19,123
189,727

Total net revenues

80,804

143,444

208,850

Cost of revenues:
Handset design
Product sales

25,262
29,843

25,239
79,556

10,308
157,377

Total cost of revenues

55,105

104,795

167,685

Gross profit

25,699

38,649

41,165

Operating expenses:
General and administrative
Research and development
Selling and marketing
Impairment of long-lived assets

(15,110)
(21,970)
(2,260)
(1,388)

(13,142)
(30,876)
(3,422)
—

(15,553)
(18,195)
(5,497)
(880)

Total operating expenses

(40,728)

(47,440)

(40,125)

1,734
—

3,081
2,443

(14,849)

(7,057)

6,564

Interest expense
Interest income
Other (expense) income
Change in fair value of put option

(18)
4,879
149
(269)

(166)
3,871
(220)
(43)

(47)
1,616
(22)
(855)

Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax benefit (expenses)

(10,108)
(100)

(3,615)
(6)

7,256
93

Income (loss) before minority interests
Minority interests
Equity in loss of an affiliate

(10,208)
1,808
(393)

(3,621)
1,200
(851)

7,349
652
—

Government subsidy income
Other operating income

180
—

Income (loss) from operations

Net income (loss)

$

(8,793)

$

(3,272)

$

8,001

Net income (loss) per share:
Basic

$

(0.01)

$

(0.01)

$

0.01

$

(0.01)

$

(0.01)

$

0.01

Diluted
Weighted average shares used in computation:
Basic
Diluted

656,255,882

649,807,421

649,972,306

656,255,882

649,807,421

650,062,312

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)

Ordinary shares
Number
Amount

Additional
paid-in
capital

Balance at January 1, 2006
Foreign Currency translation adjustments
Share-based compensation
Forfeiture of stock options
Repurchase of ordinary shares
Net loss
Provision for statutory reserve

658,183,409 $
—
164,545
—
(8,655,000)
—
—

13
—
—
—
—
—
—

Balance at December 31, 2006

649,692,954

13

109,833

—
220,182
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
94
400
—
—

649,913,136

13

110,327

—
—
121,454
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

Foreign currency translation adjustments
Share-based compensation
Reduction in underwriters’ costs for the IPO *
Net loss
Provision for statutory reserve
Balance at December 31, 2007
Cancellation of treasury stock
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Share-based compensation
Net income
Provision for statutory reserve
Balance at December 31, 2008

*

650,034,590

$

13

Treasury
stock

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income

$ 109,798 $
— $
—
—
116
—
(81)
—
—
(4,628)
—
—
—
—
(4,628)
—
—
—
—
—

(4,628)
—
147
—
—
$ 105,846

$

1,456
3,883
—
—
—
—
—

Retained
earnings

Statutory
reserve

$ 59,397 $
—
—
—
—
(8,793)
(904)

5,339

49,700

8,437
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
(3,272)
(720)

5,189
—
—
—
—
—
904
6,093
—
—
—
—
720

Total
share
holders’
equity

Comprehensive
income (loss)

$ 175,853
3,883 $
116
(81)
(4,628)
(8,793)
—
166,350

3,883
—
—
—
(8,793)
—

$

(4,910)

8,437 $
94
400
(3,272)
—

8,437
—
—
(3,272)
—

(4,628)

13,776

45,708

6,813

172,009

$

5,165

4,628
—
—
—
—

—
10,651
—
—
—

—
—
—
8,001
(1,729)

—
—
—
—
1,729

—
10,651
147
8,001
—

$

—
10,651
—
8,001
—

8,542

$ 190,808

$

18,652

—

$

24,427

$ 51,980

$

The amount was the reversal of the accrual of IPO underwriter fee after the Group confirmed in the first quarter of 2007 that
this amount would not be paid.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
2006
Operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities:
Loss on disposal of plant, machinery and equipment
Loss on disposal of intangible assets
Impairment of long-lived assets
Amortization of acquired intangible assets
Inventory provision
Warranty provision
Bad debts expense
Depreciation of plant, machinery and equipment
Minority interests
Equity in loss of an affiliate
Change in fair value of put option
Amortization of share-based compensation
Reversal of share-based compensation
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Notes receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Deferred tax assets
Accounts payable
Notes payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Advance from customers
Deferred revenue
Income tax payable
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

$

Year ended December 31,
2007
2008

(8,793)

$

(3,272)

$

8,001

138
110
1,388
381
54
2,004
3,744
7,163
(1,808)
393
269
116
(81)

690
—
—
276
911
1,103
44
7,145
(1,200)
851
43
94
—

73
—
880
794
648
1,067
2,996
6,103
(652)
—
855
147
—

(6,714)
(1,131)
(3,522)
(7,959)
—
3,481
148
7,366
4,932
3,667
88

(200)
(1,568)
(41,096)
399
—
26,677
(148)
(8,094)
2,071
(4,073)
(6)

(1,536)
4,212
15,877
(4,836)
129
(27,747)
—
(3,198)
(2,423)
106
—

5,434

(19,353)

1,496

Investing activities:
Investment in an affiliate
Deposits paid for acquisition of plant, machinery and equipment, and
acquired intangible assets
Purchase of plant, machinery and equipment
Proceeds from sale of plant, machinery and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchase of minority interest of STEP Technologies
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash

(4,711)
(19,082)
29
—
—
(5,205)

(4,271)
(8,904)
85
(644)
(1,361)
1,816

—
(13,389)
116
(1,364)
—
3,228

Net cash used in investing activities

(30,212)

(13,279)

(11,409)
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CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — continued
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
2006

Year ended December 31,
2007
2008

Financing activities:
Proceeds from short-term bank borrowings
Repayment of short-term bank borrowings
Capital contribution by minority shareholder
Repurchase of ordinary shares from market
Dividend paid to minority shareholder

—
—
3,000
(4,628)
(325)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

(1,953)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

10,952
(10,952)
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—

2,696
(24,035)
137,207

—

4,214
(28,418)
113,172

4,085
(5,828)
84,754

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

$

113,172

$

84,754

$

78,926

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest expenses

$

18

$

166

$

26

$

15

$

6

$

36

Income taxes

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
1.

ORGANIZATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
China Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated under the laws of the
Cayman Islands on June 25, 2004 and its subsidiaries and variable interest entity include the following as of December 31,
2008:
Date of
incorporation/acquisition

Place of
incorporation

Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology
(Beijing) Limited (“Techfaith China”)

July 26, 2002

People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”)

100%

Techfaith Wireless Technology Group Limited
(“Techfaith BVI”) (formerly known as Techfaith
Wireless Communication Technology Limited)

July 8, 2003

British Virgin Islands
(the “BVI”)

100%

August 8, 2003

BVI

100%

One Net Entertainment Limited (“One Net”)
(formerly known as Techfaith Wireless
Communication Technology (Beijing) Limited
II)

September 5, 2003

PRC

100%

Leo Technology Limited (“Leo Technology”)

October 15, 2003

BVI

100%

STEP Technologies (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
(“STEP Technologies”)

November 20, 2003

PRC

100%

Techfaith Intelligent Handset Technology
(Hong Kong) Limited (“Techfaith HK”)
(formerly known as First Achieve Technology
Ltd.)

December 29, 2003

Hong Kong

100%

Finest Technology Limited (“Finest Technology”)

January 8, 2004

BVI

100%

Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology
(Shanghai) Limited (“Techfaith Shanghai”)

March 22, 2004

PRC

100%

April 18, 2005

BVI

100%

Techfaith Wireless Corporation
(“Techfaith U.S.”)

August 22, 2005

United States of America
(“U.S.”)

100%

Boost Time Limited (“Boost Time”)

August 25, 2005

BVI

100%

Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology
(Shenzhen) Limited (“Techfaith Shenzhen”)

August 25, 2005

PRC

100%

September 9, 2005

PRC

100%

November 21, 2005

BVI

100%

April 24, 2006

PRC

100%

February 26, 2007

BVI

100%

March 27, 2007

PRC

100%

Subsidiaries

Great Earnest Technology Limited (“Great
Earnest”)

Infoexcel Technology Limited (“Infoexcel
Technology”)

Techfaith Intelligent Handset Technology
(Beijing)
Limited (“Techfaith Intelligent Handset
Beijing”)
Charm Faith Limited (“Charm Faith”)
Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology
(Hangzhou) Limited (“Techfaith Hangzhou”)
Fair Nice Limited (“Fair Nice”)
Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology
(Shenyang) Limited (“Techfaith Shenyang”)

Percentage
ownership
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CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — continued
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
1.

ORGANIZATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES — continued

Variable interest entity

Date of
incorporation

Place of
incorporation

Techfaith Software (China) Holding Limited (“Techsoft
Holding”)

March 17, 2006

Cayman Islands

Percentage
ownership
70%

The Company and all of its subsidiaries and the variable interest entity are collectively referred to as the “Group”.
In March 2006, the Group entered into Series A Preferred Shares Purchase and Sell Agreement (“the Agreement”) with
QUALCOMM to establish a 70%-owned subsidiary, Techsoft Holding, which engaged in the business of developing
software applications for wireless communication devices. The Group and QUALCOMM subscribed 70% and 30% of the
issued series A preferred shares of Techsoft Holding, respectively. QUALCOMM is granted the right to, upon the
occurrence of certain conditions, require the Group to purchase back any or all of its Series A Preferred Shares (“Put
option”); and the right to, upon the occurrence of certain conditions, purchase any or all of the Series A Preferred Shares
held by the Group at the price and on the terms pre-defined (“Call option”). The exercise price payable for each of the
option shares shall be the higher of, the original per share purchase price paid by QUALCOMM or the Group, increased at a
continuous compounded growth rate of ten percent (10%) per annum including the date of full payment of the option
price, as well as any declared and unpaid dividends accrued or accruing thereupon up until the date of redemption; and the
amount equivalent to the business valuation performed by an independent professional valuation company that is
mutually agreed upon by QUALCOMM and the Group, in proportion to QUALCOMM ‘s percentage of shareholding on a
fully-diluted as converted basis. The terms in the Agreement gives QUALCOMM the unconditional right to exercise its put
option at its discretion, and the Group is expected to absorb the majority losses in an expected loss calculation.
Accordingly, the Group is the primary beneficiary of Techsoft Holding.
Since the Group is the primary beneficiary of the variable interest entity (“VIE”) arrangement, it consolidates the VIE under
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 46(R), “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities-an interpretation of ARB No. 51”, which requires certain variable interest entities to be consolidated by the
primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity investors in the entity do not have characteristics of a controlling financial
interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated
financial support from other parties.
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CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — continued
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
1.

ORGANIZATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES — continued
The following financial statement amounts and balances of the Group’s VIE were included in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended:
2007

Total assets
Total liabilities

$
$

2006
Net revenue
Net loss

$
$

December 31,
2008

6,575
483

$
$

5,216
895

Years ended December 31,
2007
2008

—
(1,452)

$
$

—
(3,137)

$
$

155
(2,172)

Prior to 2006, the Group was principally engaged in the provision of customized handset design solutions, which span the
entire handset development cycle, from market and industry research, through detailed design and prototype testing, to
pilot production and production support. The Group designed handsets for use on Global System for Mobile
Communications (GSM)/General Packet Radio Services (GPRS), Code Division Multiple Access (CDMA) and Wideband
CDMA (WCDMA) networks based on major baseband technology platforms, including those developed by QUALCOMM,
Inc. (QUALCOMM), Philips AG and Texas Instruments, Inc. In 2006, the Group started to design and manufacture handsets
and smart phones through Electronics Manufacturing Service (“EMS”) providers for sales to mobile handset brand owners
and electronic products wholesale distributors. In 2008, the Group generated the majority of its revenue from sales of
products.
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of presentation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”).
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company, its subsidiaries and its variable
interest entity Techsoft Holding. All inter-company transactions and balances are eliminated upon consolidation.
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CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — continued
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued
Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Significant accounting estimates reflected in the Group’s financial statements include revenue
recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, provision for inventory write-down, provision for warranty, useful lives and
impairment for plant, machinery and equipment and intangible assets, share based compensation expense and valuation
allowance for deferred tax assets.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, demand deposits and highly liquid investments, which are unrestricted
as to withdrawal and use, and which have maturities of three months or less when purchased.
Restricted cash
The Group’s restricted cash is related to deposits required by banks for issuing letters of credit. The balance of restricted
cash was $3,389 and $162 as of December 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively.
Fair value
The Group adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS
157”) on January 1, 2008 for all financial assets and liabilities and nonfinancial assets and liabilities that are recognized or
disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually). SFAS 157 defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.
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CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — continued
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued
Fair value — continued
SFAS 157 defines fair value as the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When determining the fair value measurements
for assets and liabilities required or permitted to be recorded at fair value, the Group considers the principal or most
advantageous market in which it would transact and it considers assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability.
SFAS 157 establishes a fair value hierarchy that requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize
the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. A financial instrument’s categorization within the fair value
hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. SFAS 157 establishes
three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:
Level 1
Level 1 applies to assets or liabilities for which there are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2
Level 2 applies to assets or liabilities for which there are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for
identical assets or liabilities in markets with insufficient volume or infrequent transactions (less active markets); or modelderived valuations in which significant inputs are observable or can be derived principally from, or corroborated by,
observable market data.
Level 3
Level 3 applies to assets or liabilities for which there are unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are
significant to the measurement of the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
Notes receivable
Notes receivable represents bank acceptance drafts that are non-interest bearing and due within one year.
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CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — continued
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued
Inventories
Inventories of the Group consist of work in progress, raw materials and finished goods. Inventories are stated at the lower of
cost or market. Inventory costs include expenses that are directly or indirectly incurred in the acquisition, including
shipping and handling costs charged to us by suppliers, and production of manufactured products for sale. Expenses
include the cost of materials and supplies used in production, direct labor costs and allocated overhead costs such as
depreciation, insurance, employee benefits, and indirect labour. Cost is determined using the weighted average method.
Inventories are written down for provisions for obsolescence to net realizable value based upon estimates of future demand,
technology developments, and market conditions. These provisions charged to income were of $1,410 and $1,301 in 2007
and 2008, respectively.
Plant, machinery and equipment, net
Plant, machinery and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Assets under
construction are not depreciated until construction is completed and the assets are ready for their intended use.
Depreciation and amortization are calculated on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:

Office building
Plant and machinery
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles
Software
Leasehold improvements

48 years
4 years
4 years
4 years
3-4 years
Shorter of the lease terms or 4 years

Impairment of long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles
Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment and definite-lived intangible assets are stated at cost or fair value for
impaired assets. Depreciation and amortization is computed principally by the straight-line method.
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets”
(“SFAS 144”) requires that long-lived assets and intangible assets subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment
when certain indicators of impairment are present. Impairment exists if estimated future undiscounted cash flows associated
with long-lived assets are not sufficient to recover the carrying value of such assets. The long-lived assets are adjusted to
their respective fair values when impairment exists.
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CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — continued
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued
Impairment of long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles - continued
In light of the deteriorating economic environment in 2008, the Group assessed long-lived assets and intangible assets
subject to amortization for impairment. In assessing long-lived assets for an impairment loss, assets are grouped with other
assets and liabilities at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other
assets and liabilities. For each asset group, the Group compared the sum of the expected undiscounted future cash flows
from the use of the assets in each of the asset groups with the carrying amount of such assets. The expected future cash
flows of each of the asset groups are based on a financial projection management used for planning purpose. The expected
undiscounted future cash flows of three of the asset groups are less than the carrying amount of such assets. The Group then
wrote down the carrying amounts of assets in these three asset groups to their respective fair value. When estimating the
fair value of the asset, the Group considered “value in use” and “value in exchange”. Value in use of the asset was derived
through the application of income approach discounted cash flow method, while value in exchange was derived by
primarily using the cost approach as well as the market approach. According to the “high and best use” concept in SFAS
157, the Group used the higher of value in use or value in exchange to determine the fair value of the asset. The Group
recorded a total of $880 impairment of long-lived assets in 2008, including an impairment loss of $253 related to property
and equipment, and an impairment loss of $627 related to the identifiable intangible assets. The total impairment loss is in
the handset design segment.
During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, the Group recorded an impairment loss of $1,388 and $nil,
respectively.
Other acquired intangible assets, net
Other acquired intangible assets with definite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their expected useful
economic lives. The Group does not have intangible assets with indefinite useful lives.
Goodwill
The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired is recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as
goodwill.
The total carrying amount of goodwill $606 is allocated to product sales segment.
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CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — continued
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued
Goodwill — continued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”(“SFAS 142”) requires that
the goodwill impairment assessment be performed at the reporting unit level. The reporting units of the Group are
consistent with its three operating segments. The Group performed a goodwill impairment test at December 31, 2008. The
Group estimated the fair values of the reporting units primarily using the income approach valuation methodology that
includes the discounted cash flow method, taking into consideration the market approach and certain market multiples as a
validation of the values derived using the discounted cash flow methodology. The discounted cash flows for each
reporting unit were based on discrete five year financial forecasts developed by management for planning purposes. Cash
flows beyond the four year and discrete forecast were estimated using a terminal value calculation, which incorporated
historical and forecasted financial trends for each reporting unit and considered long-term earnings growth rates for
publicly traded peer companies. Publicly available information regarding the market capitalization of the Group was also
considered in assessing the reasonableness of the cumulative fair values of our reporting units estimated using the
discounted cash flow methodology. During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, no goodwill impairment
loss was recorded.
Long-term investments
A company that is not consolidated, but over which the Group exercises significant influence, is accounted for under the
equity method of accounting. Whether or not the Group exercises significant influence with respect to an affiliate depends
on an evaluation of several factors including, among others, representation on the affiliated company’s board of directors
and ownership level, which is generally a 20% to 50% interest in the voting securities of the affiliated company. Under the
equity method of accounting, the affiliated company’s accounts are not reflected within the Group’s consolidated balance
sheets and statements of operations; however, the Group’s share of the earnings or losses of the affiliated company is
reflected in the caption “Equity in loss of an affiliate” in the consolidated statements of operations. The Group’s carrying
value in equity method affiliated companies was $nil as of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 (see Note 9).
When the Group’s carrying value in an equity method affiliated company is reduced to zero, no further losses are recorded
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements unless the Group guaranteed obligations of the affiliated company or has
committed additional funding. When the affiliated company subsequently reports income, the Group will not record its
share of such income until it equals the amount of its share of losses not previously recognized. The investment losses
generated from equity method investment for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 were $393, $851 and
$nil, respectively.
Deferred revenue
Deferred revenue represents design fee advances received from customers immediately after the design contracts are
executed. Such advances are not recognized as design fee revenue until a pre-agreed milestone has been reached.
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CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — continued
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued
Revenue recognition
The Group’s revenues are derived from sales of products and mobile handset design service. Revenue from handset design
services comprises design fee, royalty income, component sales and service income. Product sales include smart phones,
feature phones, wireless modules and other electronics components for mobile handsets.
(1) Handset design services
Design fee
Design fee is a fixed amount paid in instalments according to pre-agreed milestones. In general, three milestones are
identified in the Group’s design contracts with customers. When the mobile handset design receives the approval verifying
its conformity with applicable industry standards, in the case of GSM-based handsets, the full type approval, or FTA, for its
conformity with GSM standards, the Group achieves the first milestone with respect to the design. When the mobile
handset design receives regulatory approval for its use in the intended country, in the case of China, a China type
approval, or CTA, the Group achieves the second milestone. When the customer accepts the mobile handset design and is
ready to begin mass production of mobile handsets based on the Group’s design, the Group achieves the last milestone,
which the Group refers to as shipping acceptance, or SA. The handset design process normally includes hardware, software,
mechanical engineering design, testing and quality assurance, pilot production, production support and other incidental
support requested by customers. Because the software element of the handset has been deemed more than incidental for the
handset design process taken as a whole, the Company recognizes revenues in accordance with Statement of Position
(“SOP”) 97-2. The handset design process requires significant production, development and customization of software,
accordingly, as prescribed by SOP97-2 revenue is recognized using the percentage of completion method in accordance
with SOP81-1, “Accounting for Performance of Construction Type and Certain Performance Type Contracts”. The Group
recognizes revenue only upon achievement of each milestone (i.e. FTA, CTA and SA), which is consistent with the use of
an output measure. The milestones can vary depending on the customers’ requirements. The percentage of completion
designated for each milestone, however, is the percentage that would be obtained by using an input measure (i.e. labor
hours and other relevant costs incurred). The Group believes that designating the percentage of completion for each
milestone based on labour hours and other relevant costs incurred, as opposed to by reference to the amounts that become
billable at the milestone, is more reflective of the progress completed through the date of the milestone. In the event that a
milestone has not been reached, the associated cost is deferred and revenue is not recognized until the milestone has been
achieved and/or accepted by the customer.
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CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — continued
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued
Revenue recognition - continued
Design fee — continued
In 2006, the Group began to expand its international customer base by developing handsets on new technology platforms.
These international customers might not subject to the PRC certification standards mentioned above, namely FTA and
CTA, but the pre-agreed milestones stipulated by contract, such as engineering prototype or EP, semi-production or SP and
pilot production or PP. Achievement of these milestones is verified by customers before revenue is recognized.
Royalty income
In addition to design fee, the Group also charge royalty to certain customers. The royalty is calculated at a variable rate
based on the volume of mobile handsets manufactured or sold by a customer. Royalty income is recognized when the
confirmation of manufacturing or selling volume is obtained from customers.
Component sales related to design
After the Group have delivered design products to its customers, customers are required to purchase certain components
(such as chips used in mobile handsets) through the Group to manufacture the designed products. As the component sales
is built into the design contracts, the Group includes these component sales in the design contract related revenue rather
than product sales. The Group recognizes the net revenue for component sales when the components are delivered and the
legal title directly pass from the suppliers to customers.
Service income
The Group provides mobile handset testing services to other handset manufactures. Service income is recognized when
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the fee is fixed or determinable, collection is reasonably assured, and in the
period in which performance has occurred.
(2) Product sales
Revenue from sales of products, including feature phones and smart phones designed by the Group and manufactured by
EMS providers, wireless modules as well as other electronic components is recognized when persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, the fee is fixed or determinable, collection is reasonably assured, and in the period in which delivery or
performance has occurred.
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COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — continued
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued
Product warranty
The Group’s product warranty relates to the provision of bug fixing services to Group’s designed mobile handset for a
period of one to three years commencing upon the mass production of the mobile handset, and warranties to the Group’s
customers on the sales of products. Accordingly, the Group’s product warranty accrual reflects management’s best estimate
of probable liability under its product warranties. Management determines the warranty based on historical experience and
other currently available evidence.
2006

Year ended December 31,
2007
2008

Balance at beginning of year
Current period provision
Utilized during the year
Exchange difference

$

1,643
2,004
(2,401)
4

$

1,250
1,103
(730)
49

$

1,672
1,067
(1,061)
55

Balance at end of year

$

1,250

$

1,672

$

1,733
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COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — continued
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued
Government subsidies and grants
Some local governments in PRC give subsidies to companies as an incentive to establish business in its jurisdiction. These
government subsidies are recognized as subsidy income when they are received as the Group does not have further
obligation to earn this subsidy. The Group recorded government subsidy income of $180, $387 and $2,318 for the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively for this type of government subsidy.
The Group also receives government grants as compensation of performing government endorsed projects. The grants are
refundable until the Group achieves certain performance measures. These government grants are recorded as a liability
until earned. The Group recognizes these grants as subsidy income once it completes the relevant projects and achieves the
performance measures. The Group recorded a government subsidy income of $nil, $1,347 and $763 for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively for this type of government grants. The amount of $746 and $246 is
recorded as a liability on the balance sheet as of December 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively.
The Group recorded total government subsidy income of US$180, $1,734 and $3,081 for the years ended December 31,
2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.
Research and development costs
Research and development expenses are incurred in the development of handset design and wireless software application.
Technological feasibility for the Group’s internally developed products is reached shortly before the products are released
to customers. Costs incurred after technological feasibility has historically been immaterial. Accordingly, the Group has
expensed all research and development costs when incurred.
Advertising costs
The Group expenses advertising costs as incurred. Total advertising expenses were $227, $300 and $750 in 2006, 2007
and 2008, respectively, and have been included as part of selling and marketing expenses.
Foreign currency translation
The functional currency of the Group’s subsidiaries established in PRC is Renminbi (“RMB”). Transactions denominated
in currencies other than RMB are translated into RMB at the exchange rates quoted by the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York at the balance sheet dates. The resulting exchange differences are included in the statement of operations.
The Company has determined that the U.S. dollar is its functional and reporting currency. Accordingly, assets and
liabilities are translated using exchange rates in effect at each year end and average exchange rates are used for the
consolidated statements of operations. Translation adjustments resulting from translation of these consolidated financial
statements are reflected as accumulated other comprehensive income included in the shareholders’ equity.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — continued
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued
Income taxes
Deferred income taxes are provided using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred income taxes are
recognized for tax credits and net operating losses available for carry-forwards and significant temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as current or non-current based upon the classification of the related asset or
liability in the financial statements or the expected timing of their reversal if they do not relate to a specific asset or
liability. A valuation allowance is provided to reduce the amount of deferred tax assets if it is considered more likely than
not that some portion of, or all of, the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Current income taxes are provided for in
accordance with the laws and regulations applicable to the Group as enacted by the relevant tax authorities.
In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”), “Accounting
for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109”. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition
threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return. The Group has adopted FIN 48 with effect from January 1, 2007. The adoption of FIN
48 had no significant impact on the Group’s accounting for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2007 and
December 31, 2008. The Group did not incur any interest and penalties related to potential underpaid income tax
expenses.
Value added tax (“VAT”) and VAT refund
VAT on sales is calculated at 17% on revenue from product and component sales and paid after deducting input VAT on
purchases. Net VAT balance between input VAT and output VAT is reflected in the account other taxes payable or
receivable.
For products sold to overseas customers by PRC entities, the Group can pay VAT at 17% first and then receive a refund of
13% for module sales and 17% for other products sales after it is paid. The Group records VAT refund receivables on
accrual basis. VAT refund is recorded as other current assets on the consolidated balance sheets. The Group reports revenue
net of VAT.
Business taxes
The Group’s PRC subsidiaries and VIE are subject to business taxes at the rate of 5% on certain types of services and the
related revenues are presented net of business taxes incurred. The Group reports revenue net of business taxes. Business
taxes deducted in arriving net revenue during 2006, 2007, and 2008 totalled $119, $194 and $302, respectively.
Comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) includes net income (loss) and foreign currency translation adjustments. Comprehensive
income (loss) for the years presented has been disclosed within the consolidated statement of shareholders’ equity and
comprehensive income (loss).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — continued
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued
Financial instruments
Financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and put
option. The carrying values of all of these financial instruments approximate or are equivalent to their fair values due to
the short-term nature of these instruments. The Group does not use derivative instruments to manage risks.
Concentration of credit risk
Financial instruments that potentially expose the Group to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash
equivalents, and accounts receivable. The Group places its cash and cash equivalents with financial institutions with highcredit ratings and quality.
The Group conducts credit evaluations of customers and generally does not require collateral or other security from its
customers; however, upfront deposit based on a portion of the design fee under the contract will generally be required to be
received when the design contract is entered into. The Group establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts primarily
based upon the age of the receivables and factors surrounding the credit risk of specific customers. Information relating to
the Group’s major customers is summarized in Note 19.
Share-based compensation
Share-based payment transactions with employees, such as share options and nonvested shares, are measured based on the
grant-date fair value of the equity instrument issued in accordance with SFAS 123(R) Share-Based Payment, and
recognized as compensation expense over the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange
for the award, which generally is the vesting period, based on graded vesting attribution method, with a corresponding
impact reflected in additional paid-in capital.
Net income (loss) per share
Basic net income (loss) per ordinary share is computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income (loss) per ordinary
share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue ordinary shares were exercised
or converted into ordinary shares. Ordinary share equivalents are excluded from the computation of the diluted net loss per
share in periods when their effect would be anti-dilutive.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued
Recently issued accounting pronouncements
In September 2006, FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 157, “Fair Value
Measurements” (“SFAS 157”). Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the measurement and disclosure other than
those requirements related to nonfinancial assets and liabilities in accordance with guidance from FASB Staff Position
157-2, “Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157,” which delayed the effective date of SFAS 157 for all nonfinancial
assets and nonfinancial liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements
on a recurring basis (at least annually), until the beginning of fiscal year 2009. The Group does not expect the adoption of
SFAS 157 for nonfinancial assets and liabilities will have a significant effect on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
On April 9, 2009, the FASB issued the FASB Staff Position FSP FAS 157-4, Determining Fair Value When the Volume and
Level of Activity for the Asset or Liability Have Significant Decreased and Identifying Transactions That Are Not Orderly.
This statement provides additional guidance for estimating fair value measurement in accordance with FAS 157 when the
volume and level of activity for the asset or liability have significantly decreased and provides guidance on identifying
circumstances that indicate a transaction is not orderly. It emphasizes that despite significant decreases in volume and
level of activity and regardless of the valuation technique(s) used for the asset or liability, the fair value measurement stays
the same. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction (that is, not a forced liquidation or distressed sale) between market participants at the measurement date under
current market conditions. This issue is effective prospectively for interim and annual periods ending after June 15, 2009.
Early adoption is permitted for periods ending after March 15, 2009. The Group is in the process of assessing the potential
impact the adoption of FSP FAS157-4 may have on its consolidated financial position or results of operations.
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations: (Revised 2007) (“SFAS 141R”). SFAS 141R is
relevant to all transactions or events in which one entity obtains control over one or more other businesses. SFAS 141R
requires an acquirer to recognize any assets and noncontrolling interest acquired and liabilities assumed to be measured at
fair value as of the acquisition date. Liabilities related to contingent consideration are recognized and measured at fair
value on the date of acquisition rather than at a later date when the amount of the consideration may be resolved beyond a
reasonable doubt. This revised approach replaces SFAS 141’s cost allocation process in which the cost of an acquisition
was allocated to the individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their respective fair value. SFAS 141R
requires any acquisition-related costs and restructuring costs to be expensed as incurred as opposed to allocating such
costs to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as previously required by SFAS 141. Under SFAS 141R, an acquirer
recognizes liabilities for a restructuring plan in purchase accounting only if the requirements of SFAS 146, Accounting for
Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities, are met. SFAS 141R allows for the recognition of pre-acquisition
contingencies at fair value only if these contingencies are likely to materialize. If this criterion is not met at the acquisition
date, then the acquirer accounts for the non-contractual contingency in accordance with recognition criteria set forth under
SFAS 5, Accounting for Contingencies, in which case no amount should be recognized in purchase accounting. SFAS
141R is effective as of the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after December 15, 2008. The Group does
not expect the adoption of SFAS 141R will have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued
Recently issued accounting pronouncements - continued
On April 1, 2009, the FASB issued FSP FAS 141(R)-1, which amends the guidance in FASB Statement No. 141(R),
Business Combinations, to establish a model for pre-acquisition contingencies that is similar to the one entities used under
Statement 141. The FSP is effective for business combinations whose acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the
first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008. The Group is in the process of assessing the
potential impact the adoption of FSP FAS 141(R)-1 may have on its consolidated financial position or results of
operations.
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements — An
Amendment of ARB No. 51 (“SFAS 160”). This Statement amends ARB 51 to establish accounting and reporting standards
for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. It clarifies that a noncontrolling
interest in a subsidiary is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity and should be reported as equity on the financial
statements. SFAS 160 requires consolidated net income to be reported at amounts that include the amounts attributable to
both the parent and the noncontrolling interest. Furthermore, disclosure of the amounts of consolidated net income
attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest is required on the face of the financial statements. SFAS 160 is
effective as of the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after December 15, 2008. Upon the adoption of SFAS
160, the Group reclassified the minority interest balance to the shareholder’s equity on January 1, 2009.
In April 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position FAS142-3, Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets. This
FSP amends the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the
useful life of a recognized intangible asset under FASB Statement No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. This FSP
is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early
adoption is prohibited. The guidance for determining the useful life of a recognized intangible asset in this FSP shall be
applied prospectively to intangible assets acquired after the effective date. The Group is in the process of assessing the
potential impact the adoption of FSP 142-3 may have on its consolidated financial position or results of operations.
In June 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position EITF 03-6-1, Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based
Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities. This FSP gives guidance on the computation of earnings per share and
the impact of share-based instruments that contain certain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents. The
FSP is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2008 and early application is prohibited. The Group is in the
process of assessing the potential impact the adoption of FSP 03-6-1 may have on its consolidated financial position or
results of operations.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued
Recently issued accounting pronouncements - continued
At a November 24, 2008 meeting, the FASB ratified the consensus reached by the Task Force in Issue No. 08-6: Equity
Method Investment Accounting Considerations (“EITF 08-6”). Because of the significant changes to the guidance on
subsidiary acquisitions and subsidiary equity transactions and the increased use of fair value measurements as a result of
Statements 141(R) and 160, questions have arisen regarding the application of that accounting guidance to equity method
investments. EITF 08-6 provides guidance for entities that acquire or hold investments accounted for under the equity
method. This issue is effective for transactions occurring in fiscal years and interim periods beginning on or after
December 15, 2008. Early adoption is not permitted. The Group does not expect the adoption of EITF 08-6 will have
significant impact on its consolidated financial position or results of operations.
On April 9, 2009, the FASB issued the FASB Staff Position FSP FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2, Recognition and Presentation
of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments (“OTTI”). This Statement amends the OTTI guidance for debt securities to make the
guidance more operational and to improve the presentation and disclosure of OTTI on debt and equity securities in the
financial statements. This FSP does not amend existing recognition and measurement guidance related to OTTI of equity
securities. It gives guidance on the evaluating whether an impairment of a debt security is other-than-temporary and the
determination of Amount of an OTTI recognized in earnings and other comprehensive income. The Group is in the process
of assessing the potential impact the adoption of FSP FAS115-2 and FAS 124-2 may have on its consolidated financial
position or results of operations.
On June 12, 2009, the FASB issued SFAS 166, Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets (“SFAS 166”). SFAS 166
amends the derecognition guidance in Statement 140 and eliminates the exemption from consolidation for qualifying
special-purpose entities (QSPEs). As a result, a transferor will need to evaluate all existing QSPEs to determine whether
they must now be consolidated in accordance with Statement 167. Statement 166 is effective is for financial asset transfers
occurring after the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after November 15, 2009. The Group is in the
process of assessing the potential impact the adoption of SFAS 166 may have on its consolidated financial position or
results of operations.
On June 12, 2009, the FASB issued SFAS 167, Amendments to FASB Interpretation No. 46(R) (“SFAS 167”). SFAS 167
amends the consolidation guidance applicable to variable interest entities. The amendments will significantly affect the
overall consolidation analysis under Interpretation 46(R). While the Board’s discussion leading up to the issuance of
Statement 167 focused extensively on structured finance entities, the amendments to the consolidation guidance affect all
entities and enterprises currently within the scope of Interpretations 46(R), as well as QSPEs that are currently excluded
from the scope of Interpretation 46(R). The Statement is effective as of the beginning of the first fiscal year that begins after
November 15, 2009. The Group is in the process of assessing the potential impact the adoption of SFAS 167 may have on
its consolidated financial position or results of operations.
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3.

ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL EQUITY INTEREST OF STEP TECHNOLOGIES
On March 31, 2007, the Group acquired an additional 30% equity interest in STEP Technologies, a subsidiary of the
Group. The fair value of equity interest of STEP Technologies was determined after considering a number of factors,
including the result of a third-party appraisal by American Appraisal Limited. Upon the completion of the transaction, the
Group’s total equity interest in STEP Technologies increased from 70% to 100%. The acquired net assets were recorded at
their fair market value at the date of acquisition. The net book value of the minority interest in STEP Technologies on the
date of acquisition totalled $983, which was acquired by the Group for $1,361 in cash. The following table summarizes the
estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the acquisition of 30% equity interest in STEP
Technologies:

Assets acquired
Current assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill

$

693
777
600

Total assets acquired

$

2,070

Liabilities assumed
Current liability
Non-current liability

$

623
86

Total liabilities assumed

$

709

Net assets acquired

$

1,361

The following unaudited pro forma information summarizes the results of operations for the Group as if the acquisition of
the additional 30% interest of STEP Technologies had occurred as of January 1, 2006 and 2007, respectively. The
following pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of the results that would have occurred had the
acquisition been completion at the beginning of the periods indicated, nor is it indicative of future operating results:
December 31,
2006
2007
(Unaudited)
(Unaudited)
Total revenue
Net loss

$
$

80,804
(10,182)

$
$

143,444
(3,552)

Net loss per share
- Basic
- Diluted

$
$

(0.02)
(0.02)

$
$

(0.01)
(0.01)
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4.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Accounts receivable consists of the following:
December 31,
2007
2008

Billed receivables
Unbilled receivables

$

38,822
1,192

$

31,628
6,176

$

40,014

$

37,804

Unbilled receivables represent amounts earned under design service contracts in progress but not billable at the respective
balance sheet dates. These amounts become billable according to the contract terms, which usually consider the
achievement of certain milestones or completion of the project. The Group anticipates that substantially all of such
unbilled amounts will be billed and collected within twelve months of balance sheet date.
Movement of allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows:
December 31,
2007

2006

2008

Balance at beginning of year
Charge to expenses
Utilized during the year
Exchange difference

$

678
3,744
—
26

$

4,448
44
(946)
292

$

3,838
2,996
—
294

Balance at end of year

$

4,448

$

3,838

$

7,128

5.

INVENTORIES
Inventories consist of the following:
December 31,
2007
2008

Work in progress
Raw materials
Finished goods

$

714
46,670
3,379

$

1,055
31,037
5,671

Inventories, net

$

50,763

$

37,763
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6.

PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following:
December 31,
2007
2008

Prepaid testing and tooling fee
Prepaid software license fee
Prepaid commercial insurance
Interest receivable
Staff advances
Deposits
Social insurance borne by employees
Value added taxes recoverable
Advance to EMS providers
Other prepaid and current assets

7.

$

465
660
100
522
464
819
712
2,788
3,204
382

$

716
514
68
403
437
621
—
4,207
2,257
780

$

10,116

$

10,003

PLANT, MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Plant, machinery and equipment, net consist of the following:
December 31,
2007
2008

Construction in progress
Office building
Leasehold improvements
Motor vehicles
Plant and machinery
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Software

$

Less: Accumulated depreciation

Less: Impairment of long-lived assets
Plant, machinery and equipment, net

$

—
17,602
2,605
775
12,563
5,712
6,930

$

23,458
19,245
2,716
721
13,500
5,504
7,587

46,187
(17,912)

72,731
(24,353)

28,275
—

48,378
(253)

28,275

$

48,125

The Group paid deposits for acquisitions of plant, machinery and equipment, amounted to $5,905, $10,177 and $nil as of
December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. The Group recognized $1,388, $nil and $253 of impairment loss for the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. The Group recorded depreciation expenses of $7,163,
$7,145 and $6,103 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.
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8.

ACQUIRED INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET
Acquired intangible assets, net consist of the following:
December 31,
2007

Cost
Accumulated amortization

$

2,494
(848)

2008
$

1,646
—

Less: impairment of long-lived assets
Acquired intangible assets, net

$

1,646

3,134
(1,586)
1,548
(627)

$

921

The Group acquired software licenses from third parties, which are amortized over the shorter of the useful economic life of
the relevant technology platform or the license period, which is 2 to 5 years. The Group acquired software licenses of $nil,
$1,567 and $689 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.
The Group had recorded amortization expenses of $381, $276 and $794 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and
2008, respectively.
The Group recognized impairment loss of $nil, $nil and $627 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008,
respectively.
9.

LONG-TERM INVESTMENT
On July 12, 2005, CK Techfaith Communication Technology Limited (“CK Techfaith”) was established by Techfaith BVI
and CK Telecom Inc. in BVI. CK Techfaith’s registered capital is $2,735, of which Techfaith BVI and CK Telecom Inc.
injected $1,243 and $1,492 in March 2006, and owns 45% and 55% equity interest, respectively. CK Techfaith is
principally engaged in the provision of customized handset design solutions. CK Techfaith was accounted for as an equity
method investment.
The Group invested in CK Techfaith in early 2006 and its primary purpose was to undertake research and development in
relation to mobile handset technology. To that end, it acquired some know-how in return for a payment to a third party of
$622 in 2006 and hired a number of research staff through its newly incorporated subsidiary in the PRC.
As an entity that was initially engaged in research only, it incurred operating losses. By the first quarter of 2007 CK
Techfaith had used the initial cash invested by the two shareholders who determined that they would not provide further
funding (and Techfaith BVI had no obligation to do so). CK Techfaith then determined that the acquired know-how was
impaired and wrote that down to nil.
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9.

LONG-TERM INVESTMENT — continued
The two shareholders further determined at the time to cease operations and CK Techfaith was deleted from the Register of
Companies in the British Virgin Islands on May 1, 2007. The PRC subsidiary stopped operation as of April 30, 2007 and
the remaining employees transferred to CK Telecom Inc.
The Group presents below summarized financial information in relation to CK Techfaith:
Summarized financial information for CK Techfaith
As of December
31, 2006

As of May 1, 2007
(Note 1)

Current assets
Non-current assets

$

1,272
622

$

—
—

Total assets

$

1,894

$

—

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

$

1
—

$

—
—

Total liabilities

$

1

$

—

Net sales
R&D expense
Impairment of know-how

For the year ended
December 31, 2006

For 4
months ended
May 1, 2007

$

$

Total expenses

—
872
—
(872)

Net loss

$

Note 1: CK Techfaith ceased operation as of May 1, 2007.
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(872)

—
1,340
553
(1,893)

$

(1,893)
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9.

LONG-TERM INVESTMENT — continued
Long-term investment in an affiliate — CK Techfaith

Balance as of January 1, 2007
Exchange difference
Investment cost
Less: equity in loss of an affiliate

$

850
1
—
(851)

Balance as of December 31, 2007

$

—

On March 15, 2007, BYTE Holding Ltd. (“BYTE”) was established by Techfaith BVI and BYD Co., Ltd. (“BYD”) in BVI.
BYTE’s registered capital is $2,724, of which Techfaith BVI and BYD injected $nil and $2,724, and owns 31% and 69%
equity interest, respectively. BYTE is principally engaged in providing one-stop EMS to global leading handset
customers. BYTE was accounted for as an equity method investment. As of December 31, 2008, Techfaith BVI had not
injected capital in BYTE and BYTE was in an operating loss. Accordingly, Techfaith BVI recognized the share of losses by
reducing the investment held in Techfaith BVI as zero. Since the Group has no obligation to fund BYTE’s loss, the Group
did not record its share of BYTE’s result.
On July 20, 2007, the Company and Arasor International Group (“Arasor”) jointly formed a company named Joined Fame
Technology Limited (“Joined Fame”) in BVI to expand the wireless handset opportunities in the world’s emerging
markets. As of December 31, 2008, both the Company and Arasor had not injected capital in Joined Fame and Joined Fame
had not started its business.
10. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following:
December 31,
2007
2008
Accrued professional fees
Accrued facility fee
Accrued wages
Warranty provision
Business tax, value added tax and other tax payables
Accrued testing fee
Government grants
Rental payable
Social insurance payables
Customer deposits for minimum purchase
Accrued royalty and license fee
Others
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$

1,122
346
2,404
1,672
474
1,367
746
114
3,319
294
1,755
638

$

620
299
822
1,733
1,584
1,325
246
80
162
315
992
896

$

14,251

$

9,074
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11. RESTRUCTURE PLAN
During 2008, the Group approved and announced to employees a restructure plan to streamline its business processes. This
plan included the termination of 841 employees. This plan was completed in 2008 and resulted in restructuring charges,
including $3,419 reflected in the general and administrative expenses for employee severance and benefits in compliance
with the New Labor Law of the PRC. The office building where the terminated employees used to work is owned by the
Group. The Group assessed the fair value of the office building and determined that there was no impairment of the
carrying amount of the building as of December 31, 2008. In March 2009, the Group relocated to another building in
Beijing Economic-Technological Development Area so it can lease out its previous office building.
12. INCOME TAXES
The Company is a tax exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
Under the current BVI law, income from Techfaith BVI, Great Earnest, Leo Technology, Finest Technology, Infoexcel
Technology, Boost Time, Charm Faith and Fair Nice is not subject to taxation.
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2008 on the basis that
Techfaith HK did not have any assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong for the years.
No provision for United States federal and state income taxes was made for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2008
on the basis that Techfaith U.S. did not have any assessable profits for the years.
The subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are generally subject to a corporate income tax rate of 25% except for those
subsidiaries that enjoy tax holidays or preferential tax treatment, as discussed below.
On March 16, 2007, the National People’s Congress adopted the Enterprise Income Tax Law (the “EIT Law”), which
became effective on January 1, 2008. Prior to December 31, 2008, Techfaith China and Techfaith Intelligent Handset
Beijing applied for High and New Technology Enterprises (“HNTE”) status that would allow for a reduced applicable tax
rate under EIT Law. The official HNTE certificates were issued to Techfaith China and Techfaith Intelligent Handset
Beijing on December 24, 2008. While the certificates are valid for three years, we believe we will be able to reapply
successfully for the renewal of the current certificates as we believe we will continue to meet the published criteria.
Techfaith China and Techfaith Intelligent Handset Beijing have used the reduced applicable tax rate in calculations of
deferred tax balances for the foreseeable future.
Techfaith Shanghai is qualified as a “productive enterprise” and has been agreed by the relevant tax authorities for a twoyear exemption from income tax in 2005 and 2006, followed by a 50% reduction in tax rates for the succeeding three years
in 2007, 2008 and 2009.
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12. INCOME TAXES — continued
Techfaith Shenzhen is also qualified as a “productive enterprise” and has been agreed by the relevant tax authorities to be
entitled to a two-year exemption from income tax in 2007 and 2008, followed by a 50% reduction in tax rate for
succeeding three years in 2009, 2010 and 2011.
Techfaith Hangzhou, is also a qualified as “productive enterprise” and has been agreed by the relevant tax authorities to be
entitled to a two-year exemption from income tax in 2007 and 2008, followed by a 50% reduction in tax rate for
succeeding three years in 2009, 2010 and 2011.
Techfaith Software (China) Limited (“Techsoft China”), a 100% owned subsidiary of Techsoft Holding is qualified as a
“productive enterprise” and has been agreed by the relevant tax authorities to be entitled to a two-year exemption from
income tax in 2008 and 2009, followed by a 50% reduction in tax rate for succeeding three years in 2010, 2011 and 2012.
Techfaith Shenyang, Step Technologies and One Net are subject to the corporate income tax rate of 25% on the PRC
taxable income.
The EIT Law includes a provision specifying that legal entities organized outside China will be considered residents for
Chinese income tax purposes if their place of effective management or control is within China. If legal entities organized
outside China were considered residents for Chinese income tax purpose, they would become subject to the EIT Law on
their worldwide income. This would cause any income legal entities organized outside China earned to be subject to
China’s 25% EIT. The Implementation Rules to EIT Law provide that non-resident legal entities will be considered China
residents if substantial and overall management and control over the manufacturing and business operations, personnel,
accounting, properties, etc. resides within China. Pursuant to the additional guidance released by the Chinese government
on April 22, 2009, management does not believe that the legal entities organized outside China should be characterized as
China tax residents for EIT Law purposes.
Under the PRC tax laws effective prior to January 1, 2008, dividends paid to foreign investors by foreign-invested
enterprises, such as dividends paid to the overseas holding companies by the PRC subsidiaries, were exempt from PRC
withholding tax. Under the EIT Law and its implementation rules which became effective on January 1, 2008, dividends
generated after January 1, 2008 and payable by a foreign-invested enterprise in China to its foreign investors who are nonresident enterprises are subject to a 10% withholding tax, unless any such foreign investor’s jurisdiction of incorporation
has a tax treaty with China that provides for a different withholding arrangement.
Aggregate undistributed earnings of the Company’s subsidiaries located in the PRC that are taxable upon distribution to
the Company of approximately $88,673 at December 31, 2008 are considered to be indefinitely reinvested under APB
opinion No. 23, Accounting for Income Taxes-Special Areas, because the Group does not have any present plan to pay any
cash dividends on its ordinary shares in the foreseeable future and intends to retain most of its available funds and any
future earnings for use in the operation and expansion of its business. Accordingly, no deferred tax liability has been
accrued for the Chinese dividend withholding taxes that would be payable upon the distribution of those amounts to the
Company as of December 31, 2008.
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12. INCOME TAXES — continued
Under applicable accounting principles, a deferred tax liability should be recorded for taxable temporary differences
attributable to the excess of carrying amount over tax basis, including those differences attributable to a more than 50%
interest in a domestic subsidiary. However, recognition is not required in situations where the tax law provides a means by
which reported amount of that investment can be recovered tax-free and the enterprise expects that it will ultimately use
that means.
The Group has only one VIE which is Techsoft Holding. The Group has not recorded any such deferred tax liability
attributable to the financial interest in Techsoft Holding because Techsoft Holding was in an accumulated loss position as
of December 31, 2008.
The current and deferred components of the income tax expense appearing in the consolidated statements of operation are
as follows:
2006
Current tax
Deferred tax

$
$

Year ended December 31,
2007
100
—
100

$
$

6
—
6

$
$

2008
36
(129)
(93)

The principal components of the Group’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
Year ended December 31,
2007
2008
Deferred tax assets:
Depreciation and amortization
Expenditure deductible for tax purpose in future years
- warranty provision
- bad debts provision
- inventory provision
Deferred revenue
Net operating loss carry forwards

$

Total gross deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Total net deferred tax assets

$

F-33

754

$

827

72
194
36
991
6,872

91
705
120
219
7,077

8,919
(8,919)

9,039
(8,907)

—

$

132
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12. INCOME TAXES — continued
Year ended December 31,
2007
2008
Current deferred tax assets
Non-current deferred tax assets

$

—
—

$

83
49

Total net deferred tax assets

$

—

$

132

As of December 31, 2008, operating loss carry forwards amounted to $36,098 which will begin to expire in 2013. The
Group determines whether not a valuation allowance is required at the level of each taxable entity. The greater part of
deferred tax assets arise in companies which are not expected to have any significant taxable income in the foreseeable
future and consequently a full provision has been made in respect of those. In the future, the majority of the Group’s
taxable income is expected to be generated by Techfaith Intelligent Handset Beijing and Techfaith Hangzhou. Techfaith
Hangzhou does not have a significant amount of deferred tax assets. Techfaith Intelligent Handset Beijing has deferred tax
assets of $878. Because of the difficulty of forecasting future taxable income in the present market conditions and having
regard to the ways in which the Group’s business has changed, the Group believes a conservative forecast of future taxable
income is appropriate in respect of that entity based on the projected taxable income for the next five years and
accordingly has made a valuation allowance of 85% in respect of its deferred tax assets. The total valuation allowance
recorded in 2008 is $8,907 for various deferred tax assets including operating loss carry forwards.
Reconciliation between the provision for income tax computed by PRC enterprise income tax rate of 25% or 33% to
income before income taxes and actual provision for income taxes is as follows:
2006
Tax provision at PRC enterprise income tax rate of 25% or 33%
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Tax exemption granted to PRC subsidiaries
Effect of the different income tax rates in other jurisdiction
Tax effect of income tax at different rates
Changes in valuation allowances

$

$

Year ended December 31,
2007
2008

(3,336)
245
(2,331)
(2,322)
9,058
(1,214)
100

$

$

(1,477)
71
(3,339)
597
11,616
(7,462)
6

$

1,846
1,262
(6,701)
2,235
1,253
12

$

(93)

Without the tax exemption granted to PRC subsidiaries, income tax expense would have been increased by approximately
$2,331, $3,339 and $6,701 for the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively, representing a decrease in
the basic and diluted earnings per share of $0.01, $0.01 and $0.01, for the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008,
respectively.
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13. PUT OPTION LIABILITY
In March 2006, the Group entered into Series A Preferred Shares Purchase and Sell Agreement (“the Agreement”) with
QUALCOMM to establish a 70%-owned subsidiary, Techsoft Holding (“Techsoft”), which engaged in the business of
developing software applications for wireless communication devices. The Group and QUALCOMM subscribed 70% and
30% of the issued series A preferred shares of Techsoft Holding, respectively. QUALCOMM is granted the right to, upon
the occurrence of certain conditions, require the Group to purchase back any or all of its Series A Preferred Shares (“Put
option”); and the right to, upon the occurrence of certain conditions, purchase any or all of the Series A Preferred Shares
held by the Group at the price and on the terms pre-defined (“Call option”). The exercise price payable for each of the
option shares shall be the higher of, the original per share purchase price paid by QUALCOMM or the Group, increased at a
continuous compounded growth rate of ten percent (10%) per annum including the date of full payment of the option
price, as well as any declared and unpaid dividends accrued or accruing thereupon up until the date of redemption; and the
amount equivalent to the business valuation performed by an independent professional valuation company that is
mutually agreed upon by QUALCOMM and the Group, in proportion to QUALCOMM ‘s percentage of shareholding on a
fully-diluted as converted basis.
The exercise price of the put option is the higher of a) calculated value (the “calculated value”), which is defined as the
original per share purchase price paid by QUALCOMM increased at a continuous compounded growth rate of ten percent
(10%) per annum including the date of full payment of the option price, as well as any declared and unpaid dividends
accrued or accruing thereupon up until the date of redemption; and b) fair value, which is defined as the amount equivalent
to the business valuation of Techsoft performed by an independent professional valuation company that is mutually
agreed upon by QUALCOMM and the Group, in proportion to QUALCOMM ‘s percentage of shareholding on a fullydiluted as converted basis.
As the valuation of the put option is based on the valuation of Techsoft, a nonpublic company, it requires significant
management judgment due to the absence of quoted market prices, and the lack of observable inputs. As a result, the
Company has determined that the fair value of the put option is classified as Level 3 valuation within the fair value
hierarchy under SFAS 157.
The fair value of Techsoft common share is determined using the income approach valuation methodology that includes
discounted cash flows of Techsoft. The discounted cash flows were based on discrete four-year forecast developed by
management for planning purposes, discounted at 25%. The fair value of Techsoft’s common shares as of December 31,
2008 is less than the calculated value and therefore, the value of the put option is based on the difference between the
calculated value and the fair value of the common shares of Techsoft, having regard to the probability of Qualcomm
exercising the option.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the put option measured at fair value, on a recurring basis, using
Level 3 inputs follows:
Balance at beginning of 2008
Change in fair value of put option

$

318
855

Balance at end of 2008

$

1,173

14. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
SFAS 123(R) requires the Group to select a valuation technique that meets the measurement criteria set forth in the
standard. The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. Nonvested share awards fair values are based on the closing price of the Company stock on the grant date.
As the stock options the Group granted vested during the year they were granted, the Group recognized the compensation
cost for the option award immediately when they vested. For the nonvested shares with a graded vesting schedule, the
Group recognized compensation cost on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for each separately vesting
portion of the award.
During 2006, 2007, and 2008, the Group recognized compensation expense, net of forfeitures, of $35, $94 and $147,
respectively, for stock-based compensation awards for which the requisite service was rendered during the year.
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14. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION — continued
Stock option
In March 2005, the Group adopted the 2005 Share Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) which allows the Group to offer a variety of
incentive awards to employees and directors of the Group. For the year ended December 31, 2005, options to purchase
40,000,000 ordinary shares were authorized under the Plan. Under the terms of the Plan, options are generally granted at
prices equal to the fair market value of the Group’s shares listed on NASDAQ and expire 10 years from the date of grant.
The options vest in accordance with the terms of the agreement separately entered into by the Group and grantee at the
time of the grant.
In August 2005, the Group granted 263,272 stock options to purchase ordinary shares to the two independent directors
which would vest entirely in November 2005. The estimated fair value of the options granted was $0.62 on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. A zero forfeiture rate was used. The Group recognized $162 as share
based compensation expense related to options in 2005.
In March 2006, the Group granted 131,636 stock options to an independent director which vested entirely on the grant
date. The estimated fair value of the options granted was $0.45 on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. A zero forfeiture rate was used. Share based compensation expense of $59 was recognized upon the grant of the
option. In August 2006, the Group cancelled the above mentioned stock options and issued 65,818 shares as a
replacement, which fully vested immediately. Total fair value of stock options cancelled was $35 with each share option
valued at $0.27 while total fair value of shares as of the grant date was $38 with each share valued at $0.58. An additional
compensation expense of $3 was recognized in 2006 upon cancellation of share options and issuance of shares.
The following weighted-average assumptions were used for grants issued during the years ended December 31, 2005 and
2006 (there were no grants in 2007 and 2008):
2005
Average risk-free rate of return
Expected dividend yield
Expected volatility
Expected life (years)

2006
4.1%
Nil
35%
10

4.7%
Nil
69.2%
5

The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life of the option is based on the yield of U.S. Treasury bond with the
same maturity as the contractual life of the option in effect at the time of grant. The expected life of options represents the
period of time the granted options are expected to be outstanding. For the 2005 grants, the Group used the contractual term
of the options because it did not believe it had a basis in history for estimating an expected life less than the contractual
life. For the 2006 grants, the Group used the simplified method defined in Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 to estimate
the expected life as the simple average of the vesting term and the contractual term. As management expected to grow the
business with internally generated cash, management does not expect to pay dividend in the foreseeable future and has not
paid any dividends to date and therefore used a zero dividend yield assumption. Expected volatilities are based on the
historical volatility of the Company’s ADS and vesting period of the option to be issued.
Pursuant to the resignation of a former independent director during 2006, 131,636 stock options granted to him were
forfeited as the stock options were not exercised within the time stipulated in the stock option agreement and accordingly
$81 share based compensation expense was reversed.
As of December 31, 2008, there were 131,636 exercisable options. The fair value of option as of the grant date and the
weighted average exercise price was $0.62 and $1.083 respectively with a remaining contractual life of 6.7 years.
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14. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION — continued
Nonvested stock
Number of
nonvested stock
Unvested at January 1, 2008
Granted during the year
Vested during the year
Forfeited during the year

259,363
—
121,454
105,000

Unvested at December 31, 2008

32,909

In July 2006, the Group granted 315,000 per share nonvested shares to the Chief Financial Officer for free with a vesting
schedule of 3 years under 2005 Share Incentive Plan. The fair value of nonvested shares as of the grant date was $0.98 per
share. On August 15, 2008, the Chief Financial Officer resigned and 105,000 of the remaining unvested shares were
forfeited. As of the resignation date, 210,000 nonvested shares granted to the Chief Financial Officer had vested. The
Group recorded share based compensation expense of $nil, $36 and $140 related to these nonvested shares for the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.
In August 2006, 65,818 and 65,818 nonvested shares were granted to two independent directors with half of the number of
nonvested shares, 65,818 vested immediately and the other half, 65,818 vested on April 1, 2007. The fair value of
nonvested shares as of the grant date was $0.58 per share. Share based compensation expense of $38, $38 and $nil for these
nonvested shares was recognized for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.
In November 2006, another 65,818 nonvested shares were granted to an independent director with half of the number of
nonvested shares, 32,909 vested immediately and the other half, 32,909 vested on November 1, 2007. The fair value of
nonvested shares as of the grant date was $0.50 per share. The Group recognized share based compensation expense of $16,
$16 and $nil for these nonvested shares for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.
In August 2007, another 65,818 nonvested shares were granted to an independent director with 25% of the number of
nonvested shares, 16,455 vested immediately and the remaining 75%, 49,363 to be vested on August 12, 2008, 2009 and
2010 averagely. The fair value of nonvested shares as of the grant date was $0.28 per share. As of August 12, 2008, 32,909
nonvested shares had vested. The Group recognized share based compensation expenses of $4 and $7 for these nonvested
shares for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively.
The intrinsic value of nonvested shares vested for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 is $118, $99 and
$33, respectively. As of December 31, 2008, the intrinsic value of 32,909 unvested shares was $3.
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15. CANCELLATION OF TREASURY STOCK
In 2006, the Group had obtained the approval from the required shareholders and was authorized to repurchase up to
$40 million of Group’s outstanding ADSs in the open market, depending on market conditions, ADS price and other
factors and subject to the requirements of applicable law. The Group had purchased 577,000 ADSs, representing 8,655,000
ordinary shares from the NASDAQ stock market for treasury stock, through the share repurchase program and reduced the
outstanding shares as of December 31, 2006. The respective 577,000 ADSs were cancelled by the Group in 2008. The
carrying amount of the repurchase treasury stock is reclassified to additional paid-in capital. No ADS of the Group were
purchased by or on behalf of the Group in 2007 and 2008.
16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In 2006, there was no transaction with related parties.
In 2007, the Group purchased raw materials from its related parties, Techfaith Technology (Shenyang) Ltd. (“Techfaith
Technology”) and De Ming Technology (Hangzhou) Ltd. (“De Ming”) (formerly known as Kang Mu Ni Electronics
(Hangzhou) Ltd.) for $34 and $523, respectively. Techfaith Technology and De Ming are subsidiaries of Techfaith
Electronics Limited, a company established in September 2007, of which the Group’s Founder and CEO holds 43% equity
interest.
In 2008, Techfaith Technology becomes one of EMS providers of the Group. During the year ended December 31, 2008,
the Group sold raw materials to Techfaith Technology for $18,805 and purchased products from Techfaith Technology for
$17,031. The Group purchased raw materials from De Ming for $2,373.
As of December 31, 2008, amounts due from related parties are as follows:
Year ended December 31,
2007
2008
Techfaith Technology
De Ming

$
$

1,047
54
1,101

$
$

5,537
—
5,537

As of December 31, 2008, amount due to related party is as follows:
Year ended December 31,
2007
2008
De Ming

$

F-38
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$
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17. OPERATING SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION
The Group follows the provisions of SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information”, which establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments. Operating segments are
defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly
by the chief operating decision maker, or decision making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing
performance.
The Group’s chief operating decision maker has been identified as the Chief Executive Officer, who reviews consolidated
results when making decisions about allocating resources and assessing performance of the Group. The Group operates and
manages three operating segments, handset design, product sales as well as wireless software and application. The Group’s
online game business is included in the wireless software and application segment in 2008. Corporate assets are related to
the bank balance of overseas companies that are not directly attributable to the other reportable segments. The Group uses
gross profit as the measure of each operating segment.
The financial information for each operating segment reflects that information which is specifically identifiable or which is
allocated based on an internal allocation method. Selected financial information by operating segment 1 is as follows:
Year ended December 31,
2007
2008
Assets
Handset design
Products sales
Wireless software and applications
Reconciling amounts

$

61,527
150,014
—
23,320

$

19,563
194,089
489
5,923

Total assets

$

234,861

$

220,064

Reconciling assets:
Corporate assets

$

23,320

$

5,923

Investment in equity method investees

$

—

$

—

1

The Group’s chief operating decision maker only reviews revenue and cost for each operating segment. Expenses are not
allocated to each segment.
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17. OPERATING SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION — continued
2006
Total expenditures for additions to long-lived assets
Handset design
Product sales
Wireless software and application
Total capital expenditure

2008

$

12,620
11,173
—

$

4,019
9,800
—

$

1,350
13,398
5

$

23,793

$

13,819

$

14,753

2006
Revenue
Handset design
Products sales
Wireless software and application

Year ended December 31
2007

$

Year ended December 31
2007

42,860
37,944
—

$

41,721
101,723
—

$

2008
19,123
189,727
—

Total revenue

80,804

143,444

208,850

Cost of sales
Handset design
Products sales
Wireless software and application

25,262
29,843
—

25,239
79,556
—

10,308
157,377
—

Total cost of revenue

55,105

104,795

167,685

Gross profit

$

25,699

$

38,649

$

41,165

Revenues for the Group`s product and service are shown in the table below:
2006
Net revenues
Design fees
Royalty income
Component sales related to design
Service income

$

Year ended December 31,
2007
2008

29,864
7,674
5,322
—

$

26,042
7,772
7,854
53

$

15,488
1,158
2,260
217

Revenue related to handset design

42,860

41,721

19,123

Smart phones
Feature phones
Wireless Module
Other components

18,035
452
12,926
6,531

36,444
47,424
12,513
5,342

99,952
82,335
7,331
109

Product sales

37,944

101,723

189,727

Total net revenue

$
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17. OPERATING SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION — continued
Geographic information
Revenue, classified by the major geographic areas in which the Group’s customers are located (for design contract related
revenue, based on the address of the customer who contracted with the Group; for product sales, based on the address to
which the Group ships product), was as follows:
2006
Revenue from countries other than the PRC: (1)
Egypt
India
Japan
Nigeria
Russia
South Africa
Thailand
Turkey
United States
United Arab Emirates
Other countries

$

Year ended December 31,
2007
2008

4,001
—
5,447
—
3,968
—
—
—
1,533
12,636
7,765

$

1,954
—
11,641
4,080
4,746
—
4,452
—
2,526
—
15,567

$

1,275
3,608
6,783
2,470
5,715
5,745
4,662
4,379
3,911
—
12,891

Total revenue from countries other than PRC

35,350

44,966

51,439

Revenue from PRC (2)

45,454

98,478

157,411

Total revenue

$

80,804

$

143,444

$

208,850

(1) For design contract related revenue, includes revenue generated from contracts for which the contract party is incorporated
outside the PRC. For product sale revenue, includes shipments to customers outside the PRC.
(2) For design contract related revenue, includes revenue generated from contracts for which the contract party is incorporated
in the PRC. For product sale revenue, includes shipments to customers in the PRC.
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18. COMMITMENTS
(a) Purchase commitments
The Group also used EMS providers to provide manufacturing services for its products. During the normal course of
business, in order to reduce manufacturing lead times and ensure adequate component supply, the Group enters into
contracts with certain manufacturers that allow them to procure inventory based on criteria defined by the Group. As
of December 31, 2008, the Group had commitments under non-cancellable contracts that future minimum purchases
are $6,253 in 2009.
(b) Operating lease as lessee
The Group has entered into operating lease agreements principally for its office spaces in the PRC. These leases
expire through 2011. Rental expenses under operating leases for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008
were $2,008, $684 and $514, respectively.
Future minimum rental lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases agreements were as follows:
2009
2010
2011

$

995
952
231

$

2,178

(c) Capital commitments
As of December 31, 2008, capital commitments for construction of property and purchase of plant, machinery and
equipment are $16,226 which will be due in 2009.
19. MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND CREDIT CONCENTRATION
The following table summarizes net revenues and accounts receivable for customers that accounted for 10% or more of the
Group’s net revenues and accounts receivable:

2006
A
B
C

Net revenues
Year ended December 31,
2007

2008

15.6%
N/A
N/A

N/A
11.0%
N/A

N/A
N/A
12.3%

15.6%

11.0%

12.3%

A small number of customers have historically accounted for a substantial portion of our net revenue. In 2006, 2007 and
2008, our top three customers collectively accounted for approximately 28.5%, 25.0% and 28.8%, respectively, of our net
revenues.
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19. MAJOR CUSTOMERS — continued
Accounts receivable
As of December 31,
2007
2008
A
B

25.1%
N/A

22.0%
14.2%

25.1%

36.2%

20. NET (LOSS) INCOME PER SHARE
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share for the years indicated:
2006
Net income (loss) (numerator), basic and diluted

$

Shares (denominator):
Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding used in computing
basic net income per share
Effect of dilutive securities:
Weighted average shares from assumed vest of nonvested shares
Weighted average shares used in computing diluted net income per
share

Year ended December 31,
2007

(8,793)

$

(3,272)

$

2008
8,001

656,255,882

649,807,421

649,972,306

—

—

90,006

656,255,882

649,807,421

650,062,312

Net income (loss) per share, basic

$

(0.01)

$

(0.01)

$

0.01

Net income (loss) per share, diluted

$

(0.01)

$

(0.01)

$

0.01

As of December 31, 2006 and 2007, the Group had 545,363 and 390,999 ordinary shares equivalents outstanding that
could have potentially diluted basic income (loss) per share in the future, but which were excluded in the computation of
diluted income (loss) per share in the years presented, as their effect would have been anti-dilutive.
As of December 31, 2008, the Group had 131,636 ordinary shares equivalents outstanding that could have potentially
diluted basic income (loss) per share in the future, but which were excluded in the computation of diluted income (loss) per
share in the years presented, as their effect would have been anti-dilutive.
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21. MAINLAND CHINA CONTRIBUTION AND PROFIT APPROPRIATION
Full time employees of the Group in the PRC participate in a government-mandated multi-employer defined contribution
plan pursuant to which certain pension benefits, medical care, unemployment insurance, employee housing fund and other
welfare benefits are provided to employees. Chinese labor regulations require the Group to accrue for these benefits based
on certain percentages of the employees’ salaries. The total provisions for such employee benefits were $5,046, $5,304 and
$4,511 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.
The Group is required to make contributions to the plan out of the amounts accrued for medical and pension benefits to
relevant local labor bureaus. The contributions for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 amounted to
$3,802, $3,863 and $3,165 respectively. The local labor bureaus are responsible for the medical benefits and pension
liability to be paid to these employees. The Group has no further commitments beyond its monthly contribution.
Pursuant to the laws applicable to the PRC’s Foreign Investment Enterprises, the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC
registered as foreign-owned enterprise must make appropriations from after-tax profit to non-distributable reserve funds as
determined by the Board of Directors of the relevant PRC subsidiaries. These reserves include a (1) general reserve, (2)
enterprise expansion fund and (3) staff bonus and welfare fund. Subject to certain cumulative limits, the general reserve
fund requires annual appropriations of not less than 10% of after-tax profit (as determined under accounting principles and
financial regulations applicable to PRC enterprises at each year-end); the other fund appropriations are at the Group’s
discretion. These reserve funds can only be used for specific purposes and are not distributable as cash dividends. The
Company has made appropriation to these statutory reserve funds of $720 and $1,729 for the year ended December 31,
2007 and 2008, respectively.
22. STATUTORY RESERVES
As stipulated by the relevant law and regulations in the PRC, the Company’s subsidiaries and variable interest entity in the
PRC are required to maintain non-distributable statutory surplus reserve. Appropriations to the statutory surplus reserve are
required to be made at not less than 10% of profit after taxes as reported in these entities’ statutory financial statements
prepared under PRC GAAP. Once appropriated, these amounts are not available for future distribution to owners or
shareholders. Once the general reserve is accumulated to 50% of these entities registered capital, these entities can choose
not to provide more reserves. The statutory reserve may be applied against prior year losses, if any, and may be used for
general business expansion and production and an increase in registered capital of these entities. Amounts contributed to
the statutory reserve were $6,813 and $8,542 as of December 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively.
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23. SUBSEQUENT EVENT
On May 15, 2009, IDG-Accel China Growth Fund II L.P. and IDG-Accel China Investors II L.P.(collectively, the “IDGVC
Partners”) and Infiniti Capital Limited signed a definitive agreement with the Company to make a total of US$20 million
investment in One Net through its parent company, Leo Technology, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. One Net
focuses on the development and operation of wireless gaming applications. IDGVC Partners’ US$10 million investment
will be in the form of a convertible note convertible into ordinary shares of Leo Technology or the Company at the option
of the note holder, and Infiniti Capital Limited will invest US$10 million cash in Leo Technology’s common equity.
On June 9, 2009, Leo Technology issued to IDGVC Partners, senior secured convertible promissory notes with an
aggregate principal amount of US$10 million, a maturity date of three years and an interest rate of 8% per annum
compounded annually. At the earlier of (i) 30 months after the note issuance date if a qualified initial public offering of the
note issuer has not occurred by that time, or (ii) the occurrence of an event of default, the note holders may also require the
note issuer to redeem the notes in cash equal to the redemption amount plus an annual return of 20% compounded
annually on the redemption amount, accrued but unpaid dividend (if any) and late charges (if any). The notes are
convertible into the Company’s ordinary shares or Leo Technology’s ordinary shares at the option of the note holders.
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Year ended December 31,
2007
2008
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

$

Total current assets
Goodwill
Investment in subsidiaries

23,010
78,414
164

$

5,633
96,060
136

101,588

101,829

6
70,734

6
90,153

TOTAL ASSETS

$

172,328

$

191,988

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

$

319

$

1,180

Total current liabilities
Shareholders’ equity:
Ordinary shares of par value $0.00002:
50,000,000,000,000 shares authorized; shares issued and outstanding, 649,913,136
in 2007 and 650,034,590 in 2008
Additional paid-in capital
Treasury stock, at cost (8,655,000 and nil shares as of December 31, 2007 and 2008,
respectively)
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Retained earnings

319

1,180

13
110,327

13
105,846

(4,628)
13,776
52,521

Total shareholders’ equity

—
24,427
60,522

172,009

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

$
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CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
2006
Net revenues

$

Year ended December 31,
2007
—

$

—

$

2008
—

Operating expenses:
General and administrative

(239)

(131)

(250)

Total operating expenses

(239)

(131)

(250)

(239)
3,077
(11,362)
(269)

(131)
1,800
(4,898)
(43)

(250)
346
8,760
(855)

(8,793)
—

(3,272)
—

8,001
—

Loss from operations
Interest income
Equity in earnings (loss) of subsidiaries
Change in fair value of put option
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income (loss)

$

(8,793)

$

(3,272)

$

8,001

Net income (loss) per share:
Basic

$

(0.01)

$

(0.01)

$

0.01

$

(0.01)

$

(0.01)

$

0.01

Diluted
Weighted average shares used in computation:
Basic
Diluted
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STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)

Ordinary shares
Number
Amount
Balance at January 1, 2006
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Share-based compensation
Forfeiture of stock options
Repurchase of ordinary shares
Net loss

658,183,409
—
164,545
—
(8,655,000)
—

Balance at December 31, 2006

649,692,954

13

109,833

—
220,182
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
94
400
—

649,913,136

13

110,327

—
—
121,454
—

—
—
—
—

Foreign currency translation adjustments
Share-based compensation
Reduction in underwriters’ cost for the IPO *
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2007
Cancellation of treasury stock
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Share-based compensation
Net income
Balance at December 31, 2008

*

650,034,590

$

$

13
—
—
—
—
—

Additional
paid-in
capital

13

$ 109,798
—
116
(81)
—
—

Treasury
stock

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income

Retained
earnings

$

$

$

(4,628)
—
—
—
—

(4,628)
—
147
—
$ 105,846

—
—
—
—
(4,628)
—

$

1,456
3,883
—
—
—
—

64,586
—
—
—
—
(8,793)

5,339

55,793

8,437
—
—
—

—
—
—
(3,272)

Total
share
holders’
equity
$ 175,853
3,883
116
(81)
(4,628)
(8,793)
166,350
8,437
94
400
(3,272)

Comprehensive
Income (loss)

$

3,883
—
—
—
(8,793)

$

(4,910)

$

8,437
—
—
(3,272)

(4,628)

13,776

52,521

172,009

$

5,165

4,628
—
—
—

—
10,651
—
—

—
—
—
8,001

—
10,651
147
8,001

$

—
10,651
—
8,001

60,522

$ 190,808

$

18,652

—

$

24,427

$

The amount was the reversal of the accrual of IPO underwriter fee after the Group confirmed in the first quarter of 2007 that
this amount would not be paid.
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CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION — SCHEDULE 1
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PARENT COMPANY (CONTINUED)
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data and unless otherwise stated)
2006
Operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Amortization of share-based compensation
Reversal of share-based compensation
Change in fair value of put option
Gain or loss from long term investment
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

$

Net cash used in by operating activities
Investing activities:
Investment in a subsidiary

Year ended December 31,
2007
2008

(8,793)

$

(3,272)

$

8,001

116
(81)
269
11,640

94
—
43
4,788

147
—
855
(8,768)

(41,380)
(98)
(175)

(20,400)
10
401

(17,646)
28
6

(38,502)

(18,336)

(17,377)

(7,000)

—

—

Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of shares upon initial public offering
Repurchase of ordinary shares from market

(7,000)

—

—

—
(4,628)

—
—

—
—

Net cash used in by financing activities

(4,628)

—

—

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

(50,130)
91,476

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

$
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41,346

(18,336)
41,346
$

23,010

(17,377)
23,010
$

5,633
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CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION — SCHEDULE 1
Note:
1.

BASIS FOR PREPARATION
The Condensed Financial Information of the Company only has been prepared using the same accounting policies as set
out in the Company’s consolidated financial statements except that the Company has used equity method to account for
its investment in its subsidiaries and variable interest entity.

2.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES
The Company and its subsidiaries and its variable interest entities are included in the consolidated financial statements
where the inter-company balances and transactions are eliminated upon consolidation. For the purpose of the Company’s
stand-alone financial statements, its investments in subsidiaries and variable interest entities are reported using the equity
method of accounting. The Company’s share of income and losses from its subsidiaries and variable interest entities is
reported as earnings from subsidiaries and variable interest entities in the accompanying condensed financial information
of parent company.

3.

INCOME TAXES
The Company is a tax exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number

*

Document

4.8*

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics of the Registrant, as amended.

8.1*

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

12.1*

CEO Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

12.2*

CFO Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

13.1*

CEO Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

13.2*

CFO Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

15.1*

Consent of Maples and Calder.

15.2*

Consent of Genland Law Firm.

Filed with this annual report on Form 20-F.

Exhibit 4.8
CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS
Purpose
This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code”) contains general guidelines for China Techfaith Wireless
Communication Technology Limited (the “Company”) to conduct its business consistent with the highest standards of
business ethics. While this Code requires a higher standard than required by commercial practice or applicable laws, rules or
regulations, the Company commits to adhere to these higher standards.
This Code is designed to deter wrongdoing and to promote:
•

honest and ethical conduct, including the ethical handling of actual or apparent conflicts of interest between personal and
professional relationships;

•

full, fair, accurate, timely, and understandable disclosure of reports and documents that the Company will file with, or
submit to, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and in other public communications made by the
Company;

•

compliance with applicable governmental laws, rules and regulations;

•

prompt internal reporting of violations of the Code; and

•

accountability for adherence to the Code.

Applicability
This Code applies to all of the directors, officers, employees and advisors of the Company, whether they work for the Company
on a full-time, part-time, consultative, or temporary basis (each an “employee” and collectively, the “employees”). Certain
provisions of the Code apply specifically to the Company’s chief executive officer, chief financial officer, controller, vice
presidents and any other persons who perform similar functions for the Company (each, a “senior officer”, and collectively,
“senior officers”).
The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) has appointed Edward Zhuang as the Compliance Officer for the
Company. If you have any questions regarding the Code or would like to report any violation of the Code, please call the
Compliance Officer at (86) 10 5822-9853 or e-mail Ethics_Email@techfaith.cn.
This Code was adopted by the Board on March 18, 2005, updated on August 12, 2006 and updated on February 10, 2007.
Conflicts of Interest
Identifying Conflicts of Interest
A conflict of interest occurs when an employee’s private interest interferes, or appears to interfere, in any way with the interests
of the Company as a whole. You should actively avoid any private interest that may influence your ability to act in the interests
of the Company or that may make it difficult to perform your work objectively and effectively. In general, the following should
be considered as conflicts of interest:
•

Competing Business; No employee may be concurrently employed by a business that competes with the Company or
deprives it of any business.

•

Corporate Opportunity; No employee should use corporate property, information or his or her position with the Company
to secure a business opportunity that would otherwise be available to the Company. If you discover a business opportunity
that is in the Company’s line of business, through the use of the Company’s property, information or position, you must
first present the business opportunity to the Company before pursuing the opportunity in your individual capacity.

•

Financial Interests.
(i)

No employee may have any financial interest (ownership or otherwise), either directly or indirectly through a spouse
or other family member, in any business entity, if such financial interest adversely affects the employee’s performance
of duties or responsibilities to the Company, or requires the employee to devote certain time during such employee’s
working hours at the Company;

(ii) No employee may hold any ownership interest in a privately held company that is in competition with the Company;
(iii) An employee may hold up to but no more than 5% ownership interest in a publicly (traded company that is in
competition with the Company;
(v) No employee may hold any ownership interest in a company that has a business relationship with the Company if
such employee’s duties at the Company include managing or supervising the Company’s business relations with that
company. If an employee’s ownership interest in a business entity described in clause (iii) above increases to more
than 5%, the employee must immediately report such ownership to the Compliance Officer.
•

Loans or Other Financial Transactions. No employee may obtain loans or guarantees of personal obligations from, or enter
into any other personal financial transaction with, any company that is a material customer, supplier or competitor of the
Company. This guideline does not prohibit arms-length transactions with recognized banks or other financial institutions.

•

Service on Boards and Committees; No employee should serve on a board of directors or trustees or on a committee of any
entity (whether profit or non-profit) whose interests reasonably could be expected to conflict with those of the Company.
Employees must obtain prior approval from the Board before accepting any such board or committee position. The
Company may revisit its approval of any such position at any time to determine whether service in such position is still
appropriate.

It is difficult to list all of the ways in which a conflict of interest may arise, we have provided only a few, limited examples. If
you are faced with a difficult business decision that is not addressed above, ask yourself the following questions:
•

Is it legal?

•

Is it honest and fair?

•

Is it in the best interests of the Company?

Disclosure of Conflicts of Interest
The Company requires that employees fully disclose any situations that reasonably could be expected to give rise to a conflict
of interest. If you suspect that you have a conflict of interest, or something that others could reasonably perceive as a conflict of
interest, you must report it immediately to the Compliance Officer. Conflicts of interest may only be waived by the Board, or the
appropriate committee of the Board, and will be promptly disclosed to the public to the extent required by law.

Family Members and Work
The actions of family members outside the workplace may also give rise to conflicts of interest because they may influence an
employee’s objectivity in making decisions on behalf of the Company. If a member of an employee’s family is interested in
doing business with the Company, the criteria as to whether to enter into or continue the business relationship, and the terms
and conditions of the relationship, must be no less favorable to the Company compared with those that would apply to a nonrelative seeking to do business with the Company under similar circumstances.
Employees should report any situation involving family members that could reasonably be expected to give rise to a conflict of
interest to their supervisor or the Compliance Officer. For purposes of this Code, “family members” o r “members of your
family” include your spouse, brothers, sisters and parents, in-laws and children.
Gifts and Entertainment
The giving and receiving of gifts is common business practice. Appropriate business gifts and entertainment are welcome
courtesies designed to build relationships and understanding among business partners. However, gifts and entertainment should
never compromise, or appear to compromise, your ability to make objective and fair business decisions.
It is the responsibility of employees to use good judgment in this area. As a general rule, employees may give or receive gifts or
entertainment to or from customers or suppliers only if the gift or entertainment could not be viewed as an inducement to any
particular business decision. All gifts and entertainment expenses made on behalf of the Company must be properly accounted
for on expense reports. Employees may only accept appropriate gifts. We encourage employees to submit gifts they received to
the Company. While it is not mandatory to submit small gifts, gifts of over RMB200 must be submitted immediately to the
administration department of the Company.
The Company’s business conduct is founded on the principle of “fair transaction.” Therefore, no employee may receive
kickbacks, bribe others, or secretly receive commissions or any other personal benefits.
Protection and Use of Company Assets
Employees should protect the Company’s assets and ensure their efficient use for legitimate business purposes only. Theft,
carelessness and waste have a direct impact on the Company’s profitability. The use of the funds or assets of the Company,
whether for personal gain or not, for any unlawful or improper purpose is strictly prohibited.
To ensure the protection and proper use of the Company’s assets, each employee should:
•

Exercise reasonable care to prevent theft, damage or misuse of Company property;

•

Promptly report the actual or suspected theft, damage or misuse of Company property;

•

Safeguard all electronic programs, data, communications and written materials from inadvertent access by others; and

•

Use Company property only for legitimate business purposes.

Fair business practices
To fair business practices, employee should:
Give the equal opportunity to any supplier;
Protect all data of customer and supplier;
Protection and Use of the third party (including but not limited to the customer, supplier etc) Intellectual Property (“IP”)
Employees should protect the third party (including but not limited to the customer, supplier etc) IP.
To ensure the protection and proper use of the IP, each employee should:
Not use the IP or any part of it for any purpose other than the Company Purpose;
Not disclose the IP or any part thereof to any person other than an Authorised Person;
Not take any copies or make any summaries or transcripts of the whole or any part of the IP without getting the approval from
the Company;
Notify the Company immediately it becomes aware that any IP has been disclosed to or is in the possession of any person who is
not an Authorised Person;
Keep all IP in a safe and secure place and shall treat all IP in a manner which is no less secure than the manner in which it treats
its own confidential and/or proprietary information and at least with reasonable care;
Intellectual Property and Confidentiality
•

All inventions, creative works, computer software, and technical or trade secrets developed by an employee in the course of
performing the employee’s duties or primarily through the use of the Company’s materials and technical resources while
working at the Company, shall be the property of the Company.

•

The Company maintains a strict confidentiality policy. During an employee’s term of employment, the employee shall
comply with any and all written or unwritten rules and policies concerning confidentiality and shall fulfill the duties and
responsibilities concerning confidentiality applicable to the employee.

•

In addition to fulfilling the responsibilities associated with his position in the Company, an employee shall not, without
first obtaining approval from the Company, disclose, announce or publish trade secrets or other confidential business
information of the Company, nor shall an employee use such confidential information outside the course of his duties to
the Company.

•

Even outside the work environment, an employee must maintain vigilance and refrain from disclosing important
information regarding the Company or its business, customers or employees.

•

An employee’s duty of confidentiality with respect to the confidential information of the Company survives the
termination of such employee’s employment with the Company for any reason, until such time as the Company discloses
such information publicly or the information otherwise becomes available in the public sphere through no fault of the
employee.

•

Upon termination of employment, or at such time as the Company requests, an employee must return to the Company all of
its property without exception, including all forms of medium containing confidential information, and may not retain
duplicate materials.

Accuracy of Financial Reports and Other Public Communications
As a public listed company, the Company is required to report its financial results and other material information about its
business to the public and the SEC. It is the Company’s policy to promptly disclose accurate and complete information
regarding its business, financial condition and results of operations.
Employees must strictly comply with all applicable standards, laws, regulations and policies for accounting and financial
reporting of transactions, estimates and forecasts. Inaccurate, incomplete or untimely reporting will not be tolerated and can
severely damage the Company and result in legal liability.
Employees should be on guard for, and promptly report, any possibility of inaccurate or incomplete financial reporting.
Particular attention should be paid to:
•

Financial results that seem inconsistent with the performance of the underlying business;

•

Transactions that do not seem to have an obvious business purpose; and

•

Requests to circumvent ordinary review and approval procedures.

The Company’s senior financial officers and other employees working in the Finance Department have a special responsibility
to ensure that all of the Company’s financial disclosures are full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable. Any practice or
situation that might undermine this objective should be reported to the Compliance Officer.
Company Records
Accurate and reliable records are crucial to the Company’s business and form the basis of its earnings statements, financial
reports and other disclosures to the public. The Company’s records are the source of essential data that guides business
decision-making and strategic planning. Company records include, but are not limited to, booking information, payroll,
timecards, travel and expense reports, e-mails, accounting and financial data, measurement and performance records, electronic
data files and all other records maintained in the ordinary course of our business.
All Company records must be complete, accurate and reliable in all material respects. There is never an acceptable reason to
make false or misleading entries. Undisclosed or unrecorded funds, payments or receipts are strictly prohibited. You are
responsible for understanding and complying with the Company’s record keeping policy. Contact the Compliance Officer if
you have any questions regarding the record keeping policy.
Compliance with Laws and Regulations
Each employee has an obligation to comply with the laws of the cities, provinces, regions and countries in which the Company
operates. This includes, without limitation, laws covering commercial bribery and kickbacks, copyrights, trademarks and trade
secrets, information privacy, insider trading, offering or receiving gratuities, employee harassment, occupational health and
safety, false or misleading financial information or misuse of corporate assets.
Employees are expected to understand and comply with all laws, rules and regulations that apply to your position at the
Company. If any doubt exists about whether a course of action is lawful, you should seek advice immediately from the
Compliance Officer.

Violations of the Code
All employees have a duty to report any known or suspected violation of this Code, including any violation of laws, rules,
regulations or policies that apply to the Company.
Reporting a known or suspected violation of this Code by others will not be considered an act of disloyalty, but an action to
safeguard the reputation and integrity of the Company and its employees.
If you know of or suspect a violation of this Code, it is your responsibility to immediately report the violation to the
Compliance Officer, who will work with you to investigate your concern. All questions and reports of known or suspected
violations of this Code will be treated with sensitivity and discretion. The Compliance Officer and the Company will protect
your confidentiality to the extent possible, consistent with the law and the Company’s need to investigate your concern.
It is the Company’s policy that any employee who violates this Code, be subject to appropriate discipline, including
termination of employment, based upon the facts and circumstances of each particular situation. Your conduct as an employee
of the Company, if not in compliance with the law or with this Code, can result in serious consequences for both you and the
Company.
The Company strictly prohibits retaliation against an employee who, in good faith, seeks help or reports known or suspected
violations. An employee inflicting reprisal or retaliation against another employee for reporting a known or suspected violation
will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.
Waivers of the Code
Waivers of this Code will be granted on a case-by-case basis and only in extraordinary circumstances. Waivers to this Code may
be made only by the Board, or the appropriate committee of the Board, and will be promptly disclosed to the public.
Conclusion
This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics contains general guidelines for conducting the business of the Company consistent
with the highest standards of business ethics. If you have any questions about these guidelines, please contact the Compliance
Officer.
We expect all employees to adhere to these standards. Each employee is separately responsible for his or her actions.
Conduct that violates the law or this Code cannot be justified by claiming that it was ordered by a supervisor or someone in
higher management. If you engage in conduct prohibited by the law or this Code, you will be deemed to have acted outside the
scope of your employment. Such conduct will subject you to disciplinary action, including termination of employment.
*************

CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE
TO: Compliance Officer
FROM:
RE: Code of Business Conduct and Ethics of China Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology Limited (Adopted on
March 18, 2005)
I have received, reviewed, and understand the above-referenced Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code”) and hereby
undertake, as a condition to my present and continued employment at or association with China Techfaith Wireless
Communication Technology Limited and/or any of its affiliated entities, (collectively “Techfaith”), to comply fully with the
Code.
I hereby certify that I have adhered to the Code during the period that I have been associated with Techfaith.
I agree to adhere to the Code in the future.
Name:
, 200__
Date

EXHIBIT 8.1
SUBSIDIARIES* OF THE REGISTRANT
Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology (Beijing) Limited, a PRC company
One Net Entertainment Limited, a PRC company
Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology (Shanghai) Limited, a PRC company
STEP Technologies (Beijing) Co., Ltd., a PRC company
Techfaith Intelligent Handset Technology (Beijing) Limited, a PRC company
TechFaith Software (China) Limited, a PRC company
Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology (Hangzhou) Limited, a PRC company
Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology (Shenyang) Limited, a PRC company
Techfaith Intelligent Handset Technology (Hong Kong) Limited, registered in Hong Kong
Techfaith Wireless Technology Group Limited, a BVI company

* Insignificant subsidiaries are omitted.

EXHIBIT 12.1
Certification by the Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Defu Dong, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of China Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology Limited (the
“Company”);
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;
4. The Company’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Company and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report
based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
period covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The Company’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the Company’s auditors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: June 25, 2009
By: /s/ Defu Dong
Name: Defu Dong
Title: Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 12.2
Certification by the Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Yuping Ouyang, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of China Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology Limited (the
“Company”);
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;
4. The Company’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Company and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report
based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
period covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The Company’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the Company’s auditors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: June 25, 2009
By: /s/ Yuping Ouyang
Name: Yuping Ouyang
Title: Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT 13.1
CERTIFICATION BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of China Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology Limited (the “Company”)
on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Report”), I, Defu Dong, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.
Date: June 25, 2009
By: /s/ Defu Dong
Name: Defu Dong
Title: Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 13.2
CERTIFICATION BY THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of China Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology Limited (the “Company”)
on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Report”), I, Yuping Ouyang, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.
Date: June 25, 2009
By: /s/ Yuping Ouyang
Name: Yuping Ouyang
Title: Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT 15.1
[Letterhead of Maples and Calder]
Our ref
China Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology Limited
Building 1, No. 13, YongChang North Road
Beijing Economic-Technological Development Area (Yi Zhuang), Beijing 100176
People’s Republic of China
25 June, 2009
Dear Sirs,
RE: CHINA TECHFAITH WIRELESS COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY LIMITED (THE “COMPANY”)
We consent to the reference to our firm under the heading “Cayman Islands Taxation” in the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2008, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in the
month of June 2009.
Yours faithfully,
/s/ Maples and Calder
Maples and Calder

EXHIBIT 15.2
[Letterhead of Genland Law Firm]
June 25, 2009
China Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology Limited
Building 1, No. 13, YongChang North Road
Beijing Economic-Technological Development Area (Yi Zhuang), Beijing 100176
People’s Republic of China
Dear Sirs,
Re: China Techfaith Wireless Communication Technology Limited (the “Company”)
We consent to the reference to our firm under the headings “Risk Factors” and “Regulation,” insofar as they purport to
describe the provisions of PRC laws and regulations, in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended
December 31, 2008 (the “Annual Report”) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). We also consent to
the filing with the SEC of this consent letter as an exhibit to the Annual Report.
Yours faithfully,
/s/ Beijing Genland Law Firm
Name: Tao Wang
Title: Managing Partner
On behalf of Genland Law Firm

